FISHERIES AND AQUACULTURE POTENTIAL OF THE CARIBBEAN SPIDER CRAB *MAGUIMITHRAX SPINOSISSIMUS* AROUND ELEUTHERA, THE BAHAMAS

by

©Logan R. Zeinert

A thesis submitted to the

School of Graduate Studies

in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science (Aquaculture)

Department of Ocean Sciences

Faculty of Science

Memorial University of Newfoundland

2020

St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador

Abstract

The Caribbean spider crab Maguimithrax spinosissimus is the largest brachyuran crab in the Caribbean. In this thesis I investigated the population characteristics of M. spinosissimus on the island of Eleuthera, The Bahamas, as well as the potential of this crab to remove biofouling on marine aquaculture pens. In chapter 2 I investigated the size ranges of crabs at patch reefs, a blue hole and an anchialine pond in Eleuthera (January to June, 2018). Males reached larger mean carapace widths than females at all sites. Principal component analysis and hierarchical cluster analyses were used to determine size at maturity; males reached morphological and behavioural maturity at larger carapace widths than females. Haemolymph BRIX levels were used as an indicator of general condition, the levels were relatively high and not dissimilar between sites. The meat yield from male crabs was higher than that of females and comparable to other decapods. In chapter 3, I showed spider crabs exhibited a nocturnal pattern of activity in laboratory tanks. The crabs consumed 3.91 ± 0.35 and 6.97 ± 0.73 % of their bodyweight of algae in 22 - 24°C and 26 -28°C water, respectively, and although the species is primarily herbivorous they also readily consumed whole fish. Spider crabs were placed on a heavily fouled, offshore aquaculture cage (SeaStation 3000) in confined mesh enclosures to determine if they could be used to remove biofouling organisms. They effectively removed 40 and 90 % of fouling organisms after two and four weeks, respectively, while showing no discriminatory feeding preferences. The crabs were more effective at removing fouling than manual diver scrubbing. The survival rates of crabs inside the aquaculture cage varied between 66.6% and 73.9% during 3 to 6 month trials. The data gathered for this species could be used to establish management plans for an artisanal fishery in the Bahamian archipelago, it also demonstrated the potential of the crab as an effective, environmentally friendly biofouling removing alternative for sustainable aquaculture.

ii

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, thank you to my supervisor, Dr. Iain J. McGaw for his support, expertise, patience, encouragement, and humour over the course of this thesis. I also want to give a big thank you to my other committee members, Dr. Ian Fleming for his continually positive support in the feedback on my thesis, and Cyr Couturier, for his monetary support and equally positive comments and enthusiasm towards aquaculture. Thank you all for your efforts.

I would like to extend an additional thank you to the researchers, staff, and students at the Cape Eleuthera Institute (CEI) and The Island School. Firstly, I would especially like to thank the efforts by Directors Dr. Andrew Gill and subsequently Dr. Nathan Robinson for supporting my research efforts and accommodating me at CEI. I would like to thank Annabelle Brooks for her guidance while I was a research assistant at CEI and encouraging me to follow my interests in aquaculture. Next, I would like to thank Ami Adams, who gave an extremely generous amount of her time as a co-instructor in our research class and in other crab related adventures. Additionally, I could not have completed my work in time without the efforts of the "Crab-aculture" research class, which included Ivy Allen, Olivia Heimann, Will Nipon, Sydney Saunders, Andrew Sim, Mary Carmen Springs, and Katie Storer. I would also like to thank CEI researchers Jodie Ball, Daisy Buzzoni, Annie MacCarthy, Roxane Sylvie, Jack Cuffley, Candace Fields, Michelle Henriksen, and Anna Whitaker, who joined me in many midnight crabbing adventures and aquaculture cage SCUBA trips, and who had valuable insights and knowledge to share, no matter how hard the crabs fought. To others that joined for the experience of a lifetime, thank you.

iii

I would like to thank Dr. Meghan Burchell for the guidance, acceptance into her lab group, and for her expertise in the aging analysis including use of lab equipment and knowledge.

To all my friends in Newfoundland and around the world – cheers to all the adventures – you've made this experience amazing and unforgettable. To Ms. Emma L. L. Cooke – thank you for all the support you've given me. To Mr. Bradley A. Weiler - don't be afraid to turn on your walkie-talkie in the future (bestfriend 1 to bestfriend 2!).

To my family in New Zealand – there aren't too many people who would let their child fly to (literally) the other side of the world alone, dive in zero degree water, live in multiple different countries over the past few years, all while having a bit of fun. Thank you for supporting me while I adventure around the world.

This research was sponsored by an NSERC Discovery Grant and a Seed, Bridge and Multidisciplinary grant (MUN) to Iain McGaw and in-kind funding from CEI to Logan Zeinert.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
List of Abbreviations and Symbols	Xİİ
Co-Authorship Statement	XIV 1
Global Aquaculture Production	1
Fisheries and Aquaculture in The Bahamas and Wider Caribbean	2
Potential Effects of Aquaculture on the Environment	4
Organic input into environment	4
Chemicals	5
Escape of farmed animals	5
Biofouling	6
Assessment of Wild Stock	11
The Study Species	13
Aims and Hypothesis of Thesis	14
Chapter 2:	14
Chapter 3:	15
Chapter 2: Population structure and size at maturity of the Caribbean spider crab	
Maguimithrax spinosissimus around Eleuthera, The Bahamas	16
Abstract	16
Introduction	1/
Sampling sites of Maguimithrax spinosissimus	
Morphometric Measurement of <i>Maguimithrax spinosissimus</i>	24
Haemolymph Sampling of <i>Maquimithrax spinosissimus</i>	27
Mark and Recapture of <i>Maguimithrax spinosissimus</i> on Coral Patch Reefs	28
Meat Yield and Gastric Mill sampling of Maguimithrax spinosissimus	28
Gastric Mill analysis of Maguimithrax spinosissimus	29
Results	31
Morphometric Measurements	31
Size Distributions and Sex Ratios.	31
Size at Maturity.	36
Haemolymph Sampling of Maguimithrax spinosissimus	41
Mark and Recapture of Maguimithrax spinosissimus on Coral Patch Reefs	43
Meat Yield and Gastric Mills	49

Meat Yield.	49
Gastric Mills	51
Discussion	54
Morphometric Measurements	54
Carapace Distributions and Haemolymph	54
Size at Morphological and Behavioural Maturity	56
Meat Yield	58
Gastric Mill Analysis	58
Mark-Recapture of Maguimithrax spinosissimus	59
Conclusions Chapter 3: The use of the Caribbean spider crab <i>Maguimithrax spinosissimus</i> for biofoulir removal on marine aquaculture cages Abstract Introduction Materials and Methods Sampling Area and Measurement of <i>Maguimithrax spinosissimus</i>	61 ng 63 63 64 69 69
Laboratory Experiments	71
Feeding Behaviour	71
Locomotor Activity and Feeding Frequency.	72
Aquaculture Cage Trials	73
In-cage Trials.	75
Crab Grazing and Biomass Trials.	76
Results	79
Laboratory Experiments	79
Feeding Behaviour	79
Activity Frequency	83
Aquaculture Cage Trials	86
In-cage Trials.	86
Confined Crab Grazing and Biomass Sampling.	89
Discussion Laboratory Experiments	96 96
Feeding Behaviour	96
Activity Frequency	98
Aquaculture Cage Trials	99
In Cage Trials.	99
Confined Grab Grazing and Biomass Sampling	102
Conclusions Best Use of Crabs for Biofouling Removal in Aquaculture	106 106

Chapter 4: General Discussion and Conclusions	108
Summary	108
Population structure and size at maturity around Eleuthera (Chapter 2)	108
Feeding behaviour and potential biofouling removal on aquaculture cages	
(Chapter 3)	109
Potential use of this data for the Caribbean region	110
Fisheries	111
Aquaculture	112
Future work	114
References	117

List of Tables

Table 2.1. Individual characteristics of crabs used in the mark-recapture trial, including release location and whether the crab was recaptured. Release location names are those used by CEI to identify individual patch reefs, except Crab 1 and Crab 2 reefs which were	
previously unnamed	.45
Table 3.1. Tracked data from in cage trials	.88
Table 3.2. Biomass and makeup of 0.25 x 0.25 m quadrats of the aquaculture cage pre- (n	=
10) and post- (n = 10) crab grazing. Percentage values represent proportions of clades in t	he
guadrate as the mean + SEOM of the mass	06
quadrats as the mean ± 300m of the mass	.90

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Eleuthera in relation to the southern United States of America. (1) The Cape Eleuthera Institute, (2) Coral Patch Reefs, (3) Greencastle Blue Hole, (4) Sweetings Pond.....23

Figure 2.14. Examples of sections of the (A) zygocardiac and (B) urocardiac ossicles from an individual *M. spinosissimus* (male, 148 mm CW). Magnification: 56x......52

Figure 3.3. Consumption of seaweed in relation to body weight as a function of sex. Male (n = 8 and n = 7) and female (n = 6 and n = 6) *M. spinosissimus* in two temperature ranges, winter-spring 22 - 24 °C, and summer-fall 26 - 28 °C. The boxes enclose data falling between the 1st and 3rd quartile and the bold horizontal lines represent the median in each location, mean consumption represented by X. The vertical lines indicate the 95% confidence intervals of the median. Data points falling outside these ranges are plotted individually.....81

Figure 3.5. Daily consumption of seaweed in relation to bodyweight by *M. spinosissimus* (n = 6) over three consecutive days in the 22 - 24 °C range. The boxes enclose data falling between the 1st and 3rd quartile and the bold horizontal lines represent the median in each location, mean consumption represented by X. The vertical lines indicate the 95%

Figure 3.7. Mean hourly foraging time (\pm SEoM) of 10 *M. spinosissimus* over 48 hours in a flow through raceway at 22 – 24 °C. The shaded area represents the period of darkness.....86

List of Abbreviations and Symbols

AF	Abdomen Flexibility
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
AW	Abdomen Width
BRIX	Dissolved Solid Content
BRIX-TC	Dissolved Solid Content – Temperature Compensated
BW	Bodyweight
°C	Degrees Celsius
ChD	Chela Depth
ChH	Chela Height
ChL	Chela Length
ChW	Chela Width
CL	Carapace Length
CW	Carapace Width
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organisation
g	Grams
GLM	General Linear Model
m	Meters
n or n _x	Number of
Pb	Percentage of Black Pixels
Pt	Total Number of Pixels
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
PNA	Percent Net Aperture
PNO	Percent Net Occlusion

R ²	Coefficient of Determination
RI	Refractive Index
SEoM	Standard Error of the Mean
Tc	Total Consumption
TC-RI	Temperature Compensated Refractive Index
Wi	Initial Weight
Wf	Final Weight

Co-Authorship Statement

The work described in the present thesis was conducted by Logan Zeinert with guidance from Dr. Iain J. McGaw. Logan Zeinert was responsible for all field and laboratory data collection. Statistical analysis for each chapter was conducted by Logan Zeinert. All chapters were written by Logan Zeinert with intellectual and editorial input by Dr. Iain J. McGaw, Cyr Couturier and Dr. Ian A. Fleming.

Any publication in primary literature resulting from work in chapter 2 and from complementary work not presented in this thesis will be co-authored by Logan Zeinert, Dr. Iain J. McGaw, Dr. Meghan Burchell and Dr. Nathan J. Robertson.

Any publication in primary literature resulting from work in chapter 3 and from complementary work not presented in this thesis will be co-authored by Logan Zeinert, Dr. Iain J. McGaw, Annabelle Brooks, and Cyr Couturier.

Chapter 1: General Introduction

Global Aquaculture Production

Worldwide fisheries landings are in decline, with many wild finfish fisheries close to, or exceeding, full exploitation (FAO, 2016) and unable to meet the rising seafood demands (FAO, 2016). In contrast, the aquaculture sector is increasing rapidly (Troell et al., 2009). World per capita fish supply reached 20 kg in 2014, largely due to increases in the aquaculture sector which provided 50% of the seafood consumed by humans (FAO, 2016).

Aquaculture provided over 80 million tonnes of fish (finfish: 54 million tonnes; molluscs: 17 million tonnes; crustaceans: 7.8 million tonnes), and 30 million tonnes of aquatic plants in 2016 (FAO, 2018). Regionally, Asia leads production (71 million tonnes), followed by the Americas (3.3 million tonnes) and Europe (2.9 million tonnes). To date over 360 finfish species are produced; the top 20 account for over 84% of production volume, with major species including carps (*Ctenopharyngodon idellus, Hypophthalmichthys* spp, *Cyprinus carpio*) and tilapias (*Oreochromis* spp) (FAO, 2018). Over 100 species of molluscs are produced commercially, the top three (oysters (*Crassostrea* spp.), Japanese carpet shell (*Ruditapes philippinarum*) and scallops (*Pectinidae*)) account for 64% of farmed mollusc species. Farmed crustacean species number over 60, with whiteleg shrimp (*Penaeus vannamei*) accounting for just over half of the total worldwide production volume.

In general, higher value species such as salmonids, tunas, shrimp, and prawns, are traded in high volume in more prosperous markets. For example, the demand for high value fish such as Atlantic salmon, primarily comes from markets in Europe, the United States of America, and Japan. Today the majority of salmon that is consumed originates from aquaculture producers in Norway and Chile, and to a lesser degree from smaller producers in Europe, North America, and Australasia (FAO, 2018). Lower value fish, such as small

pelagic species and herbivorous freshwater species, are largely produced in and exported to developing economies (FAO, 2018).

Fisheries and Aquaculture in The Bahamas and Wider Caribbean

In The Bahamas major fisheries include spiny lobster, queen conch, and reef fish including groupers (Epinephelidae), snapper (Lutjanidae) and grunts (Haemulidae). Fisheries management in The Bahamas is complicated by the wide spatial scale and large number of islands (Sherman et al., 2018), as well as the cultural status of some species such as queen conch, spiny lobster and Nassau grouper (*Epinephelus striatus*), which are iconic delicacies throughout the Bahamian islands. Restrictions on such iconic fisheries may cause social outcry, especially where subsistence fishing is an important source of livelihood and food security. Management can also be a complex multi-national issue when species (e.g., spiny lobster) have pelagic larval stages or are exclusively pelagic, resulting in a multi-country dependency on recruitment and migration (Cochrane and Chakalall, 2001).

Historically, fisheries have focused on large, long lived, high trophic level species (Pauly et al., 1998). However, a need for new resources due to declining finfish populations (Anderson et al., 2008; Pauly et al., 2002) has meant that invertebrate fisheries have increased in importance (Anderson et al., 2008). Demand for protein with growing human population size (Clarke, 2004; FAO, 2016), and increased availability after release from finfish predation (Baum and Worm, 2009; Worm and Myers, 2003) have been major drivers in the expansion of invertebrate exploitation. Many of these emerging invertebrates fisheries were previously only used for local subsistence in developing countries (Kaczynski and Fluharty, 2002). This increased fishing pressure has led to declines in invertebrate populations in several regions (Hobday et al., 2000) due to lack of regulation of the fisheries (Anderson et

al., 2011a) and a lack of understanding in the population dynamics of the species in question (Anderson et al., 2008). The decline in invertebrate populations has had unintended ecological impacts because many are keystone species in marine coastal communities, or serve as ecosystem engineers (Arnberg et al., 2018; Peterson et al., 2003).

Although the Latin American and Caribbean region has a high export of wild fisheries products (3.9 million tonne), the Caribbean contributes much less (7000 tonnes) to aquaculture production worldwide (FAO, 2018). This is likely due to a multitude of factors including the limited history of aquaculture in the region compared to Asian and European countries, limited land and freshwater resources (Alvarez-Lajonchère and Ibarra-Castro, 2013), and ecologically sensitive areas (Gentry et al., 2017). With increasingly exploited fisheries this may change in the future, forcing a move from wild fishery harvest to aquaculture in order to supplement lost revenue and food supply. Recently, Thomas et al (2019) estimated that further development of offshore mariculture operations could produce over 34 million tonnes of cobia (Rachycentron canadum) in the region. Currently, aquaculture in the Caribbean focuses on land-based production of tilapia, pond culture of white legged shrimp (Thomas et al., 2019), with some offshore cage-culture of cobia (Welch et al., 2019). Pompano (Carangidae spp.) and red drum (Sciaenops ocellatus) also show potential for offshore aquaculture (Benetti et al., 2006), whilst nearshore species including queen conch (Lombatus gigas), Caribbean king crab (Maguimithrax spinosissimus) spiny lobster (Panulirus argus), and some molluscs (Argopecten gibbus) have had mixed success in aquaculture (Creswell, 2007; Sarkis et al., 2006).

The Open Blue aquaculture facility in Panama has been producing cobia, 13 km offshore, since 2009. Considered one of the world's first truly offshore facilities, it produced 1400 tonnes of cobia in 2018 (Welch et al., 2019). The farm has up to 20 individual Ocean

Spar 6,400 m³ Sea Station cages operational at a given time. Depths at the site range between 55 to 65 m, with cages submerged at least 10m below the surface, as measured from the top of the cage. Because the cages are located over deeper water with a good water flow there are no significant reductions in dissolved oxygen (DO₂), or changes in chlorophyll-*a*, particulate organic carbon or nitrate and nitrite in the water column (Welch et al., (2019). The sea cages are accessed by boat and are only raised to the surface for maintenance, cleaning, and harvest.

Potential Effects of Aquaculture on the Environment

In recent years, consumers have become increasingly interested in the origin of their food and how it is produced. Many will pay a premium for food that is organically or sustainably raised. Although there have been vast improvements in practices over the last 20 years (Price and Morris, 2013), intensive aquaculture operations still have a number deleterious effects on the environment, especially in marine sea cage farming. Some of these include, but are not limited to, the introduction of organic materials and chemicals into the environment, and the escape of farmed animals.

Organic input into environment

In poorly sited or managed farms, (uneaten) food and faeces descending from cages without adequate water movement can accumulate beneath and surrounding the site. The build-up of solid material can smother the seabed and the subsequent degradation by bacteria can lead to anoxic dead zones under the cages (Price and Morris, 2013). The excessive input of nutrients can also lead to blooms of toxic algae and dinoflagellates, which can kill fish and invertebrates (Davidson et al., 2009). These effects can be reduced through fallowing of sites to allow for biomineralization, or through establishment of sites in deeper, well flushed locations.

Chemicals

A number of chemicals used in aquaculture, including antibiotics and parasiticides, metals, disinfectants, and anaesthetics, can potentially find their way into the environment. The biggest concerns surrounding antibiotic use are residual antibiotics in farmed fish, risking both fish and human health (Cabello, 2004). Additionally, the more an antibiotic is used, the greater the risk of the emergence of bacterial resistance to multiple antibiotics (Aarestrup, 2006). Parasiticides are commonly used to treat sea-lice, and other ectoparasites. However, these treatments lack specificity and may affect non-target species, especially crustaceans (Burridge et al., 2010), thus the release of these compounds has been identified as a major environmental concern (Nash, 2003). Disinfectants are frequently used on nets to control the spread of bacterial infections (Burridge et al., 2010). Their use is largely unregulated; subsequently the effects in the marine environment are poorly studied (Burridge et al., 2010).

Metals, most commonly copper and zinc, primarily enter the marine environment from antifoulants or from feed ingredients (Burridge et al., 2010). In their ionic forms they can be toxic to marine organisms, especially those with delicate larval stages.

Escape of farmed animals

Escapes of farmed fish, especially salmon are relatively common. These escapees may transfer new disease to wild fish. They can also compete for both food and habitat with both wild conspecifics and other native species. There is evidence that the cultured stocks tend to be less locally adapted so if they interbreed with wild fish it will result an inferior animal for life in nature. This can be important if it results in genetic modification of traits

that confer advantages to that area or watershed (Besnier et al., 2015; McGinnity et al., 2003).

Biofouling

One problem that is often overlooked, especially in marine pen aquaculture, is biofouling, the accretion of organisms on submerged surfaces (De Nys and Guenther, 2009). Biofouling can have direct effects on production rates, and thus needs to be controlled, but the control or removal of these encrusting organisms, e.g. hydroids, tunicates, algaes, and molluscs (Guenther et al., 2011; LeBlanc et al., 2007; Qian et al., 2007), can have indirect effects on the environment.

Biofouling is conservatively estimated to cost the industry up to 15% of production (Adams et al., 2011; Lane and Willemsen, 2004). The impacts vary based on the amount and type of fouling present, ranging from negative effects on the structure of the enclosure and support systems, functioning of mechanical structures, and health of species within the facility. In both shellfish and finfish culture, fouling can compromise cage structure and mooring hardware (Swift et al., 2006), which can lead to cage deflection and deformation, resulting in devastating effects such as cage collapse and fish escapement (Jensen et al., 2010; Lader et al., 2008; Swift et al., 2006). Furthermore, fouling can decrease the flow of water by as much as 50% (Gansel et al., 2012; Gormican, 1989; Madin et al., 2010), reducing oxygen availability for fish and concomitantly reducing removal of nitrogenous waste products from within the cage (Lader et al., 2008). Fouling organisms themselves can compete with stock for space and food, reducing effective cage volumes (Aarsnes et al., 1990) and inhibiting growth of the farmed species (Adams et al., 2011). In addition, some fish diseases, (e.g., netpen liver disease) (Kent, 1990) and parasites (e.g., *Gilquinia squali*,

Cardicola forsteri) (Cribb et al., 2011; Kent et al., 1991) can be attributed to the consumption of fouling organisms by the fish.

Commercial farming operations generally use a combination of three broad categories of control to mitigate the effects of biofouling on nets and cages. These include net changing and cleaning, chemical antifoulants, and biological controls (Fitridge et al., 2012). Net changing and cleaning frequency is dependent on latitude, season, and mesh size. This can vary from every eight days (Hodson and Burke, 1994) to once per year (Sutterlin and Merrill, 1978). Net changing is used to prevent both damage from structural fatigue and deformation, and the impact of biofouling occlusion on the health of target species (De Nys and Guenther, 2009). The net is partially raised out of the water, a clean net is unravelled underneath the current one, attached, and the fouled net removed while fish are in the cage (De Nys and Guenther, 2009). This is labour intensive and expensive, requiring numerous nets, netchanging equipment and cleaning teams, while also potentially impacting feeding regimes and risking loss of stock. (Hodson et al., 1997). As an alternative, in situ net cleaning can be completed by SCUBA divers using pressurised water hoses (Cronin et al., 1999), and in larger operations this is almost fully automated using remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) (Fitridge et al., 2012). This method is expensive and can trigger larval release (Carl et al., 2011) or leave remnants of fouling organisms which regrow (Moss and Marsland, 1976). Furthermore, in situ cleaning can damage nets, increasing numbers of loose filaments which create additional settlement locations for fouling species (Geffen, 1979). This suggests that while cleaning events may reduce fouling biomass, fouling species may re-populate netting more rapidly than initial rates. Fish have exhibited stress behaviours during cleaning events, which may leave them prone to infections; for example, the breakdown of the hydroid *Ectopleura larynx* with power washers has been associated with reduced gill health of farmed salmon (Bloecher et

al., 2018). While the fate of excess feed and faecal matter into the environment are reasonably well documented (Kutti, 2008; Torrissen et al., 2011), fouling material dispersal and deposition from net pen cleaning has not received as much attention, but could have similar impacts, creating anoxic dead zones around the farms (Bannister et al., 2016; Floerl et al., 2016; Reid et al., 2009).

Chemical antifoulants are also commonly used to deter larval settlement on netting, and work by leaching a layer of biocide around the net (De Nys and Guenther, 2009). In most developed countries, such as Canada, Norway and the European Union (Floerl et al., 2016; Sandberg and Olafsen, 2006), the introduction of hazardous chemicals directly into the environment is highly regulated, requiring registration of biocides under law or a regulatory agency (Thomas and Brooks, 2010). Although these chemicals are regulated in their use, the release of chemicals and materials from in-situ cleaning, e.g. from fragmentation during high-pressure cleaning, or the degradation of these materials over time is not as well regulated, potentially due to the lack of studies on the release of antifouling biocides (Thomas and Brooks, 2010). Copper-based treatments (including copper core netting) are frequently used on marine nets because they are toxic to most settling marine organisms (Oliva et al., 2007). However, bioaccumulation in sediments (Miller, 1998) and tissues (Chou et al., 2003, 2000; Zhu et al., 1990), and leeching through the water column (Brooks, 2000; Thomas and Brooks, 2010) may negatively impact various non-target organisms such as macro- and micro-algae (Bond et al., 1999; Lim et al., 2006), fish (Mochida et al., 2006; Oliva et al., 2007), molluscs (Zhu et al., 1990), lobster (Chou et al., 2000) and urchins (Chou et al., 2003). In general, best management practices combined with enforced regulation have reduced copper contamination risks (Nash et al., 2005). One such example of release rate regulation occurs in Denmark, where copper paints with a release rate of > 200 μ g cm⁻² after

14 days and 350 μ g cm⁻² after 30 days are prohibited on small vessels (Thomas and Brooks, 2010).

A global move to find biocides that are both effective and 'eco-friendly' is underway (Fitridge et al., 2012); this would reduce the environmental impacts and enhance public perceptions of aquaculture (Sandberg and Olafsen, 2006). Such chemicals are currently used during times of heavy fouling and the environmental impact is considered to be minimal as nets and lines must be removed from the water during treatment. Short term less-toxic alternatives include acids (e.g., acetic, silicic, formic and citric acids) (Denny, 2008; Guenther et al., 2011; LeBlanc et al., 2007; Piola et al., 2009) and bases (e.g., sodium hypochlorite (bleach)) (Denny, 2008). Acetic acid has been shown to remove between 55 – 100% of fouling species (Denny, 2008; Piola et al., 2009), while bleach use was equally successful, removing 75 – 100% of fouling organisms (Denny, 2008; Piola et al., 2009). A novel experimental method by Da Gama (2001) involved the crude extraction of natural biofouling chemicals from three species of seaweed and showed some potential antifouling properties in one species.

Finally, researchers have investigated the effectiveness of various species as biocontrol agents to remove organisms through natural grazing on the netting. Sea urchins have been the primary species used, with trials on oyster, mussel and scallop farms (Lodeiros and García, 2004; Ross et al., 2004; Sterling et al., 2016; Zhanhui et al., 2014). All found significant differences between fouling amounts at the end of trials, regardless of the density of urchins used. Whilst Sterling et al., (2016) used photographs to determine percent net occlusions, other studies (Lodeiros and García, 2004; Ross et al., 2004; Zhanhui et al., 2014) used the weight of nets at the end of the trial period to determine success of epibiont

removal. In addition to removal of fouling organisms on the cage structure, researchers also investigated the removal of epibionts from the shells of the bivalve crop. Removal of growth from the shells themselves showed mixed success – some grazers had no effect on shell fouling, while others reduced shell fouling. In overall support of this method the co-cultured grazing species had little to no impact on the survival and growth of the farmed species (Lodeiros and García, 2004; Ross et al., 2004).

Crabs have also been used in a number of preliminary trials in oyster farms. Various sizes of rock crabs *Cancer irroratus* were added to oyster trays (Hidu et al., 1981). The larger crabs caused losses in the cultured oysters, but smaller crabs removed fouling mussels resulting in reduced oyster mortality. In addition, the foraging activity of the crabs was thought to reduce the build-up of silt within the oyster trays (Hidu et al., 1981). Other crustaceans such as hermit crabs (Ross et al., 2004), shrimp (Dumont et al., 2009), and gastropod molluscs (Enright et al., 1983) have shown some success at removing fouling from scallop and oysters, and promoting growth.

The majority of biocontrol studies in aquaculture have been preliminary in nature or have focused on small scale bivalve operations (Fitridge et al., 2012). A major limitation of biological control is that grazing species often show a preference for specific prey items. This could lead to removal of competitors, allowing ungrazed fouling species to flourish and form successful monocultures on nets (Fitridge et al., 2012). It also brings into question as to where one obtains the biological control stock; if they are harvested from the wild there is potential to deplete natural resources, and use of wild stock could also lead to the transfer of pathogens or disease (Treasurer, 2012). These two problems could be negated by raising of the control animals in a separate aquaculture operation, as is being done for lumpfish to control sea lice infestations (Powell et al., 2018). At present, the use of grazing animals to control biofouling

on large commercial finfish operations has received little attention. However, in the future biocontrol may be a low cost, labour saving method (Ross et al., 2004) that could use a marketable organism to improve farm profits as a form of polyculture, or integrated multitrophic aquaculture (Ahlgren, 1998; Ross et al., 2004).

Assessment of Wild Stock

Today commercial fishery stocks are typically managed with landing quotas, gear restriction and vessel size and/or numbers fishing. Behind these management practices is a complex fishery science designed to provide knowledge of population dynamics and thus inform sustainable harvesting practices. Compared to conventional finfish stocks, management of crustaceans differs as growth and catchability are drastically different (Penn et al., 2019). Growth in particular differs as crustaceans undergo a series of moults which incrementally increase the size of individuals, whereas finfish can be modelled using continuous growth models. This method of growth requires that crustaceans lose the exoskeleton, which adds complexity to stock assessments as they cannot be easily aged because no internal skeleton is maintained, and the moulting process frequently causes loss of tags. Further, some species undergo a terminal moult, where growth ceases. Thus crustacean age is often estimated by observing changes in size-frequency of year-classes (Penn et al., 2019). However new techniques such as gastric mill sectioning (Kilada et al., 2012; Leland et al., 2011) may provide more accurate size-at-age estimates, allowing more accurate life history models, and therefore better fishery management. This is especially important in fisheries with varying latitudinal growth rates. Terminal moult is, in some crab species, reached in conjunction with sexual maturity (e.g. Majidae crabs, Hartnoll, 1983), however in other species sexual maturity is reached in the stages prior to the terminal moult (e.g.

Carcinidae and Portunidae crabs, Hartnoll, 1983). Sexual maturity, in conjunction with age, is one of the more important parameters for stock managers (Hall et al., 2006). The knowledge of the size, moult increment, and age of when males and females in a stock reach maturity allows managers to determine a minimum harvest size which will allow reproductive contribution to a population. Maturity in crabs is often reached in conjunction with a change in allometric growth, where often in males the chela increases in size, and in females, the abdomen increases in size (Somerton, 1980).

In crab and lobster fisheries, basic management strategies often involve a legal minimum size, protection of spawning females, or a catch quota. These work well for temperate and cold water crabs, but fast-growing tropical crabs present additional difficulties as recruitment is often more variable (Penn et al., 2019). In these cases alternative methods such as controlling fishing efforts through limitations on vessel numbers, gear size, gear numbers, and fishing time have been adopted. Most exploited crustacean populations require complex year-to-year assessments to determine an allocated catch amount, as the exploitable biomass can be highly variable due to spawning stock abundance, subsequent recruitment success, and climate (Penn et al., 2019).

In addition to exploitation of stocks for direct sale to market, some crustacean aquaculture operations utilise wild caught juveniles, e.g. crabs (Wu et al., 2010) and shrimp (Coman et al., 2006), while panulirid lobster are grown out from wild caught puerulus larvae (Penn et al., 2019). These methodologies are known to have several issues, including quality and quantity variations, as well as potential introductions of pathogens into farms (Coman et al., 2006; Jang et al., 2009; Meng et al., 2009). In addition, excessive removal of adult crustaceans for broodstock may have an impact on natural recruitment, and therefore the overall production of the fishery. Selection and use of a domesticated stock for a hatchery may

promote sustainable development of an aquaculture industry, whilst also promoting genetic selection of desirable traits such as growth rate, reproductive potential and pathogen resistance.

The Study Species

The Caribbean King Crab *Maguimithrax spinosissimus* (previously *Damithrax spinosissimus, Mithrax spinosissimus* (Hurtado-Alarcón et al., 2018; Klompmaker et al., 2015; Windsor and Felder, 2014)) hereafter referred to as "spider crab," ranges from North Carolina, USA, through the Caribbean to Venezuela (Baeza et al., 2012). The spider crab is the largest brachyuran crab in the Western Atlantic, with males reaching larger mean carapace widths (Panama: 91.7 \pm 2.1 (SE) mm sexes combined (Guzman and Tewfik, 2004); Florida Keys: males 65.4 \pm 25.6 (SD) mm, females 57.5 \pm 19.3 (SD) mm (Baeza et al., 2012); Colombia: males 121 \pm 23.2 (SD) mm, females 119 \pm 22.4 (SD) mm (Campos et al., 2015)) and masses than females (Colombia: male max 3800 g, female max 3100 g (Campos et al., 2015)). The larger mass of males is principally due to the larger chelipeds (Campos et al., 2015), arguably making them more marketable (Brownell et al., 1977). The species is a nocturnal omnivore, primarily feeding on encrusting algae (Butler IV and Mojica, 2012), with grazing rates exceeding most Caribbean herbivorous fish (Butler IV and Mojica, 2012).

Current exploitation of spider crabs appears to be made up from incidental catches, primarily in the Panama Canal, Panama, and Pedro Bank, Jamaica (Creswell et al., 1989; Guzman and Tewfik, 2004; Munro, 1983), where it is taken for subsistence rather than commerce. Winfree and Weinstein (1989) suggest that the species has not become commercially important as marketable sizes are infrequently caught in traps. This is likely due to the low densities of the crab (> 0.1 crabs/m² (Butler IV and Mojica, 2012; Francis et

al., 2019)), which are restricted by crevice abundance and availability (Hazlett and Rittschof, 1975) as well as the herbivorous nature of their diet which makes them unlikely to enter baited traps.

A number of preliminary studies have suggested that the spider crab shows potential for aquaculture because it has a short larval phase with benthic settlement occurring within five to six days post-hatch (Brownell et al., 1977). Growth rates have been shown to be 0.1 – 0.2 mm carapace length (CL) per day as juveniles, up to over 0.5 mm CL/day as adults indicating a grow-out period of 12 - 15 months to a similarly sized marketed species (Adey and Farrier, 1989). The species could also be considered "sustainable" as it could be raised on turf algae rather than more costly commercial feed containing fish meal or oil (Rubino and Stoffle, 1990). The large size of this crab and high quality flesh coupled with increasing demand for seafood (Halwart et al., 2007), suggests that the Caribbean spider crab may be suited for a controlled hand-capture fishery prior to development of an aquaculture operation.

Aims and Hypothesis of Thesis

In this thesis, firstly I investigated the characteristics of a number of populations of the spider crab *Maguimithrax spinosissimus* in Eleuthera, The Bahamas and the potential for the development of an artisanal fishery. Secondly, I determined if this species would be a good candidate for removal of biofouling organisms on marine aquaculture cages.

Chapter 2:

Aim: Determine the size, health and estimate the size at maturity of groups of spider crab from 3 sites around Eleuthera.

Hypothesis: The population size as well as individual size and sex ratios of spider crabs will differ among sites around Eleuthera.

Prediction: Spider crabs will be larger, both on average and overall, for both males and females at the patch reefs, where populations are more dispersed, algae has greater variety and a larger biomass. This will be reflected in haemolymph measurements, where crabs will have higher BRIX measurements, reflecting higher diet variety, quality, and availability.

Chapter 3:

Aim: Determine the feeding rates of adult spider crabs and whether they could be used as a biological control agent to remove biofouling in marine aquaculture pens.

Hypothesis: Crabs will graze on fouling organisms on marine aquaculture cages, removing organisms at a sufficient rate to negate the use of other methods.

Prediction: Crabs will graze all organisms from the nets. Larger crabs will eat more than smaller animals. This may result in a worthwhile future path for sustainable aquaculture or integrated multi-trophic aquaculture (IMTA).

Chapter 2: Population structure and size at maturity of the Caribbean spider crab Maguimithrax spinosissimus around Eleuthera, The Bahamas

Abstract

The Caribbean spider crab Maguimithrax spinosissimus is the largest crab in the western Atlantic, reaching 3 kg in weight and 170 mm carapace width (CW). At present there is no established fishery for Maguimithrax spinosissimus, however its short larval stage and herbivorous nature could make this species a potential candidate for aquaculture. The present study investigated the size ranges of crabs at patch reefs, a blue hole and an anchialine pond in Eleuthera, The Bahamas (January to June, 2018). A total of 392 individuals were collected; males comprised 42.1% of the population with a mean CW of 107.7 ± 1.48 mm, while the mean CW of females was 94.3 ± 0.87 mm. Principal component analysis and hierarchical cluster analyses were used to determine size at maturity: morphological maturity was reached in males at 96.2 mm CW and in females at 72.3 mm, while behavioural maturity was reached at 80.1 and 72.1 mm CW for males and females respectively. On average the meat yield of the wet mass of male and female crabs was 14.07 \pm 1.07% and 10.9 \pm 0.71% respectively, which is comparable to other decapods. I also used the gastric mills to determine the age of crabs by sectioning the ossicles and looking for rings of seasonal growth. The data gathered for this species could be used to establish management plans for an artisanal fishery in the Bahamian archipelago.

Introduction

Fisheries management in The Bahamas is complicated by the extent of ocean area encompassed by the country (Buchan, 2000; Sherman et al., 2018). Remote islands, small populations, and limited infrastructure makes policing and surveying of marine resources problematic. Spiny lobster (Panulirus argus), queen conch (Lobatus gigas) and Nassau grouper (Epinephelus striatus) are iconic in The Bahamas, forming a large part of the diet and providing income for thousands of people (Cushion and Sullivan-Sealey, 2008). Declines of queen conch, have been observed across the Caribbean (Stoner et al., 2018; Tewfik and Guzman, 2003), whilst the spiny lobster has been designated as "data deficient" on the IUCN Red list (Butler et al., 2013), and the Nassau grouper has been classified as critically endangered by the IUCN. Uncertainty in various population estimates and illegal, unreported and unregulated fishing making up large proportions of all landings (36%, Medley and Gittens, 2012) makes sustainable management of the various fisheries challenging. With numerous treasured Bahamian icons threatened, several new fisheries have emerged. Parrotfishes (Scarinae), previously taken as bycatch or bait, have become more common in local landings, which may be of concern due to the ecological role that parrotfishes play as grazers on coral reefs sites (Dahlgren in Sherman et al. 2018). Sea cucumbers (Holothuria mexicana and Astichopus multifidus) have also become a potentially economically valuable export (Sherman et al., 2018). However, like parrotfish, they provide an ecologically important role as bioturbators and detritus processors (Dahlgren et al., 1999). Due to their density dependent reproduction, sea cucumber fisheries have proven to be difficult to manage worldwide (Anderson et al., 2011b). Exploration of new species such as the Caribbean spider crab Maguimithrax spinosissimus, along with sustainable implementation of an artisanal fishery, could be used to alleviate pressure on other at-risk stocks.

The Caribbean Spider Crab *Maguimithrax spinosissimus* (previously *Damithrax spinosissimus*, *Mithrax spinosissimus*; Hurtado-Alarcón et al., 2018; Klompmaker et al., 2015; Windsor and Felder, 2014)) hereafter the spider crab, ranges from North Carolina, USA, through the Caribbean to Venezuela (Baeza et al., 2012). It is the largest brachyuran crab in the Western Atlantic, reaching over 3 kg and 170 mm carapace width (Winfree and Weinstein, 1989). This species is a nocturnal omnivore showing preference for fleshy macroalgae but also grazes on calcareous algae (Butler IV and Mojica, 2012), as well as consuming some animal material (Winfree and Weinstein, 1989). The per capita grazing rates of individual crabs have been shown to exceed most herbivorous fish in the Caribbean (Butler IV and Mojica, 2012).

Current exploitation of spider crabs appears to be made up from incidental catches, primarily in the Panama Canal, Panama, and Pedro Bank, Jamaica (Creswell et al., 1989; Guzman and Tewfik, 2004; Munro, 1983), where it is taken for home consumption rather than commerce due to a lack of an organised market for the crab and low catch rates (Munro, 1983). A number of preliminary studies have suggested that the spider crab shows potential for aquaculture because it has a short non-feeding larval phase, with benthic settlement occurring within five to six days post-hatch (Brownell et al., 1977). Growth rates have been shown to be initially 0.1 - 0.2 mm carapace length (CL) per day, up to over 0.5 mm CL/day, indicating a grow-out period of 12 - 15 months (Adey and Farrier, 1989) in culture on an algal turf diet. Because this species does not have to be raised on more costly commercial feed, it can also be considered a sustainable aquaculture species (Rubino and Stoffle, 1990). The final product also has the potential to be highly marketable because it looks and tastes like the Alaskan King Crab *Paralithodes camtschaticus* (Rubino and Stoffle,

1990). Nevertheless because of its large size and high quality flesh coupled with increasing demand for seafood (Halwart et al., 2007), it is possible that the Caribbean spider crab may be suited for a controlled fishery prior to development of an aquaculture operation.

Spider crabs belong to the superfamily Majoidea, a family which display a diverse variety of morphologies, sizes, and behaviours (Baeza et al., 2010). Growth is discontinuous in brachyurans; the rate depends on the size gained at each moult and the frequency of these moults (Hartnoll, 1978). Structures that grow proportional to body size are isometric, while those growing faster or slower are positively or negatively allometric, respectively. Following each moult the relationship between structures may change, indicating different life phases (Hartnoll, 1978). For example, the claws of male crabs often increase disproportionately relative to body size, and are used for agonistic interactions (Hartnoll, 1969), whilst for females a rapid increase in the size of the abdomen is related to an increase in clutch size (Crawford and De Smidt, 1922). Most majoid species have three phases of development after the larval stages: the juvenile, prepubertal, and the adult phase (Carmona-Suárez, 2003; Sampedro et al., 1999) whilst a smaller number of species exhibit two growth phases (Baeza et al., 2012; Barón et al., 2009; Cobo and Alves, 2009). Maguimithrax spinosissimus falls into the latter category. The transition between each phase is determined by a critical moult (Hartnoll, 1978), which has not been determined for Maguimithrax spinosissimus. Baeza (2012) observed shifts in allometry at 64.85, 60.1, and 45.2 mm CW in males, and 58.77, 69.7, and 71.2 mm CW in females, depending on the variables used in the analysis. Mean size for both sexes varies throughout the Caribbean, with males averaging 65.4 mm and 129 mm in the Florida Keys and Cartagena, Colombia respectively, and females averaging 57.5 mm and 115 mm (Baeza et al., 2012; Campos et al., 2015).

Spider crabs that attain large body sizes such as *Maja squinado, Chionoecetes opilio,* and *Paralithodes camtschatica* are commercial fishery targets (Chilton et al., 2011; Sainte-Marie et al., 1995; Sampedro et al., 1999) and have thus been subject to life history examinations (Conan and Comeau, 1986; Paul, 1992; Sampedro et al., 1999), which includes estimations of size at maturity. These estimations are essential to inform management of the respective fisheries (Alunno-Bruscia and Sainte-Marie, 1998; González-Gurriarán et al., 1995; Paul, 1992; Sainte-Marie et al., 1995) and are often used to establish minimum landing sizes (Corgos and Freire, 2006). Such practices allow juveniles to reach maturity, ensuring future contribution to the respective population.

While previous studies have examined the distributions of size frequencies between sexes (Baeza et al., 2012; Campos et al., 2015; Guzman and Tewfik, 2004) as well as size at maturity (Baeza et al., 2012) of *Maguimithrax spinosissimus*, none have investigated the species in The Bahamas, nor have any compared sites with wide environmental variability. Given the potential of this large crab species for future exploitation, the aims of this study were to determine the size ranges present, physiological condition, meat yield, age, and size at maturity of both sexes of this species across three different locations in Eleuthera, The Bahamas. The hypotheses for this chapter are:

- 1. The carapace width sizes of spider crabs will differ among sites around Eleuthera.
- The physiological condition of spider crabs will be similar between sites around Eleuthera.
- Size at maturity of both sexes of spider crab will differ, with males maturing at a larger carapace width.

These data will provide important current information that may allow sustainable implementation of an artisanal or commercial fishery.

Materials and Methods

Sampling sites of Maguimithrax spinosissimus

The study was conducted at the Cape Eleuthera Institute (CEI) (GPS: 24°49'46"N, 76°19'41"W), Eleuthera, The Bahamas. *M. spinosissimus* were collected from three locations: patch reefs northeast of CEI (GPS: 24°50'N, 76°14'W), a blue hole (GPS: 24°47'01"N, 76°13'39"W) northwest of the town of Greencastle, and Sweetings Pond (GPS: 25°21'52"N, 76°31'07"W) (Figure 2.1).

The patch reefs are naturally formed reefs of similar depth (3 - 4 m), separated by areas of sand, seagrass, and soft coral (Smith et al. 2017). Reefs vary from between 17 - 570 m² (Tamburello and Côté, 2015) and rise to around 1.3 m above the seabed. Benthic cover includes macroalgae (36.6% ± 21.4% SD), turf algae (17.1% ± 13.2), coral (25.7% ± 18.9%) and sponge cover (11.3% ± 9.1%) (Francis et al., 2019). Various species of herbivorous fish are present diurnally, whilst herbivorous macroinvertebrates (crustaceans and echinoderms) are predominant nocturnally. Various predatory fish species such as snappers, grunts, groupers, and eels are abundant.

Greencastle Blue Hole was a minimum of 1 km away from any of the patch reefs that were used for collection. The hole measures approximately 35 x 12 m and reaches depths exceeding 18 m. Unlike other blue holes, the Greencastle hole appears to be formed by collapsed sub-sea tunnels. The water current in the hole is linked to tidal cycles. Water temperature in the hole was noted to be 1 - 2°C cooler than surrounding waters (Zeinert, 2018, personal observation). Turf algae was the predominant vegetation in the hole, which declined with depth and was not observed below 15 m (Zeinert, 2018, personal observation). Fish abundance was noticeably lower than on the patch reefs, but similar assemblages of fish species were present. Although this location is close to shore and a

town, there appeared to be little fishing pressure likely due to local legends surrounding blue holes and the mythical "Lusca" – a half shark half octopus - that inhabits them.

Sweetings Pond is an anchialine lake in the north of Eleuthera (Rose et al., 2016). The pond has a surface area of 0.92 km² and a maximum depth of 15 m (Aronson, 1989). Water temperature, salinity, dissolved oxygen, and pH are largely the same as the water in the Bight of Eleuthera due to its tidal link, however visibility is lower due to flocculent matter suspended in the pond (Aronson and Harms, 1985). The benthos is made up of a sand-silt substrate that is easily disturbed. The algal species *Caulerpa sp.* and *Cladophora sp.* dominate the benthos. Fish abundance and diversity, especially of predatory fishes is low in the pond (Aronson and Harms, 1985). The area is surrounded by karstic limestone, the weathering of which produces overhanging ledges around the perimeter of the lake. The majority of crabs were collected from beneath these ledges (depth < 1 m). Subsistence harvest of crabs, especially the larger individuals, from the pond also occurs (O. O'Shea, personal communication, 2018).

Crabs were collected at night by freediving at the patch reefs and SCUBA diving in the blue hole, whilst crabs collected at Sweetings Pond were collected during the day and measured on site, before being returned to the pond. Crabs from the patch reefs and the blue hole were transported to the CEI wet lab in coolers within two hours of collection. They were held at CEI in flow-through tanks for no longer than a week (diameter = 1.5 m, depth = 0.7 m, filled to 50% of capacity). All crabs were measured and haemolymph samples were collected. One subset was sacrificed for meat yield, gastric mill, and gonad sampling, whilst another was used in a mark-recapture study. The remainder were returned alive.


Figure 2.1. Eleuthera in relation to the southern United States of America. (1) The Cape Eleuthera Institute, (2) Coral Patch Reefs, (3) Greencastle Blue Hole, (4) Sweetings Pond.

Morphometric Measurement of Maguimithrax spinosissimus

Crab sex was determined by observation of the abdomen, which is broad in females and triangular in males. Mass in grams and any limb loss were recorded. The carapace width (CW), carapace length (CL), right chela length (ChL), chela height (ChH), chela width (ChW) and chela diagonal (ChD; the distance between the dactyl and the insertion point into the base of the propodus) were measured to the nearest mm using calipers (Figure 2.2A, B). Abdomen flexibility (AF) (whether fixed or unfixed from the sternum) was tested in both sexes using a probe (Figure 2.2D). In females, the abdomen width (AW) at its widest point was measured in mm and presence or absence of eggs noted (Figure 2.2C). However, presence of eggs was not used as an indicator of maturity because larger morphometrically mature females often had no eggs present due to their mode of continuous reproduction throughout the year (Adey and Farrier, 1989; Baeza et al., 2012).

Abdomen flexibility is associated with behavioural maturity (Baeza et al., 2012); both the male and female abdomens become unattached from the ventral sterna so the male is able to deposit sperm, and the female is able to receive sperm and to flex the abdomen to aerate the eggs. A general linear model (GLM) was used to determine the size at which a male or female crab becomes behaviourally mature. This was estimated by the probability of having a movable abdomen at a given carapace width being greater or less than 0.5.

A positive or negative relationship between carapace width and all other measured variables using the allometric model $y = ax^b$ (Hartnoll, 1978; Simpson et al., 2016) allowed determination if the measured body part increased or decreased in growth proportionally to the carapace width. The morphometric measurements were then used to determine maturity level in terms of growth phases. Following a similar method to Simpson et al. (2016), a principal component analysis (PCA) was completed on all variables for both sexes.

Variables were then dropped in order to obtain clear subsets, using CW and AW for females, and CW, ChL and ChH in males. The chosen variables were suitable because carapace width is a standard measurement for crab size, while chelae length, height and abdomen width show changes in allometry in closely related crab species (Baeza et al., 2012). Following the PCAs, a hierarchical cluster analysis was used to further identify juveniles and mature individuals. The subsequent output of the clustering was then used to indicate the juvenile and mature individuals. Finally, a general linear model (GLM) was created using each variable against carapace width to model the resulting data, which then visually displayed the size of maturity in the form of a graph.



Figure 2.2. *Maguimithrax spinosissimus* morphometric measurements. (A) Carapace width (CW) and carapace length (CL). (B) Right chela measurements; chela length (ChL), chela height (ChH), chela width (ChW) and chela diagonal (ChD; the distance between the dactyl and the insertion point into the base of the propodus). (C) Abdomen width (AW) and examination for presence of eggs. (D) Examination for movable abdomen and arthrodial membrane where haemolymph was taken.

Haemolymph Sampling of Maguimithrax spinosissimus

Digital refractometers provide a rapid and non-invasive way to determine the physiological condition of crustaceans (Lorenzon et al., 2011). Low haemolymph protein levels may indicate trauma (Fotedar et al, 2002), stress (Chang 2005) or poor nutritional condition (Wang and McGaw, 2014). Haemolymph protein levels can be assessed using a Digital Pocket Refractometer, which takes three measurements: temperature compensated percent solids (Brix-TC), temperature compensated refractive index (TC-RI), and refractive index (RI). Brix-TC (hereafter referred to as BRIX) is a scale initially designed to report the dissolved sugar content of a liquid, and is based on the RI of the fluid. The RI, in turn, is determined by the amount of dissolved or suspended solutes within the fluid. Both the RI (Lorenzon et al., 2011; Oliver and MacDiarmid, 2001; Wang and McGaw, 2014) and BRIX (Bolton et al., 2009; Mendo et al., 2016; Simon et al., 2015a; Simon et al., 2015b) levels have been shown to correlate strongly with total haemolymph proteins in crustaceans. I chose to use BRIX, as it did not require transformation of the raw data and is commonly used in crustacean papers as a proxy for total haemolymph protein (Mendo et al., 2016; Simon et al., 2015a). One has to be careful with absolute values as there is an interaction with moult status. Immediately after moult, the levels are lowest and increase though intermoult. We avoided some of this by only using hard-shell intermoult crabs. Some late-stage intermoult crabs may have been present. The differences in intermoult crabs (Stage C) are likely to be less apparent than nutritional effects (Wang and McGaw, 2014)

Haemolymph was sampled using methods outlined by Wang and McGaw (2014). Briefly, a 0.3 mL sample of haemolymph was withdrawn using a 16 gauge needle and 1 mL syringe inserted into the arthrodial membrane at the base of the fourth walking leg (Figure 2.2). The serum protein concentration was measured using a Brix/RI-Chek Digital Pocket

Refractometer (Reichert Analytical Instruments, Depew, NY). After the refractometer was calibrated with distilled water, the sample was added to the well and the three measurements taken: BRIX, TC-RI, RI. The time between withdrawal of the sample and measuring did not exceed 60 seconds.

Migration/Homingof Maguimithrax spinosissimus on Coral Patch Reefs

Mark recapture experiments were carried out on a subset of spider crabs to determine whether they showed site fidelity or moved between patches. Many crustaceans undergo migrations which are linked to a life cycle change such as spawning or movement away from juvenile habitat (Penn et al., 2019; Shelley and Lovatelli, 2011). In addition, tag and release may also be used to estimate population size (Barnes et al., 2002; Robertson and Piper, 1991). Adult crabs (71 to 142 mm CW), were collected from Greencastle Blue Hole (n = 81) and tagged with a coded T-bar anchor Floy tag inserted into the posterior margin of the epimural suture allowed identification of individual animals. These tags have been shown to have high retention rates on other crab species (REF x 2). The crabs were then placed on a cluster of 9 coral patch reefs where spider crabs had been previously observed. The crabs were left for three weeks, following which the patch reefs were re-surveyed at night in order to recapture any marked individuals. The surrounding patch reefs and Greencastle Blue Hole were also surveyed for any crabs that may have migrated away or potentially returned to the Greencastle Blue Hole.

Meat Yield and Gastric Mill sampling of Maguimithrax spinosissimus

Five individual crabs, each with all limbs intact, were selected from each 10 mm size class (70 to 130 mm CW), three individuals larger than 130 mm CW were also used. At least

two individuals from each sex were selected where possible. The sex, CW, and mass were recorded and crabs were then euthanized by submersion in iced seawater for one hour. The carapace was removed by cutting around epimural suture, the organs were carefully removed, and the remaining muscle and exoskeleton rinsed in fresh water. The gastric mill of each crab was dissected out from the foregut, and the labelled samples were frozen at -20°C for later analysis. The remaining exoskeleton and muscle were boiled for 8 minutes, following which the legs, claws and carapace were cracked open and the meat manually removed, similar to (Yomar-Hattori et al., 2006). The meat was weighed and expressed as a percentage of the total wet body mass measured prior to gastric extraction and boiling. The data were then expressed through a linear model, using crab meat yield as the response variable, and mass as the explanatory variable.

Gastric Mill analysis of Maguimithrax spinosissimus

The gastric mill samples were transported frozen back to Memorial University of Newfoundland for analysis. The gastric mills were used for aging the crabs using the methods outlined in Leland et al. (2011). The mesocardiac and zygocardiac ossicles were dissected from the gastric mill of the crab and rinsed with freshwater and then in 50% ethanol prior to embedding. The ossicles were placed in cylindrical moulds, which were precoated with a releasing agent, before a two-part cold-cure epoxy (Buehler EpoxyCure 2 Epoxy Resin and Epoxy Hardener) was mixed 4:1 (Resin:Hardener), then poured into the moulds. These were then left for 3 days to cure. After curing, the pucks were sectioned using a Buehler Isomet 1000 saw (Lake Bluff, IL, USA) and an IsoMet 15 LC diamond wafering blade. Sections were then polished using a Buehler MetaServ 250 grinder-polisher (Lake Bluff, IL, USA) before being mounted onto a glass slide, sectioned to 200µm, and

photographed using a Zeiss AxioZoom V16 stereoscopic microscope (Oberkochen, Germany). Images were then digitally enhanced using Adobe Photoshop. Growth bands were counted from the basal to distal regions and were identified as paired light and dark areas in the endocuticle (Kilada and Ibrahim, 2016).

Statistical Analysis

Analyses were completed using RStudio (version 1.2.5033); packages used were ggplot2 (version 3.2.1), lme4 (version 1.1-21), lmerTest (version 0.9-37), car (Version 3.0-2), dplyr (version 0.8.3), knitr (version 1.23), lubridate (version 1.7.4), and FSA (version 0.8.25).

Results

Morphometric Measurements

Size Distributions and Sex Ratios.

Overall, males were significantly larger than females in CW (107.7 \pm 1.48 vs 94.3 \pm 0.87 mm) (Figure 2.3) and mass (710.8 ± 36.7 vs 430.9 ± 12.4 g, excluding Sweetings Pond) (Figure 2.4) (t-test: CW, t = -7.5173, p < 0.001; mass, t = -6.5823, p < 0.001). Mass increased in proportion to CW and the relationship was significant (Figure 2.4). Due to issues with balances the mass for crabs collected from Sweetings Pond could not be measured accurately in the field. The overall ratio of males to females was 1:1.5. There were statistically significant differences between the carapace widths of females among the three sites (Two-Way ANOVA, F = 24.05, p < 0.001), however there was no statistically significant differences in male carapace widths among each of the three sites (Two-Way ANOVA, F = 2.461, p = 0.088) (Figure 2.5). The largest crabs in terms of carapace width were collected at the patch reefs (Figure 2.5); male crabs had a mean size of 112.3 ± 3.84 mm CW (size range: 62 – 155 mm) and mass of 760.4 ± 67.1 g (range: 106 – 1690 g), while females averaged 102.2 ± 2.34 mm CW (size range: 44 – 132 mm) and 509.2 ± 25.3 g (range: 48 – 1055 g); the male to female ratio was 1:1.14. Crabs from Greencastle Blue Hole were intermediate in carapace width (Figure 2.5); males had a mean carapace width of 109 ± 2.29 mm (size range: 72 – 142 mm) with a mass of 675.03 ± 40.4 (range: 182 – 1273 g), while females averaged a CW of 93.4 ± 0.93 mm (size range: 71 – 109 mm) and a mass of 383.03 ± 10.1 g (range: 133 – 607 g). The male to female ratio was 1:1.7. Crabs from Sweetings Pond had the smallest mean CW sizes (Figure 2.5); males measured 103.5 ± 1.43 mm (size range: 85 - 127 mm) and females at 87 ± 0.74 mm (size range: 72 - 101 mm). The male to female ratio was 1:1.3.



Figure 2.3. Overall size-frequency distributions of *Maguimithrax spinosissimus* (10 mm CW sizes) from all sites around Eleuthera (n = 392). Boxplots show the overall size distribution of CW from all sites. The boxes enclose data falling between the 1st and 3rd quartile and the bold horizontal lines represent the median, and mean size is represented by the X. The vertical lines indicate the 95% confidence intervals of the median. Data points falling outside these ranges are plotted individually. Males in white, females in grey.



Figure 2.4. Regression analysis of the relationship between carapace width and mass of *Maguimithrax spinosissimus* from the patch reefs and Greencastle Blue Hole (n = 272). Shading represents the standard error. Accurate weights were not obtained from Sweetings Pond due to balance issues in the field.





Figure 2.5. Size-frequency distributions of *Maguimithrax spinosissimus* (10 mm CW size classes) from each site around Eleuthera. Boxplots show the overall size distribution of CW from each site. The boxes enclose data falling between the 1st and 3rd quartile and the bold horizontal lines represent the median, and mean size is represented by the X. The vertical lines indicate the 95% confidence intervals of the median. Data points falling outside these ranges are plotted individually. Males in white, females in grey. (A) Sweetings Pond (n = 120). (B) The Patch Reefs (n = 107). (C) Greencastle Blue Hole (n = 165).

Size at Maturity.

Principal component analysis (PCA) using CW, ChL and ChH in male crabs indicated a presence of two growth phases. Hierarchical clustering allowed discernment of these phases which was then analysed by a GLM to ascertain morphological maturity for male crabs at 96.2 mm (confidence limit 96.0 – 96.3 mm) (Figure 2.6). PCAs between CW and AW in female crabs also indicated a presence of two growth phases. Hierarchical clustering allowed discernment of these phases and discriminant analysis assigned 98.06% of the crabs to the correct group. A GLM showed 50% of females reached morphological maturity at a CW of 72.3 mm (confidence limit 71.9 – 72.7 mm) (Figure 2.7). Females greater than 72 mm CW were found both with and without eggs; the smallest individual found bearing eggs was 72 mm CW, the largest individual with no egg clutch was 123 mm CW. Thus presence of eggs was not used as a factor in the analysis.

Abdomen flexibility and carapace width indicated 50% of males reached behavioural maturity at 80.1 mm (GLM, confidence limit 79.4 – 80.9 mm) (Figure 2.8). Female crabs reached behavioural maturity at a smaller size than males: 50% of females matured at 72.1 mm (GLM, confidence limit 71.8 – 72.4 mm) (Figure 2.9).



Figure 2.6. (A) Relationship between chelae height and carapace width for juvenile (n = 42) and adult (n = 111) male *M. spinosissimus* from Eleuthera. Shading represents the standard error. (B) Predicted size at morphological maturity for male (n = 153) *M. spinosissimus* using carapace width, chela length and chela height.



Figure 2.7. (A) Relationship between chelae height and carapace width for juvenile (n = 42) and adult (n = 111) male *M. spinosissimus* from Eleuthera. Shading represents the standard error. (B) Predicted size at morphological maturity for male (n = 153) *M. spinosissimus* using carapace width, chela length and chela height.



Figure 2.8. Predicted size at behavioural maturity for males from all locations (n = 153) for *Maguimithrax spinosissimus* using carapace width and abdomen flexibility.



Figure 2.9. Predicted size at behavioural maturity for females from all locations (n = 206) for *Maguimithrax spinosissimus* using carapace width and abdomen flexibility.

Haemolymph Sampling of *Maguimithrax spinosissimus*

The BRIX levels were somewhat variable between the sexes, however they were not significantly different between males and females within each site (Tukey HSD; Greencastle, p = 0.091; Patches, p = 0.74, Sweetings, p = 0.87) (Figure 2.10). Male crabs from Greencastle Blue Hole had a mean BRIX of 7.12 ± 0.20 (BRIX range: 4.0 – 10.1), while females averaged 7.74 ± 0.16 (BRIX range: 3.4 - 13.2) (Figure 2.10). At the patch reefs, males had a mean BRIX of 7.26 \pm 0.37 (BRIX range: 3.5 – 9.6), while females averaged 6.78 \pm 0.19 (BRIX range: 4.4 – 9.3) (Figure 2.10). At Sweetings pond, males had a mean BRIX of 6.46 ± 0.15 (BRIX range: 4.2 -8.3), while that of females was 7.17 \pm 0.13 (BRIX range: 3.5 -8.8) (Figure 2.10). Site and sex had a significant interaction with BRIX level (Two-way ANOVA; location, *p* < 0.001; sex, *p* = 0.007; location-by-sex, p = 0.014). Among locations, the BRIX level of crabs at the patch reefs and Sweetings Pond were significantly different to BRIX levels measured at Greencastle Blue Hole (Tukey HSD; Patches-Greencastle, p = 0.017; Sweetings-Greencastle, p < 0.001; Sweetings-Patches, p = 0.89; Figure 2.10). Subsequent linear models between the BRIX level, carapace width and site found the relationships at the patch reefs and Sweetings Pond were significant (Patches: BRIX = 4.9 + 0.02CW, r² = 0.075, p = 0.016; Sweetings: BRIX = 10 -0.037CW, $r^2 = 0.14$, p < 0.001), while at the Greencastle Blue Hole was not (Greencastle: BRIX = 6.3 + 0.012CW, r^2 = 0.013, p = 0.14). However in each case the low r^2 value suggests the correlation between CW and BRIX was weak.



Figure 2.10. Boxplots show the BRIX levels from each site. The boxes enclose data falling between the 1st and 3rd quartile and the bold horizontal lines represent the median, and mean size is represented by the X. The vertical lines indicate the 95% confidence intervals of the median. Data points falling outside these ranges are plotted individually. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences among sites.

Mark and Recapture of Maguimithrax spinosissimus on Coral Patch Reefs

Tag loss in other experimental trials was minimal, with no floy tag loss in crabs in the lab after two weeks, no tag loss in the enclosed cage trials (Chapter 3) after two to four weeks, and low (8 %) tag loss in the long term cage trials (Chapter 3) after four to six months. Tag retention during moult was not investigated. In support of this assumption other studies have shown up to 100% in moulting crustaceans (Stevens, 2002; van Montfrans et al., 1986). Mortality was dependant on tag location, with tags inserted into the dorsal musculature having the lowest incidence of mortality, while insertion into the basal leg musculature or body cavity was higher (Taylor and Hoenig, 1991; van Montfrans et al., 1986).

Of the 81 crabs released at 9 patch reefs, a total of 4 were recaptured after three weeks. These crabs were all females and were recaptured at their original release site: sites C2 (Crab 2), F4, and 112 (Figure 2.11, Table 2.1). No crabs were recaptured from patch reefs in a 500m radius from each release site two and three weeks post-release (green circles on figure), and none were found to have made their way back to the original collection site (Greencastle Blue Hole). Additionally, subsequent recreational harvest by members of CEI 3 months post-release resulted in no tagged individuals reported at the patch reefs. The Greencastle Blue Hole was not revisited by members of CEI after the initial recapture attempts. Due to these low recapture numbers, we were unable to successfully attempt an estimate of the population.



Figure 2.11. Patch reef locations in Rock Sound bight, Eleuthera. GPS data for patch reef locations provided by the Cape Eleuthera Institute. Black circles indicate patch reefs

used in the mark-recapture experiment, green circles indicate surrounding patch reefs checked for tagged crabs.

Table 2.1. Individual characteristics of crabs used in the mark-recapture trial, including release location and whether the crab was recaptured. Release location names are those used by CEI to identify individual patch reefs, except Crab 1 and Crab 2 reefs which were previously unnamed.

Tag Number	Collection Location	Release Location	Recaptured?	Sex	Mass	BRIX	Carapace Width
854	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 1		F	375	5.6	102
853	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 1		F	460	8.2	98
899	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 1		F	257	6.7	81
852	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 1		F	434	6.9	108
897	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 1		М	1192	6.6	132
900	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 1		М	330	9.1	82
858	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 1		F	261	7.2	82
857	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 1		М	713	8.8	118
859	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 2		М	1234	5.3	132
863	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 2		F	318	8.7	91
894	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 2	Y	F	373	7.8	90
895	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 2		М	414	7.8	103
890	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 2		F	314	5	88
860	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 2		М	665	5.9	112
862	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 2		F	240	5.5	79
861	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 2		F	482	8.1	102
893	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 2		F	486	4.8	109
883	Greencastle Blue Hole	Crab 2		М	1064	6.6	130
884	Greencastle Blue Hole	100		F	568	7.7	108
875	Greencastle Blue Hole	100		М	1157	6.5	132
889	Greencastle Blue Hole	100		F	337	6.6	86

123 96 102 94 84 113 92 111 96 75 89
96 102 94 84 113 92 111 96 75 89
102 94 84 113 92 111 96 75 89
94 84 113 92 111 96 75 89
84 113 92 111 96 75 89
113 92 111 96 75 89
92 111 96 75 89
111 96 75 89
96 75 89
75 89
89 142
142
142
105
104
118
108
74
97
89
119
100
93
88
92
98
91
123
85
84
120
0.4

880	Greencastle Blue Hole	108		F	473	7.9	98
879	Greencastle Blue Hole	108		Μ	690	7	109
878	Greencastle Blue Hole	108		Μ	626	5.7	103
877	Greencastle Blue Hole	108		F	355	7.4	87
828	Greencastle Blue Hole	108		F	374	7.6	93
827	Greencastle Blue Hole	108		F	417	6.3	106
867	Greencastle Blue Hole	F4		F	418	8.9	98
876	Greencastle Blue Hole	F4		F	390	8.1	91
866	Greencastle Blue Hole	F4		F	319	6.8	92
919	Greencastle Blue Hole	F4	Y	F	422	7.4	90
925	Greencastle Blue Hole	F4		М	963	6.2	123
870	Greencastle Blue Hole	F4	Y	F	503	8.8	102
853	Greencastle Blue Hole	F4		М	1223	8	135
921	Greencastle Blue Hole	F4		М	256	6.9	81
922	Greencastle Blue Hole	F4		М	1017	4.2	124
835	Greencastle Blue Hole	F4		F	576	8.7	104
829	Greencastle Blue Hole	F5		М	755	6.3	123
920	Greencastle Blue Hole	F5		F	362	9	87
832	Greencastle Blue Hole	F5		Μ	739	7.1	115
924	Greencastle Blue Hole	F5		Μ	477	8.6	100
923	Greencastle Blue Hole	F5		F	505	8	101
917	Greencastle Blue Hole	F5		F	174	4.7	71
915	Greencastle Blue Hole	F5		F	346	6.9	91
836	Greencastle Blue Hole	F5		F	518	6.9	106
837	Greencastle Blue Hole	F5		F	294	7.6	83
841	Greencastle Blue Hole	F5		F	449	6.2	95
950	Greencastle Blue Hole	112		F	345	7.8	90
914	Greencastle Blue Hole	112		F	297	6	82
838	Greencastle Blue Hole	112	Υ	F	538	5.4	107

Meat Yield and Gastric Mills

Meat Yield.

Meat yield from males ranged between 6.39 to 21.2% of the wet mass of the crab, with a mean yield of 14.07 \pm 1.07%. Yield from males increased almost linearly with CW (Figure 2.12). The meat yield from female crabs ranged between 5.95 and 16.78%, with a mean yield of 10.9 \pm 0.71% of the wet mass of the crab. The yield from females increased linearly with CW (Figure 2.12). Yield increased proportionately with crab mass (Regression: Males, t = 8.498, p < 0.01, r² = 0.836; Females, t = 5.626, p < 0.01, r² = 0.671), in a similar curve to mass vs CW.



Figure 2.12. Regression analysis of the relationship between carapace width and meat yield of *Maguimithrax spinosissimus* (n = 31) collected from the patch reefs. Male regression is essentially linear, female regression is linear. Shading represents the standard error.

Gastric Mills

The gastric teeth of 31 crabs ranging between 70 and 148 mm CW were collected. The teeth were sectioned along the Y axis of the urocardiac ossicle and across the X axis of the zygocardiac ossicle (Figure 2.13), then polished to a thickness of 250 μ m. Even in the largest crab sampled (Male, 148 mm CW), no growth rings were detected in the transverse cross sections of the urocardiac and zygocardiac gastric mill ossicles (Figure 2.14). Work continues on this aspect of the study.



Figure 2.13. Dissected gastric mill ossicles of *M. spinosissimus*. The red dotted line indicates the cutting axis for the respective ossicle.



Figure 2.14. Examples of sections of the (A) zygocardiac and (B) urocardiac ossicles from an individual *M. spinosissimus* (male, 148 mm CW). Magnification: 56x.

Discussion

Morphometric Measurements

Carapace Distributions and Haemolymph

The mean sizes of male and female spider crabs collected in Eleuthera, The Bahamas fell in between those of populations surveyed in the Florida Keys (males, 65.4 mm; females 57.5 mm; Baeza et al., 2012) and Colombia (males, 129 mm; females, 115 mm; Campos et al., 2015). Temperature has a marked influence on growth as it is positively correlated with metabolic rate (Willmer et al., 2005) and influences protein synthesis (Whiteley et al., 1997), thus subsequently affecting growth rate. This likely declines at high temperatures. As the mean temperature is higher and variation lower in Colombia (mean 28.8 °C, 27.4 – 29.8 °C), compared with Key West (mean 26.2 °C, 22.7 – 30.7 °C) and Eleuthera (Dunmore Town, mean 26.4 °C, 23.4 – 29.7 °C; <u>https://www.seatemperature.org/</u>), temperature may have some influence on crab size through more sustained food intake, resulting in higher growth rates. However, differences such as population genetics and predation levels may also influence growth rates at each site regardless of whether the sites are neighbouring or distant (Hartnoll et al., 1993). It has also been suggested that the smaller sized M. spinosissimus in Florida may actually be a subspecies (Adey and Farrier, 1989; Baeza et al., 2019).

Local variation in crab size among sites surveyed in the present study could be linked to nutritional condition. Haemolymph BRIX levels are heavily influenced by food quality and intake (Wang and McGaw, 2014). Spider crabs collected from Sweetings Pond had the lowest BRIX levels (males: 6.46 ± 0.15 , females: 7.17 ± 0.13), indicative of a lower nutritional condition. This may have occurred because of the limited variety of encrusting algae at the site, which largely consisted of mats of *Cladophora sp*. (Aronson and Harms, 1985). The

invertebrate and fish fauna were also lower with regards to both diversity and number, likely limiting opportunistic grazing on sessile invertebrates or fish mortalities. In contrast, food sources at the Greencastle Blue Hole and the patch reefs did not appear to be limiting because there was a high amount of different types of turf algae at the depths where crabs were collected. Sweetings Pond also received significant local fishing pressure (O. O'Shea, personal communication, 2018), as the site was easily accessed and so this could account for the lack of larger crabs which were preferentially harvested, whereas there was no evidence of fishing at the other two sites.

Very few small crabs (< 50 mm CW) were found at any of the sites. These have also proven difficult to find in other studies (Baeza et al., 2012; Guzman and Tewfik, 2004), likely because smaller individuals are cryptic and cover themselves in algae (Adey and Farrier, 1989). Alternatively, differing habitat use between juveniles (< 50 mm CW), and sub-adults (50 – 80 mm CW) and adults (> 80 mm CW) may explain why the juveniles were difficult to find. Other crustaceans, such as the spiny lobster Panulirus argus, utilize nearshore habitats such as shallow sub-tropical lagoons as juveniles prior to migrating to offshore reefs (Butler et al., 1995; Davis and Dodrill, 1989). Both juvenile and adult blue crab *Callinectes sapidus* are found in estuarine environments, however juveniles utilize shallow seagrass beds while the adult stages are predominately found in deeper estuarine areas (Millikin and Williams, 1984). Long lived crustacean populations typically show a normal distribution curve of sizefrequency (Hartnoll and Bryant, 1990), with larger multi-year cohorts making up the bulk of the crabs, whereas the smaller size classes are composed of a single recruitment event. Thus the lower abundance of smaller crabs (as well as very large individuals) found on Eleuthera might be expected as they are proportionally far less common.

The sex ratio in this study was skewed in favour of females at each site. Although there was some variance among the sites, this would be no more than random occurrence, especially as deviations from the "expected" 1:1 sex ratio are widespread in crustacea (Wenner, 1972). The variation in the present study potentially indicates population fluctuations from migration, differential habitat use, or mortality (Wenner, 1972). Hazlett and Rittschof (1975) showed significant negative correlation between crab density and movement among males, and among females, but not between males and females. It is therefore likely that patch reef size and the size of the Greencastle Blue Hole limits the number of home ranges available, as females tend towards one refuge, while males tend towards multiple refuge sites (Hazlett and Rittschof, 1975).

Size at Morphological and Behavioural Maturity

A number of different methods (e.g. PCA and LDA) have previously been used to determine size at morphological maturity: the hierarchical cluster analysis worked best for the present study, allowing determination of groups of mature and immature individuals based on chelae and carapace measurements. The size at morphological maturity of *M. spinosissimus* (males: 96.2, females: 72.3 mm) was larger than previously shown in the Florida Keys (males: 64.85, females: 58.77 mm, Baeza et al., 2012; males: 80 mm, Bohnsack, 1976), but smaller than that in Antigua (males: 105 mm, Adey and Farrier, 1989).

Behavioural maturity was easier to assess as there was only a small overlap between mature and immature individuals. The size at which behavioural maturity occurred around Eleuthera (males: 80.1, females: 72.1 mm) was again larger than in the Florida Keys (males: 45.2, females: 69.7 mm; Baeza et al., 2012). These differences suggest some populations are genetically distinct. The short larval stage of the spider crab (5 to 6 days) would reduce gene

flow among populations (Adey and Farrier, 1989; Baeza et al., 2019), and ocean currents and deep waters surrounding many Caribbean islands may limit settlement in some locations. Further, temperature, growth rates and predation likely also influence the rate at which each respective population reaches maturity (Hartnoll et al., 1993; Whiteley et al., 1997).

The statistical tests indicated females reached morphological maturity (abdomen enlarged to hold an egg mass) prior to behavioural maturity (the abdomen releasing from the sternum). However the difference between morphological (72.3 mm) vs behavioural maturity (72.1 mm) was very small and biologically speaking both morphological and behavioural maturity are likely both reached during the same moult increment. This may help ensure that the pleopods and abdomen have the capacity to hold eggs prior to fertilisation and extrusion (Crawford and De Smidt, 1922). In contrast the males reached behavioural maturity prior to morphological maturity; whether or not the crabs are able to produce sperm at this stage remains to be determined. A more rapid attainment of behavioural maturity may allow smaller males an unconventional fertilization method as "sneakers" (Shuster, 2008), whereby smaller males invade larger males' territories and mate with females. This has been recorded in the common spider crab *Libinia emarginata*, prior to becoming a territorial male after the pubertal moult (Laufer et al., 1994).

Although I attempted to determine whether both sexes were functionally reproductive at behavioural and morphologically maturity, the samples had deteriorated to a state where cell structure could not be discerned. Clearly, further analysis of the gonads is required. Although a macroscopic characterization of the female gonads post-extrusion has been developed (Adey and Farrier, 1989), including descriptions of development stages and visual colour aids, no work to date has been completed on gamete maturation within the ovaries or testes. Such findings will allow greater understanding of the reproductive biology

of the crab, to specifically pinpoint gonadal maturity in relation to maturation characteristics (Sastry, 1983).

Meat Yield

Males crabs reached greater sizes overall, therefore the meat yield was greater from males. The meat yield was proportionate to body mass but was greater in morphologically mature males (compared to females of similar CW) due to larger limb and chelae sizes. Meat yield increased after the pubertal moult in males when chelae size increases; whereas female claws grow linearly and do not reach the large sizes found in males. This indicates that a male only harvest would be beneficial economically as overall yield from male crabs would be higher. The yield was comparable to other commercially harvested crab species such as *Callinectes sapidus* (10 to 14%) and *Scylla serrata* (21.9%), but lower than some deep sea crabs such as *Chionoecetes opilio* (30%) and *Paralithodes camtschatica* (18 – 25%) (Cited in: Vasconcelos and Braz, 2001) due to their differing morphologies. Nevertheless comparing between both individuals and species can be misleading due to the degree of mineralization in the exoskeleton, which can differ con- and allo-specifically (Harlioğlu and Holdich, 2001), however it does allow relative comparisons between species of various sizes which cannot be made when reporting muscle weight alone (Thompson et al., 2005).

Gastric Mill Analysis

Ageing of crabs via analysis of banding on the gastric mills (Kilada and Ibrahim, 2016; Kvalsund et al., 2015; Leland et al., 2011) was attempted, although I was able to cut teeth sections as thin as 250µm I was unable to detect any visible growth lines. It is possible that these sections were still too thick and if it was possible to reduce the thickness of the
sectioned gastric mills to below 200µm (Leland et al., 2011) this may have helped determine whether this method can be used to age *M. spinosissimus*. It is also possible that because this species has rapid growth rates (Adey and Farrier, 1989) that differential seasonal growth rates (banding) may not be as obvious as those for crustaceans from temperate latitudes (Kilada and Ibrahim, 2016). That being said, Leland et al. (2011) were able to detect growth lines in other sub-tropical species from areas with similar temperature variation to M. spinosissimus. Age determination in crustaceans using growth rings in the gastric teeth, is a fairly recent technique that has not been fully authenticated. For example, the band counts vary along the length of the ossicle, and the growth centre of the ossicle is species specific (Leland et al., 2011). At present, the bands are assumed to represent annual growth rings, however further studies are needed on captive crustaceans of a definitive age in order to provide verification (Kilada, pers comm). Additionally, recent evidence suggests that the ossicles are partly or fully shed into the stomach and lost during moult in some species (Sheridan et al., 2016; Sheridan and O'Connor, 2018). This reinforces the species specific verification needed for the possibility of gastric mill band counts in marine crustaceans.

Mark-Recapture of Maguimithrax spinosissimus

An attempt was made to recapture a subset of 81 tagged crabs on the patch reefs, but only four female crabs were recovered. All four were recovered from the patch reefs they were initially released on; two individuals were recaptured from the same patch reef. Recapture rates for decapod crustaceans are dependent on population size, migration, catchability, tag retention and mortality (Hyland et al., 1984; Le Vay et al., 2007; Miller, 1990). As such recapture rates can be quite variable, from 6.5% in *Scylla paramamosain* (Le Vay et al., 2007), 18.9% in *Scylla serrata* (Hyland et al., 1984), and upwards of 50% in *M*. spinosissimus (Bohnsack, 1976) in the Florida Keys. The recapture rate in the present study was much lower than previous studies for this species (>50%; Bohnsack, 1976); this may be due to the translocation of individuals from the Greencastle Blue Hole to the patch reefs. Additionally, the area over which the mark-recapture survey was undertaken in the present study was much greater than that of Bohnsack (1976). Further, the low recovery rate in the present study was unlikely due to the highly cryptic nature of this species, as individual patch reefs were relatively small in size (average of 8 by 12 meters) and were thoroughly checked by 5 individual free divers repeatedly during a 20 minute roaming survey. This may indicate active migration at the patch reefs, this is in contrast to previous reports where crabs were indicated to have some form of home range, emerging from crevices during the night to forage, before returning to the same area (Hazlett and Rittschof, 1975). The surrounding patch reefs were surveyed for tagged individuals, but none were found. As we had translocated individuals, we hypothesised that the crabs may have migrated back to their original collection site (the Greencastle Blue Hole), however this was also surveyed, but none of the tagged individuals were found. The results from the locomotor activity experiment (chapter three) indicated that crabs moved between 70 and 130 meters during the night. If indeed the animals were migrating back to a home refuge, then it may have taken longer than the 3 weeks between release and further rechecks of crabs at the blue hole, given the distance between the blue hole and closest mark-recapture patch reef (4.4 km), may have been required.

Conclusions

Although the present study has provided useful data on population characteristics of spider crabs in Eleuthera, we still do not have enough data to complete a full assessment of the fishery potential. The population size is still unknown, however the present data may be helpful to estimate density data for the various habitats the crab is found in (patch reefs, anchialine ponds, blue holes), and comparing this to habitat maps to extrapolate the data across The Bahamas. Further work is needed to determine if any nursery grounds are present, which may be indicative of breeding success and recruitment. Crabs may move back to their home range or establish home ranges in new suitable habitat when translocated; further work is required in this area. In addition, we do not know the growth rate and longevity of this species (Penn et al., 2019). Adey and Farrier (1989) projected that "plate sized" male spider crabs (1000 g, 120 mm CW) could mature in around 360 days in captive culture in some regions. Beyond this short projection, longevity, age, and population structure remains unknown. If spider crabs grow this rapidly in the wild it still remains to be determined whether the pubertal moult is also the terminal moult, as is seen in other crab species (Hartnoll et al., 1993). If this terminal moult does occur, the lifespan of the crabs beyond this moult, mating success, and brood sizes during this time is required knowledge for fishery managers.

Spider crabs are difficult to catch in regular baited pots due to their herbivorous nature. Thus, collection by hand is a reliable method for harvesting these crabs from the wild. Collection on SCUBA for any species in The Bahamas is illegal unless under permit, so free diving to collect this species appears to be a sustainable approach to harvest. Further, aside from Sweetings Pond, very few spider crabs were found during the day, likely making this fishery a low priority for fishers.

Similar to a number of commercial crab species (Donaldson and Donaldson, 1992), a male only fishery would protect the reproductive potential of the stock, and depending on the minimum harvest size of the male crabs, allow males to mate at least once prior to harvest (Hankin et al., 1997). This brings into question what size should be allowed for harvest in The Bahamas? The minimum harvest size should be set to protect breeding stocks by being larger than the size at maturity, but also recognise acceptable sizes for market (Donaldson and Donaldson, 1992). The present study indicated that morphological maturity of males was reached at 96.2 mm CW, and behavioural maturity at 80.1 mm CW, thus minimum harvest size should be set above 96.2 mm. In Antigua males mature at 105 mm CW (Adey and Farrier, 1989), therefore to cover this potential variation minimum harvest size could be set at 110 mm CW, allowing males to mature and a significant portion to mate with females prior to harvest. However, further research is required to set this minimum size, as the continual year-round breeding and spawning of females may allow a lower minimum size.

Although at present knowledge required to develop a full-scale fishery may be limited, the crabs do show good potential for an aquaculture venture, especially with regard to removing biofouling on commercial fish cages (see Chapter 3 next). Small-scale local harvest may be beneficial for the development of hatcheries and grow out facilities for farmers. The selection of a local population is also important to reduce the risks and concerns from non-native species and to conserve population gene pools (Fetzner et al., 1997; Nguyen, 2015). These are essential considerations in initial set up and maintenance of aquaculture ventures, where wild harvest is required for broodstock development and management. Nevertheless, the future for the exploitation of the crab remains bright and the fishery potential for this species should be investigated further.

Chapter 3: The use of the Caribbean spider crab *Maguimithrax spinosissimus* for biofouling removal on marine aquaculture cages

Abstract

Biofouling is a significant issue for marine aquaculture pens and is conservatively estimated to contribute to 15% of production costs. With a global increase in the demand for sustainable aquaculture products a search for sustainable non-toxic alternatives to chemical treatment and manual removal of biofouling organisms, such as biological control, are becoming more sought after. To determine activity and feeding habits, trials in the lab on, Caribbean spider crabs (Maguimithrax spinosissimus) demonstrated nocturnal patterns of activity. They consumed between 3.3 and 4.16 % bodyweight (BW) of algae in 22 - 24°C water, and between 5.61 and 8.55 % BW in 26 - 26°C water. Although this species primarily herbivorous they also readily consumed whole fish (Lutjanus apodus). The spider crabs were placed on a heavily fouled, unused SeaStation 3000 cage offshore of Eleuthera, The Bahamas to determine their ability to remove fouling organisms. Large crabs (382 g – 1344 g) confined in mesh cages on the outside of the pen effectively removed between 40% (after two weeks), and 90% (after one month) of fouling organisms. Crabs were more effective at removing growth than manual diver scrubbing. Grazing by the crabs was non-discriminatory, with no significant change in the proportional makeup of epibionts at the end of the trial. The survival rates of crabs inside the cage varied between 50% and 55% during 3 to 6 month trials, with no significant decline in health status (blood protein levels). The Caribbean spider crab is a good candidate both economically and environmentally for controlling biofouling on aquaculture cages, could be used in multi-trophic aquaculture systems, and marketed as an environmentally friendly seafood alternative.

Introduction

In the past three decades, the aquaculture sector has increased rapidly as the world consumption of seafood has risen (Troell et al., 2009). This rapid increase has occurred because most wild fisheries are already fully exploited and are unable to meet the increasing demand for seafood (FAO, 2016). In 2014 over 50% of all seafood consumed by humans was produced from aquaculture (FAO, 2016). The rapid increase in the aquaculture sector has not been without problems. A significant issue that is prevalent in marine culture systems is biofouling: the accretion of organisms on submerged surfaces (De Nys and Guenther, 2009). The costs attributed to biofouling are conservatively estimated to be up to 15% of production (Adams et al., 2011; Lane and Willemsen, 2004). The impacts of biofouling vary based on the amount and type of fouling present, and can have negative effects on the structure, function, and health of the aquaculture facility.

In shellfish aquaculture, maintaining clean shells and ropes increases marketability of the final product and reduces costs associated with structural breakages and subsequent repairs. In finfish culture, fouling can compromise cage structure and mooring hardware (Swift et al., 2006), leading to cage deflection and deformation resulting in devastating effects such as cage collapse and the escape of fish (Jensen et al., 2010; Lader et al., 2008; Swift et al., 2006). Furthermore, fouling can decrease the flow of water (Gansel et al., 2012; Madin et al., 2010) by as much as 50% (Gormican, 1989), reducing oxygen availability for fish and concomitantly reducing removal of nitrogenous waste products from within the cage (Lader et al., 2008). Fouling organisms themselves can compete with the stock for space and food, reducing effective cage volumes (Aarsnes et al., 1990), and inhibiting growth of the farmed species (Adams et al., 2011). In addition, some fish diseases, (e.g., netpen liver disease) (Kent, 1990) and parasites (e.g., *Gilquinia squali, Cardicola forsteri*) (Cribb et al., 2011; Kent et al., 1991) can be attributed to the consumption of fouling organisms by the fish.

Commercial farming operations generally use a combination of three broad categories of control to mitigate the effects of biofouling on nets and cages. These include net changing and cleaning, chemical antifoulants, and biological controls (Fitridge et al., 2012). Net changing or cleaning frequency depends on latitude, season and mesh size, varying from between every eight days (Hodson and Burke, 1994) to once per year (Sutterlin and Merrill, 1978). Net changing is largely used to prevent damage from structural fatigue and deformation, but is labour intensive and expensive (De Nys and Guenther, 2009), and can also impact feeding regimes (Fitridge et al., 2012). Alternatively, in situ net cleaning can be completed by SCUBA divers using pressurised water hoses (Cronin et al., 1999) or automated using remotely operated vehicles (ROVs). In situ cleaning is expensive and can trigger larval release (Carl et al., 2011) or leave remnants of fouling organisms which regrow (Moss and Marsland, 1976). For example, breakdown of the hydroid *Ectopleura larynx* with power washers has been associated with reduced gill health of farmed salmon (Bloecher et al., 2018). Furthermore, in situ cleaning can damage nets, increasing numbers of loose filaments which create additional settlement locations for fouling species (Geffen, 1979) and release microplastics into the environment. While the fate of excess feed and faecal matter into the environment are reasonably well documented (Kutti, 2008; Torrissen et al., 2011), fouling material dispersal and deposition from net pen cleaning has not received as much attention, but could have similar impacts. These might include, but would not be limited to, excess benthic nutrient input and smothering of organisms, with the subsequent bacterial breakdown causing anoxic dead zones around the aquaculture operation (Bannister et al., 2016; Floerl et al., 2016; Reid et al., 2009).

Chemical antifoulants are also commonly used to deter larval settlement, and work by leaching a layer of biocide around the net (De Nys and Guenther, 2009). Copper-based treatments are frequently used because they are highly toxic to most marine organisms (Oliva et al., 2007). However they may also have negative effects on various non-target organisms such as macro- and micro-algae (Bond et al., 1999; Lim et al., 2006), fish (Mochida et al., 2006; Oliva et al., 2007), molluscs (Zhu et al., 1990), lobster (Chou et al., 2000) and urchins (Chou et al., 2003). All these organisms can be impacted by copper through bioaccumulation in sediment (Miller, 1998) and tissues (Chou et al., 2003, 2000; Zhu et al., 1990), and leeching through the water column (Brooks, 2000; Thomas and Brooks, 2010). In a number of developed countries, such as Norway and the European Union (Floerl et al., 2016; Sandberg and Olafsen, 2006), the introduction of hazardous chemicals directly into the environment is highly regulated, requiring registration of biocides under law or a regulatory agency (Thomas and Brooks, 2010). Although these chemicals are regulated in their use, the release of chemicals and materials from *in-situ* cleaning, e.g. from fragmentation during high-pressure cleaning, or the degradation of these materials over time is not as well regulated, potentially due to the lack of studies on the release of antifouling biocides (Thomas and Brooks, 2010).

There is a global move to find biocides that are both effective and 'eco-friendly' (Fitridge et al., 2012) which in turn would enhance public perceptions of aquaculture (Sandberg and Olafsen, 2006). Short term less-toxic alternatives include chemical treatments such as acids (e.g., acetic, silicic, formic and citric acids) (Denny, 2008; Guenther et al., 2011; LeBlanc et al., 2007; Piola et al., 2009) and bases (e.g., sodium hypochlorite (bleach)) (Denny, 2008). Such chemicals are used during times of heavy fouling and their impact on the environment considered to be minimal as nets and lines must be removed from the water

during treatment. Acetic acid has been shown to remove between 55 – 100% of fouling species (Denny, 2008; Piola et al., 2009), while bleach successfully removed 75 – 100% of fouling organisms (Denny, 2008; Piola et al., 2009). In contrast to the use of short term less-toxic treatments, biofilms and coatings (de Nys and Ison, 2004; Huang et al., 2010; Qian et al., 2007) are impregnated into the mesh and generally used for longer term control. A novel experimental method by Da Gama (2001) involved the crude extraction of natural biofouling chemicals from three species of seaweed, with *Laurencia obtusa* showing some potential antifouling properties.

Finally, researchers have investigated the effectiveness of using fish (Kuwa, 1984; Kvenseth, 1996), sea cucumbers (Ahlgren, 1998), shrimps (Dumont et al., 2009), urchins (Lodeiros and García, 2004; Sterling et al., 2016; Zhanhui et al., 2014), gastropods (Enright et al., 1983) and crabs (Hidu et al., 1981; Ross et al., 2004) as biocontrol agents to remove organisms through naturally grazing on the netting. To date these have been largely small scale or experimental in nature (Fitridge et al., 2012). For example, urchins have been used on oyster, mussel and scallop farms (Lodeiros and García, 2004; Ross et al., 2004; Sterling et al., 2016; Zhanhui et al., 2014), but the use of animals to control growth on large commercial finfish operations has received much less attention. Constraints of using biological control mechanisms include concern about the polyculture of new species and the transfer of disease. In addition, grazing species often show a food preference which could lead to removal of competitors, allowing non-grazed species to flourish forming a successful monoculture on nets.

The Caribbean Spider Crab *Maguimithrax spinosissimus* (previously *Damithrax* <u>spinosissimus</u>, <u>Mithrax spinosissimus</u> (Hurtado-Alarcón et al., 2018; Klompmaker et al., 2015; Windsor and Felder, 2014)) hereafter the spider crab, is the largest brachyuran crab found in

the Western Atlantic with sizes reaching over 3 kg and 170 mm carapace width (Winfree and Weinstein, 1989). The spider crab ranges from North Carolina, USA, through the Caribbean to Venezuela (Baeza et al., 2012). This species is a common nocturnal omnivore showing preference for fleshy macroalgae but also grazes on calcareous algae (Butler IV and Mojica, 2012), as well as consuming some animal material (Winfree and Weinstein, 1989). The per capita grazing rates have been shown to exceed most herbivorous fish in the Caribbean (Butler IV and Mojica, 2012). Because of these high grazing rates, Spadaro (2014) suggested using the spider crab for algal removal in coral reef restoration projects.

Given the large size, abundance and potential of this species as an effective grazer, the aims of this study were to assess the ability of the spider crab *Maguimithrax spinosissimus* as a biological control agent in removal of growth on commercial scale marine aquaculture cages in Eleuthera, The Bahamas. In order to test our hypothesis, we carried out: 1. A laboratory assessment of the feeding rates, foraging times, and the types of foods they would consume; 2.Investigated times for and the amount of removal of fouling on an aquaculture cage in comparison to manual cleaning of nets; and 3. Carried out longer term trials to determine survival and retention rates as well as indicators of overall health when the animals were retained inside the cage for several months.

Materials and Methods

Sampling Area and Measurement of Maguimithrax spinosissimus

The study was conducted at the Cape Eleuthera Institute (CEI) (24°49'46"N, 76°19'41"W), Eleuthera, The Bahamas. *M. spinosissimus* were collected from two locations: patch reefs northeast of CEI (GPS: 24°50'N, 76°14'W; depth range, 2.5 - 3.6 m) and a blue hole (GPS: 24°47'01"N, 76°13'39"W; maximum depth unknown, dive depth 15 m) northwest of the town of Greencastle (Figure 3.1). Crabs were collected at night by freediving at the patch reefs and SCUBA diving in the blue hole. The crabs were transported to the CEI wet lab in coolers within two hours of collection. The crabs were held at CEI in flow-through tanks (diameter = 1.5 m, depth = 0.7 m, filled to 50% of capacity), with ambient water and natural light cycles for a maximum of two weeks between January (20-22°C, 12:12 light:dark) and June (26-28°C, 14:10 L:D) prior to placement on the CEI offshore aquaculture cage. Cinder blocks and PVC pipes provided shelter for the crabs. Limestone rocks, covered in various algal species, were collected from the nearby intertidal shore and placed into the tank for feeding. These were changed daily and also acted as additional structure. Prior to their use in experiments the sex, mass (g), and carapace width (CW) in mm of the crabs were recorded, and any limb loss was noted. At the conclusion of experiments crabs were released back into the field.



Figure 3.1. Eleuthera in relation to the southern United States of America. (1) The Cape Eleuthera Institute, (2) Coral Patch Reefs, (3) Greencastle Blue Hole, (4) SeaStation 3000 Aquaculture Cage.

Laboratory Experiments

Feeding Behaviour.

The food consumption rates of male and female spider crabs were assessed in the lab. Two ambient temperature ranges were selected: 22 - 24°C, and 26 - 28°C, representing mean water temperature ranges from December to May (Winter and Spring) and June to November (Summer and Fall) respectively. Crabs (22 – 24°C: n_{male} = 8, size = 235 – 1431 g; $n_{female} = 6$, size = 215 - 792 g; 26 - 28°C: $n_{male} = 7$, size = 206 - 866 g; $n_{female} = 6$, size = 301 -709 g) were fasted for six days prior to being placed in separate flow through opaque plastic tanks (diameter = 0.8 m, depth = 0.4 m), each tank was supplied with an air stone that maintained oxygen levels above 90% saturation. Algae (Laurencia sp.) was collected from the intertidal area and patted dry using a paper towel to remove excess water. This species was used as it was previously shown the crabs grazed on it and it was readily available (Butler IV and Mojica, 2012; Francis et al., 2019). A pre-weighed amount (approximately 100 g wet weight) was then placed into each tank and the crab was left to feed for 24 hours. Alongside each trial, a control sample of algae or was placed in a tank to determine any potential change in wet weight of the algae over 24 hours. At the conclusion of the trial, the crabs were removed, and the remaining algae collected from the tank. This was again patted dry prior to being weighed. Total consumption (T_c) was determined as:

[initial weight (W_i) - final weight $(W_f) = T_c$].

The final weight was corrected using the change in weight measured in algae in the control tanks. This mass was then converted to amount consumed as a percentage of wet body mass of each crab. The experiment was then repeated with separate crabs ($n_{male} = 6$ size = 215 – 850 g; $n_{female} = 5$, size = 322 – 512 g) at 22 - 24°C; these crabs were fed whole

schoolmaster snapper (*Lutjanus apodus*; 75 - 150 g) to determine if they would potentially remove fish mortalities if maintained in an aquaculture cage.

The preceding experiments used crabs that had been fasted for six days; a separate experiment was carried out to determine if consumption rates changed over a time period of three days. Crabs ($n_{male} = 3$, size = 543 – 665 g; $n_{female} = 3$, size = 301 – 312 g) were fasted for six days prior to being monitored at the higher temperature range only. At the start of each day (08:00) a known mass of algae was introduced into the tank. The algae was removed after each 24 hour period and weighed to calculate consumption mass, prior to being replaced with fresh algae. The entire process was repeated for an additional two days.

Locomotor Activity and Feeding Frequency.

The locomotor activity and feeding frequency of crabs was assessed over a 48 hour period. Crabs (n = 10) were placed individually in raceway flow-through tanks measuring 3 m x 0.7 m x 0.5 m (L x W x D), with an ambient water temperature range of 22-24°C and a natural light cycle of 12:12 hours (day/night). The area was covered with a dark blue tarpaulin to avoid disturbance from surrounding activity. A PVC pipe measuring 300 x 150 mm (L x D) was placed at the outlet end of the tank and a small wire mesh cage filled with approximately 100 g of algae placed at the inlet end. A GoPro camera was used to record the location of the crab in each tank by taking a photo every 30 seconds. Insulation tape was placed on the bottom of the tank to indicated 10 cm intervals. Activity rates were calculated as the total distance moved each hour, while feeding time was determined by the amount of time the crab spent the vicinity (less than 25 cm) of the food cage.

Aquaculture Cage Trials

CEI has an offshore aquaculture cage (OceanSpar/InnovaSea SeaStation 3000, NETSystems Predator-X 1-inch mesh; spar height = 15.3m, diameter = 25 m; Figure 3.2) in South Eleuthera, The Bahamas (24°50'34"N 76°22'36"W; Figure 3.1). The cage was affixed at 27 m depth, with the top of the cage approximately 10 m below the surface. The aquaculture cage was previously used for the culture of cobia (*Rachycentron canadum*) however it had been unused for 5 years other than as a dive site. The cage was heavily fouled by various species owing to its lack of continued cleaning. Four different experiments were carried out at this site.



Figure 3.2. The Cape Eleuthera Institute's SeaStation 300 Cage. Note the

experimental crab feeding enclosures attached on the outside (arrows). Photo: Tom Carr.

In-cage Trials.

This experiment examined the long-term survival rates, growth potential and general condition (haemolymph protein levels) when the crabs were maintained in the cage for periods ranging from three to eight months. Prior to the placement of the crabs in the cage, a 0.3 mL sample of haemolymph was withdrawn into a 1 mL syringe by inserting a 16 gauge needle into the arthrodial membrane at the base of the fourth walking legs. The serum protein concentration was measured using a BRIX/RI-Chek Digital Pocket Refractometer (Reichert Analytical Instruments, Depew, NY). This measures the blood protein (haemolymph) concentration, the majority of which is made up of hemocyanin in crustacean haemolymph (Uglow 1969). Blood protein concentration can indicate physiological condition of crustaceans (Lorenzon et al, 2011): low levels may indicate trauma (Fotedar et al, 2002), stress (Chang 2005) or poor nutritional condition (Wang and McGaw 2014). After the refractometer was calibrated with distilled water, the sample was added to the well and three measurements taken: temperature compensated percent solids (BRIX-TC), temperature compensated refractive index (TC-RI), and refractive index (RI). The BRIX-TC value (hereafter referred to as BRIX) was used in the present study as a proxy for total blood haemolymph protein, because it could be measured rapidly and reliably with the meter (Bolton et al., 2009; Mendo et al., 2016; C Simon et al., 2015). The time between withdrawal of the sample and measuring did not exceed 60 seconds. Following the collection of the haemolymph sample a T-bar anchor Floy tag was inserted into the posterior margin of the epimural suture. Crabs were transported directly from the CEI wet lab to the offshore aquaculture cage, where SCUBA divers placed crabs into the cage. The zip opening was then closed and crabs were left *in-situ* for the trial period. This was repeated for three trial periods: March 2017 to May 2017 ($n_{male} = 23$, size = 353 - 1516 g; $n_{female} = 28$, size = 205 -

843 g); June 2017 to January 2018 (n_{male} = 13, size = 371 – 1447 g; n_{female} = 17, size = 367 – 1079 g); and January 2018 to June 2018 (n_{male} = 11, size = 236 – 1457 g; n_{female} = 35, size = 260 – 861). At the conclusion of each trial, crabs were collected from inside the cage and any dead animals or carapaces noted. Crabs were returned to the CEI wet lab and subsequently measured for size, mass, limb loss, and haemolymph samples were collected. The Floy tags were used to identify individual animals, or if tags were missing by matching carapace width, claw sizes, and limb loss, with pre-experiment individuals. Data were compared for individual crabs at the start and end of each experiment to determine any potential changes in parameters.

Crab Grazing and Biomass Trials.

The first series of experiments investigated the removal of fouling organisms on the offshore aquaculture cage by the grazing actions of the spider crab. Divers attached 10 experimental enclosures, created with 2.5 cm plastic coated wire mesh and measuring 0.6 x 0.2 m in height to the outside of the aquaculture cage. The experimental enclosures were bottomless and attached directly to the aquaculture cage using zip ties; this allowed the crabs direct access to the fouled aquaculture cage netting to feed. A photograph of the underlying cage netting was taken prior to the introduction of a crab of known size, sex, and weight; the enclosure was then securely fastened to the cage. Four separate trials (trial one, 20 days; trial two, 31 days; trial three, 16 days; trial four, 11 days) and one control trial (empty cage with no crab) were carried out between March – May 2017, and April – June 2018. A new cohort of crabs were introduced for each trial. At three to five day intervals following initial setup, divers would cut the zip ties along three edges, fold the enclosure back 90 degrees and photograph the netting, then re-secure the enclosure to the cage. On

the final day of the trial, the cage netting was photographed, and the experimental enclosure moved to a new location. A control trial was carried out with no crabs in the enclosures. The change in net aperture (occlusion of mesh holes) was calculated by comparing time series images. Images were rotated and cropped to the size of the enclosure and individually thresholded and converted to binary using ImageJ 1.52d. Using the threshold tool, the binary images were then used to determine the percentage of black pixels in the image (P_b), representing the open spaces between the net, and the total number of pixels (P_t). Percent net aperture (PNA) was then calculated for both clean and fouled nettings (PNA_{clean} and PNA_{fouled}) following the equation in Guenther et al., (2010):

$$PNA = P_b / P_t \times 100$$

Percent net occlusion (PNO) was then calculated using the PNA values and following the equation from Braithwaite et al., (2007):

Clean nets had a PNA_{clean} of 76.51, and an associated PNO of 0.

The species composition and percentage cover of each species was also assessed before and after feeding to determine if the crabs were selecting specific organisms. Ten quadrats measuring 0.5 x 0.5 m were randomly selected on fouled areas of the aquaculture cage, these represented the ungrazed areas. Divers collected all epibionts in each quadrat by scraping these areas of the net clean using a scalpel; the resultant falling debris was collected inside the cage by holding a fine mesh bag directly underneath the area. When the area was clean, the mesh bag was zipped closed then placed inside another mesh bag to ensure no biomass was lost. The bags were placed in a cooler of seawater and transported to the CEI wet lab. The samples were then identified to the nearest class and weighed. Each taxa was then expressed as percentage of total fouling biomass. Samples were also collected from the cage mesh after the crabs had grazed an area. The species richness and proportions were compared pre- and post-grazing to determine whether crabs selectively grazed some organisms while leaving others untouched.

Finally, the effectiveness of crabs as biofouling removers was compared to manual removal by divers. For this experiment, eight 0.3 x 0.3 m quadrats were photographed then scrubbed by divers using nylon scrubbing brushes to simulate diver cleaning. After one minute of scrubbing, the area was photographed again to calculate the PNA and PNO changes using the methods outlined above, and samples were taken of the remaining species.

Results

Laboratory Experiments

Feeding Behaviour.

The water temperature had a significant effect on the amount of algae consumed in the 24 hour feeding trial (Two-way ANOVA, F = 18.32, P < 0.001, Figure 3.3). Crabs in the 22 -24°C temperature range consumed 3.91 ± 0.35 % BW, while crabs maintained in 26 - 28°C water consumed 6.97 ± 0.73 % BW. There was a significant interaction between sex and temperature (Two-way ANOVA, F = 6.139, P = 0.021) on the consumption of algae. Male and female crabs in 22 - 24°C water consumed 4.16 ± 0.51 and 3.3 ± 0.61 % BW respectively; these values were not significantly different from one another. In contrast, in the 26 - 28°C water, female crabs consumed significantly more (8.55 ± 1.08 % BW) algae than the males (5.61 ± 0.69 % BW) (Tukey HSD, p = 0.0389). No significant difference in consumption rates ($t_{22} = 0.872$, p = 0.395) were observed between crabs feeding on algae (mean consumption = 3.91 ± 0.38 % BW) or fish (mean consumption = 3.30 ± 0.61 % BW) in 22 - 24°C water (Figure 3.4).

The consumption rates of algae declined significantly between the first and third days of the three day feeding trial (Two-Way Repeated Measures ANOVA, F = 6.76, P = 0.0247, Figure 3.5). The amount eaten declined from 7.48 \pm 1.41 % BW on day one, to the lowest levels of 4.37 \pm 0.53 % BW on day three. (Figure 3.5). In this experimental trial there was no effect of sex on the amount of food consumed (Two-Way ANOVA, F = 2.985, P = 0.12).



Figure 3.3. Consumption of seaweed in relation to body weight as a function of sex. Male (n = 8 and n = 7) and female (n = 6 and n = 6) *M. spinosissimus* in two temperature ranges, winter-spring 22 - 24 °C, and summer-fall 26 - 28 °C. The boxes enclose data falling between the 1st and 3rd quartile and the bold horizontal lines represent the median in each location, mean consumption represented by X. The vertical lines indicate the 95% confidence intervals of the median. Data points falling outside these ranges are plotted individually.



Figure 3.4. Consumption of fish (n = 12) and seaweed (n = 14) in relation to bodyweight by both sexes of *M. spinosissimus* during a 24 h period at 22 - 24 °C. The boxes enclose data falling between the 1st and 3rd quartile and the bold horizontal lines represent the median in each location, mean consumption represented by X. The vertical lines indicate the 95% confidence intervals of the median. Data points falling outside these ranges are plotted individually.



Figure 3.5. Daily consumption of seaweed in relation to bodyweight by *M*. *spinosissimus* (n = 6) over three consecutive days in the 22 - 24 °C range. The boxes enclose data falling between the 1st and 3rd quartile and the bold horizontal lines represent the median in each location, mean consumption represented by X. The vertical lines indicate the 95% confidence intervals of the median. Data points falling outside these ranges are plotted individually.

Activity Frequency.

The crabs exhibited a strong nocturnal pattern of activity. During daylight hours (hours 1-11, 23-35, and 47-48), crabs moved a mean distance of 0.84 \pm 0.16 m per hour. There appeared to be a slight, insignificant increase in movement during the hour preceding sunset on both days (3.82 \pm 1.21 m per hour). A significant and substantial increase in activity rates was reached during the hours of darkness (hours 12-22 and 36 - 46) (t-test, Day vs Night: t = -8.868, *p* < 0.001), with movement reduced but remaining above daylight levels after an initial peak (Figure 3.6). This peak movement was reached two to three hours after sunset, with respective distances moved of 19.65 \pm 5.98 to 19.78 \pm 4.77 m, with one individual crab travelling 101 m in an hour, while average night time movement was 10.0 \pm 1.1 m. The crabs moved around the entire tank, pausing occasionally to forage on food. In general, crabs returned to a corner of the raceway or sought shelter in the PVC pipe at dawn.

Foraging activity also followed a nocturnal pattern. During daylight hours foraging was minimal. There was a significant and substantial increase in foraging activity during the hours of darkness (t-test, Day vs Night: t = -13.621, p < 0.001), with crabs foraging on average at night for 13.98 ± 0.85 minutes per hour (Figure 3.7). Peak foraging was reached three hours after sunset, with a mean of 20.5 ± 4.57 minutes of feeding activity, followed by a steady decline thereafter until dawn, at which time feeding had largely ceased.



Figure 3.6. Mean hourly movement (± SEoM) of 10 *M. spinosissimus* during a 48 h period. Shaded areas represent the periods of darkness.



Figure 3.7. Mean hourly foraging time (\pm SEoM) of 10 *M. spinosissimus* over 48 hours in a flow through raceway at 22 – 24 °C. The shaded area represents the period of darkness.

Aquaculture Cage Trials

In-cage Trials.

For each of the three experiments when the crabs were left inside the aquaculture cage, 17 of 51 (March – May 2017), 10 of 30 (May 2017 – January 2018), and 14 of 46 (January 2018 – June 2018) crabs were retrieved from inside the cage. At the end of each trial the number of dead crabs found inside the cage (shells and bodies on the bottom of the cage) was 14, 10, and 12 respectively. This left 20, 10, and 20 crabs (in trials 1 - 3 respectively) unaccounted for.

There was no significant difference in carapace width or mass of crabs at the beginning and end of each trial (Table 3.1). The BRIX level showed no significant difference between the start and end of the first two trial periods (T-test, $df_{30} = -0.931$, p = 0.359; $t_{18} = 0.448$, p = 0.659), however there was a slight, but significant decline ($t_{26} = 2.714$, p = 0.0116) in the BRIX level during the third trial (Table 3.1). Overall the variance in BRIX levels appeared to stabilise throughout all trials (Figure 3.8); crabs with higher initial BRIX levels exhibited a reduction in BRIX, while in crabs with lower initial BRIX levels an overall increase was measured.

When crabs were retrieved from the cage, limb loss appeared relatively consistent throughout each of the trials. In trial one, 5 crabs had lost lost 1, 1, 1, 2, and 4 limbs. In trial two, 3 crabs lost 1, 1, and 3 limbs. In trial three, 4 crabs lost 1, 2, 2, and 3 limbs. During trial three, one crab showed limb bud emergence on 5 limbs, indicating it was nearing moult stage and regenerating limbs.

Table 3.1. Tracked data from in cage trials.

	March 2017	May 2017	May 2017	January 2018	January 2018	June 2018
Crabs In or Out	In	Out	In	Out	In	Out
n	51	17	30	10	46	14
Unaccounted	20		10		20	
Deaths	14		10		12	
n (Tracked)	17		10		14	
% Remaining	33.3		33.3		30.4	
BRIX	8.38 ± 0.22	8.51 ± 0.42	8.52 ± 0.29	8.47 ± 0.50	8.42 ± 0.21	7.19 ± 0.31
<i>p</i> -Value	0.359		0.659		0.0116	
Mass	656.8 ± 97.9 g	655.8 ± 95.1 g	630.1 ± 110 g	634.2 ± 107.5 g	596.9 ± 66.5 g	574.6 ± 71.1 g
<i>p</i> -Value	0.994		0.979		0.8202	
Carapace Width	113.5 ± 5.0	112.1 ± 6.89	112.1 ± 6.89	112.2 ± 6.87	106.5 ± 2.25	105 ± 4.3
<i>p</i> -value	0.869		0.991		0.708	
Limb Loss (total)	9		5		8	
No. of Crabs	5		3		4	
Limb Bud Presence (total)	0		0		5	
No. of Crabs	0		0		1	



Figure 3.8. Change in BRIX levels over duration of each in cage trial. The points represent the starting BRIX levels of individual crabs and the change in BRIX level (Delta BRIX) during the respective trial (colour and shape). The solid black line represents no change in BRIX. Trial one lasted 3 months, trial two lasted 8 months, trial three lasted 5 months. The red line is the line of best fit for all trials. The black horizonal line represents no change in BRIX.

Confined Crab Grazing and Biomass Sampling.

Spider crab grazing activity visibly removed fouling organisms on the aquaculture cage (Figures 3.9, 3.10, 3.11). The longest trial lasting 31 days resulted in a noticeable removal of biofouling organisms on the net (One-Way Repeated Measures ANOVA: F = 187.3, p < 0.001) from 86.81 ± 3.28% at the start of the trial to final levels of 13.25 ± 2.61% net occlusion. The crabs reduced occlusion from 95.38 ± 2.60% to 57.55 ± 9.41% during the 20 day trial (One-Way Repeated Measures ANOVA: F = 14.46, p < 0.001), from 94.14 ± 2.92% to 76.59 ± 3.11% during the 16 day trial (One-Way Repeated Measures ANOVA: F = 14.46, p < 0.001), from 94.14 ± 2.92% to 76.59 ± 3.11% during the 16 day trial (One-Way Repeated Measures ANOVA: F = 15.09, p = 0.003), and from 82.91 ± 2.89% to 65.51 ± 1.60% during the 11 day trial (One-Way Repeated Measures ANOVA: F = 17.6, p < 0.001). This amounted to calculated reductions (using the pre-grazing biomass sampled weights) in the 60 cm x 60 cm experimental area from approximately 560 ± 20 g to 85 ± 15 g, 615 ± 15 g to 370 ± 60 g, 607 ± 19 g to 494 ± 20g and 535 ± 20 g to 420 ± 10 g of fouling for each trial, respectively. The control trial showed no significant change in net occlusion, varying between 89.04 ± 2.55% and 89.66 ± 3.30% net occlusion (T-Test: t = -0.154, p = 0.88).

In the trials lasting for 20 days or longer, crab grazing removed significantly higher amounts of epibionts than 1 minute of diver scrubbing (trial one: t = 1.058 p = 0.317; trial two: t = 14.57, p < 0.001). During the shorter trials there was no significant difference in the amount of biofouling removed when comparing crab grazing and diver scrubbing (trial three: t = -2.11, p = 0.062; trial four: t = 0.76, p = 0.47) (Figures 3.9 and 3.12).



Figure 3.9. Mean net aperture occlusion (<u>+</u> SEoM) of a 60 cm x 60 cm area of the aquaculture cage when an individual crab was confined and allowed to graze on the biofouling. Four individual trials (n = 10 per trial) were carried out on different areas of the cage (2017 and 2018) using different individual crabs. The solid horizontal line indicates mean net aperture occlusion after one minute of diver scrubbing.



Figure 3.10. Examples of individual grazing removal by individual male and female *M*. *spinosissimus.* Photos were taken at day 0 and a crab then placed in the area and confined with a mesh enclosure. At regular intervals thereafter the enclosure and crab were removed for a photograph before being replaced. These images were used to calculate reduction in net occlusion



Figure 3.11. A close up photograph to allow comparison of an ungrazed area (left) and a grazed area (right) after 31 days along the border of a confined grazing cage. Note the reduced net aperture occlusion in the grazed area.



Figure 3.12. Comparison between individual crab grazing before and after 31 days (top row), and one minute of diver scrubbing with a nylon brush (bottom row). Note the Atlantic thorny oyster *Spondylus sp.*, indicated by arrow and (S) in the top right picture, which was unable to be removed by crab grazing, and the golden arrow crab *Stenorhynchus seticornis*, indicated by arrow and (G) in the top right picture, which were frequently found within the cages.

Investigation of the species richness of the epibionts on the cage showed that turf algae – thick, fast growing assemblages of multiple algal and cyanobacteria species (Littler et al., 2006; Steneck and Dethier, 1994; Vermeij et al., 2010) – dominated cage fouling, making up over 90 % of the biomass. The remaining assemblage consisted of brown algae (*Lobophora variegata*) making up around 2 %, motile animals (annelids, gastropods, and polychaetes) making up between 2 – 4 % of the total mass, and non-motile animals (corals, sponges, and molluscs) making up less than 1 % of the biomass. Following crab grazing there was found to be no significant difference (t-test; t = -1.33, *p* = 0.216) in the proportional makeup of turf algae, brown algae, and motile and non-motile animals on the cage (Table 3.2). The only organisms that were not effectively reduced were large (> 40 mm) encrusting bivalves (*Spondylus sp.*), and these were only found on 3 grazing quadrants on the cage.
Table 3.2. Biomass and makeup of 0.25 x 0.25 m quadrats of the aquaculture cage pre- (n = 10) and post- (n = 10) crab grazing.

Percentage values represent proportions of clades in the quadrats as the mean ± SEoM of the mass.

	Total Biomass	Motile Animals	Brown Algae	Turf Algae	Non-Motile Animals
Initial Sampling	286.5 ± 37.70 g	4.62 ± 0.59 %	2.32 ± 0.47 %	92.49 ± 1.08 %	0.57 ± 0.21 %
Final Sampling	74 ± 7.44 g	2.12 ± 0.47 %	1.54 ± 0.36 %	95.43 ± 0.46 %	0.91 ± 0.22 %

Discussion

Laboratory Experiments

Feeding Behaviour.

Food intake in crustaceans typically ranges between 2 – 4% of their body mass per sitting (Elner, 1980; Robertson et al., 2002; Simon, 2009; Simon and Jeffs, 2008; Wang et al., 2016). The mean consumption rate of spider crabs in the warmer water was approximately 7% per sitting, with some individuals consuming 9 – 15% of their body mass during a 24 hour period. Prior to the commencement of these one day feeding experiments, the crabs were starved for six days to ensure the gut was completely empty and that they would feed. Thus, the initial consumption rate was likely higher as crabs ate to satiation. When food consumption was tracked over three days there was a decline to mean levels of 4.3% of the body mass per day; this is similar to the 5% body mass per day previously reported for this species (Winfree and Weinstein, 1989), although still on the higher end of levels reported for most decapod species.

Herbivorous species often use a strategy of high food intake and short retention time to maximise energy utilization of lower quality food (Greenaway and Linton, 1995; Wolcott and O'Connor, 1992), this may explain the higher consumption rate in this species of crab. For example, in herbivorous crustacean larvae (Jones et al., 1997; Le Vay et al., 2001; Serrano Jr., 2012) and herbivorous land crabs (Linton and Greenaway, 2007) gut transit time is generally faster than omnivorous species. Additionally, the herbivorous crustaceans have lower assimilation efficiency compared to omnivorous and carnivorous species (Linton and Greenaway, 2007; Nordhaus, 2004), which would also support the idea that spider crabs need a higher food intake in order to gain enough energy. In aquatic ectotherms metabolic rate is positively correlated with temperature (Kemp and Britz, 2008; Rayner and McGaw, 2019; Willmer et al., 2005; Woll et al., 2006), and a higher metabolic rate usually requires a higher food intake. Indeed, there was an overall higher feeding rate at the warmer water temperatures (26 - 28°C); however this was only statistically significant for female crabs. Maintenance energy costs of female giant fairy shrimp, *Branchinecta gigas*, are 11.3% higher than for male shrimp (Daborn, 1975), probably associated with the costs of egg production. Thus, the larger female spider crabs may have a higher energetic investment, and therefore higher food intake associated with higher fecundity (Baeza et al., 2015), in support of this 34% of crabs collected were berried.

In the present study, the spider crabs consumed both fish and seaweed during the respective feeding trials. Fish were used to determine if crabs could potentially remove mortalities from finfish aquaculture operations, while seaweed consumption rates were used to determine its potential to remove biofouling. Generally fish mortalities are removed daily from aquaculture cages through diving (Belle and Nash, 2008; Tucker et al., 2008) wherever possible. This allows tracking of mortalities and subsequent fish inventories. Carcasses are disposed of in landfills, incinerated, composted, or used for fertilizer, depending on region regulations (Tucker et al., 2008). In exposed, remote, or offshore sites the travel distances to sites or poor weather may limit mortality removal. The fact that the spider crabs did readily eat fish suggests that they could remove fish carcasses in an aquaculture operation. This may be an effective way to limit the potential spread of disease and ensure water quality is not comprised by decomposing stock. In turn it will supplement the nutrient intake of the spider crabs, which would likely improve their overall condition. Other crustaceans fed a varied, high quality diet (Castell and Budson, 1974; Hagerman, 1983; McLeese, 1972), exhibited higher feeding frequencies (Mente and Houlihan, 2002; Sánchez-

Paz et al., 2007; Stewart et al., 1972; Wang and McGaw, 2014), and this was associated with an increased wet mass and haemolymph protein levels, all indicative of a healthier, more robust animal (Wang et al., 2016). This may be important if the spider crabs were to be harvested and sold when the fish crop was ready for market.

Activity Frequency.

Movement and foraging increased during the night, consistent with previous studies confirming the species as a nocturnal forager (Baeza et al., 2012; Tunberg and Creswell, 1991; Wilber and Wilber, 1991; Winfree and Weinstein, 1989). While some individual crabs were highly mobile (moved up to 101 m in an hour), most of the crabs only moved between 70 and 130 meters in total, during the hours of darkness. *M. spinosissimus* may have a home range with the crabs emerging from cracks and crevices to forage nearby, before returning to their respective crevices (Hazlett and Rittschof, 1975). A small (81 individuals) markrecapture trial was carried out and the spider crabs released on patch reefs (Chapter two). There was only a 5% recovery of the tagged crabs, which is much lower than a previous mark-recapture study for *M. spinosissimus* (>50%; Bohnsack, 1976). Recapture rates for decapod crustaceans are dependent on population size, migration, catchability, tag retention and mortality (Hyland et al., 1984; Le Vay et al., 2007; Miller, 1990). As such recapture rates can be quite variable, from 6.5% in Scylla paramamosain (Le Vay et al., 2007), 18.9% in Scylla serrata (Hyland et al., 1984) and over 50% in M. spinosissimus (Bohnsack, 1976). The low recovery rate in the present study was unlikely due to the highly cryptic nature of this species, as individual patch reefs were relatively small in size (average of 8 by 12 meters) and were thoroughly checked by 5 individual free divers repeatedly during a 20 minute roaming survey. Thus, it is more likely that crabs moved from the sites as they were initially

translocated from the Greencastle Blue Hole, suggesting they may have attempted to return to their established home range.

Whilst movement distance was easy to measure in the experimental trials, differentiating between the actual ingestion of food and grooming activities (self-grooming and egg-grooming in females) was difficult to discern using a camera only. This experimental shortfall has also been noted previously for other species of crabs (Hold et al., 2015; Ramsay et al., 1997; Steen and Ski, 2014). Often the animals can merely be inspecting the food or passing over it without actually consuming anything (Rayner and McGaw, 2019). Thus, the foraging times in the present study were an estimate only, but the fact that the crabs were active in the vicinity of the food cage suggests that a significant portion of their activity is at least related to searching for food.

Aquaculture Cage Trials

In Cage Trials.

The three experimental trials where crabs were placed inside the aquaculture cage for extended periods returned 17 of 51, 10 of 30, and 14 of 46 crabs, with 14, 10, and 12 shells and tags retrieved from the bottom of the cage respectively. As there were no predators inside the aquapen, and the time period of our trials was not long enough for decomposition of the shells to occur, it was assumed the "unaccounted" crabs (20, 10, and 20) had escaped. Based on known-crab survivorship, survival was 55% in trial one, 50% in trial two, and 54% in trial three. A survey of the aquaculture cage prior to the commencement of the third trial revealed two feeding tube openings that the smaller crabs may have escaped through, these were sealed with mesh covers to prevent future escapes. Despite this, 20 crabs were still unaccounted for in the final trial. A detailed survey of the bottom of the cage was not carried out, and given the cage was not maintained for six years, and some areas were heavily fouled and overgrown, it is likely that there may have been additional holes or avenues for escape. A well-maintained commercial cage is unlikely to have these avenues of escape as regular net changing and cage maintenance would reduce the incidence of net damage that would allow for escape.

Even accounting for escapees, the survival of the crabs inside the cage was still lower than 75%. However, the survival rate of the crabs in the outside enclosures was over 80%. All crab mortalities on the outside of the cage occurred shortly after placement on the cage (less than five days), suggesting that stressors from prior lab confinement, handling, and emersion during transport were the most likely causes of death (Grant, 2003; Kruse et al., 1994; Urban, 2015). Aerial exposure is associated with increased blood ammonia, lactate, and urate levels (Barrento et al., 2010; Durand et al., 2000) from anaerobic metabolism (Spicer et al., 1990), as well as elevated glucose levels from increased handling stress (Barrento et al., 2010; Bergmann et al., 2001; Morris and Oliver, 1999; Paterson and Spanoghe, 1997; Speed et al., 2001; Spicer et al., 1990). Thus, the handling and transport of the spider crabs from the lab to the aquaculture site (60 minutes) was the likely cause of short term mortality.

While there was similar initial short term mortality inside the cage (also likely associated with handling and transport), regular inspection showed that mortalities occurred throughout the trial period. These mortalities were more likely associated with long term hypoxic exposure. Although we did not measure oxygen content inside and outside of the cage, when diving inside the cage there was little to no flow of water, in contrast on the outside the divers had to actively manoeuvre to maintain a working position in the current. The cage had not been cleaned for approximately 6 years and the extreme

fouling level (97% occlusion) substantially reduced water flow and oxygen exchange (Fitridge et al., 2012), and the heavy fouling community itself would exacerbate the situation (Cronin et al., 1999). In support of this assumption, during the first trial, a large cubera snapper (*Lutjanus cyanopterus*) entered the cage when divers were putting crabs inside, but when revisiting the cage 5 days later had died, even though there was an abundance of prey in the aquapen.

While the handling stress and hypoxic exposure probably accounted for the shortterm mortalities (less than 5 days), it is likely that the long term hypoxia also had some effect on the spider crabs. Decapod crustaceans react to chronic hypoxia by decreasing heart rate, along with a concomitant increase in cardiac output and ventilation rate (Burggren and McMahon, 1983; Butler et al., 1978; Taylor, 1982). While the decline in environmental oxygen levels can be offset by an increase in hemocyanin (blood pigment) levels and changes in its affinity, such physiological adjustments may be energetically costly. As such this chronic stress can lead to a reduction in feeding time, assimilation rates, and thus an overall decrease in the condition of the animal (McGaw, 2008).

The BRIX level is used as a health indicator and generally crustaceans that eat more and show more signs of vigour have a higher BRIX value and are deemed to be healthier and in better nutritional condition (Mendo et al., 2016; Simon et al., 2015). There was no change in BRIX levels in the first two trials and a slight but significant decline in BRIX levels in the final trial that ran for five months. However, earlier work showed that a decline in BRIX level of 1.3 was not a drastic decline that occurs during starvation or substantial deterioration (Wang et al., 2016; Wang and McGaw, 2014). It was also unrelated to changes that occur during moulting because none of the animals in the trials moulted (Wang and McGaw, 2014). Overall the crabs that were retrieved were of similar vigour to that at the start of the

experiment, suggesting that crabs can gain enough nutrients by grazing on the epibionts growing on the cages.

A number of crabs lost limbs during their confinement in the aquaculture care. This limb loss likely occurred as a result of stress and autotomy during transport (Juanes and Smith, 1995). That being said, the limb loss in the re-captured crabs (29%) was similar to natural decapod crustacean populations (24% of population with injuries, Juanes and Smith, 1995), and lower than the incidence of limb loss in the surrounding population (39%, Zeinert Pers. Obs.). Crabs were frequently found aggregated at the top of the cage, either gripping the netting or the vertical spar whilst near other crabs. The aggregating behaviour of the spider crab indicated minimal aggressive behaviour toward conspecifics, as well as natural behaviour towards finding shelter. As juveniles, crabs are reported to be highly aggressive towards conspecifics (Wilber et al., 1992; Wilber and Wilber, 1991), but once mature show minimal aggression towards each other (Adey and Farrier, 1989; Tunberg and Creswell, 1988).

Confined Grab Grazing and Biomass Sampling.

Crab grazing activities successfully reduced biofouling in all trials. Crabs reduced percent net occlusion (PNO) by 18 - 37% in slightly over two weeks and by up to 74% in a month. The grazing method of the crabs and their ability to use the spoon shape chelae (Adey and Farrier, 1989; Coen, 1988) to "pinch" algae with their chela – allowed removal of fouling from both the inner and outer surfaces of the net. This is advantageous compared to species such as urchins which failed to remove fouling on the opposite side of the netting (Sterling et al., 2016). Under normal fouling conditions (rather than the extreme levels in the present study), the dexterous claws would be able to remove newly settling organisms so

they would fail to establish. The divers noted the turf algae on the cage would peel off in large portions during biomass sampling, and the simple mechanical action of crabs walking over the netting would also dislodge material. Crabs in general are described as "messy feeders," (Ahvenharju and Ruohonen, 2005; Barker and Gibson, 1977; McGaw and Penney, 2014) and thus the mechanical grazing activity (Winfree and Weinstein, 1989) likely contributed to some PNO reduction, rather than complete ingestion of all material. Using data from the lab feeding and the fouling level of the cage during the study, it was calculated that an average sized crab (539 g) it would take approximately 61 days for a crab to reduce fouling in a 1 m² area on the present aquaculture cage to 10% PNO. However one should be aware that this cage was not maintained and had not been in use for 6 years prior to the present study, and so although the above times may seen too long to be effect, one could assume that a well maintained commercial cage would not reach these levels to begin with.

One of the greatest concerns of using biological control animals is that selections of preferred prey will occur, leaving the uneaten organisms with no potential competitors. This could then result in a monoculture of a rapidly growing species that are potentially more difficult to remove or even harmful to stock (Fitridge et al., 2012; Ross et al., 2004). This did not appear to be the case here with *M. spinosissimus*, as there was no difference in the proportions of organisms left behind after grazing. Although *M. spinosissimus* has been classified as a herbivore, grazing on algal mats (Adey and Farrier, 1989; Bohnsack, 1976; Coen, 1988), there is also likely consumption of porifera, annelids, molluscs, or arthropods from within algae turfs (Wilber and Wilber, 1989), which have led other researchers to suggest its diet is more omnivorous (Guzman and Tewfik, 2004; Hazlett and Rittschof, 1975; Winfree and Weinstein, 1989). Indeed the feeding trials also showed this species will consume whole fish. Therefore, it is not surprising that the small motile and non-motile

animals (porifera, cnidarians, gastropods, annelids, and polychaetes) within the turf algae on the cage were also removed by the grazing crabs. The only organisms that were not removed were large (4-6 cm) encrusted bivalves (*Spondylus sp.*), however, such large bivalves can take up to 2.5 - 4 years to mature (Lodeiros et al., 2016) and in a maintained net the crabs would be able to graze and remove these before they became established.

The manual removal of growth by scrubbing by a diver reduced fouling by an average of 21.3%, this is similar to removal by commercial power washers on heavily fouled nets in both Norway (23%; Guenther et al., 2010) and Tasmania (15%; Hodson et al., 1997). This was likely single pass cleaning, at the industry standard speed of 0.3 m s⁻¹ (Bloecher et al., 2019). Initial cost of the fouling removal equipment can be USD\$1000 for power washers and USD\$30,000 for simple disk washers (CRAB Project, 2007), and increases with the complexity of the machinery. On salmon farms most cleaning events are scheduled fortnightly, but during peak fouling season this can increase to every five days (Bannister et al., 2019). Thus, the equipment and time to remove fouling can make net cleaning an expensive requirement for farms.

Both diver scrubbing (this experiment) and commercial power washers in others left organisms on the netting, which can continue to grow (Moss and Marsland, 1976). In some cases these left over organisms increase the rate of colonization, such as in the hydroid *E*. *larynx*, where propagules are more abundant post-cleaning (Carl et al., 2011; Guenther et al., 2010). Both diver scrubbing and commercial scrubbers introduce organic wastes into the environment around the cage through removal of fouling and anti-fouling materials. This excess benthic nutrient input and subsequent bacterial breakdown may cause anoxic dead zones around the aquaculture operation (Bannister et al., 2016; Floerl et al., 2016; Reid et al., 2009). Another side effect of commercial scrubbers (Geffen, 1979) or pressure washers

(Bannister et al., 2019) are they can create loose filaments that increase sites for fouling attachment (Carl et al., 2011) and reduce tensile strength (Morte, 2018), while increasing the potential for anti-fouling coatings to be released into the environment. In the present study there was no evidence of net damage after spider crabs had fed.

Conclusions

Best Use of Crabs for Biofouling Removal in Aquaculture

The high survival rate of *M. spinosissimus* on the outside of the aquaculture cage, in addition to the significant removal of fouling, indicates the crabs have the potential to reduce and remove fouling on commercial farms. Cages such as the large SeaStations utilized in Panama (Welch et al., 2019) or other geodesic cages used in open ocean aquaculture are most likely to benefit from the biocontrol of the crabs. Access to the offshore locations of these farms is likely more influenced by inclement weather than inshore locations, thus cleaning and mortality removal may be delayed. The crabs show potential for use with Cobia or other finfish within these cages in the Caribbean region, because the crabs are large it is unlikely they would be targeted by fish, while their herbivorous nature would reduce negative interactions with fish. For best use in commercial aquaculture, transport to the sites for initial release needs to be rapid and low stress to reduce loss in terms of both mortality and limbs. As these crabs seek shelter in crevices during the day, there may be some need for artificial shelters to be spaced throughout the cage, such as those used by corkwing (Crenilabrus melops) and goldsinny wrasse (Ctenolabrus rupestris) (Deady et al., 1995). These may provide an additional benefit of encouraging the movement and enhancing the distribution of crabs within an aquaculture cage, ensuring larger sections of cage netting are grazed by crabs.

Finally, in addition to reducing biofouling on aquaculture pens, the crabs show great potential as an additional source of income as they look and taste like the Alaskan King Crab *Paralithodes camtschaticus* (Rubino and Stoffle, 1990). Their marketable potential as an environmentally friendly alternative to other seafood sets them apart from other invertebrate products. The potential problem of marketing these animals is the fact that the

adults would need to be collected from the wild. That being said, a number of preliminary studies have suggested that the spider crab is a good candidate for aquaculture because it has a short non-feeding larval phase, with benthic settlement occurring within five to six days post-hatch (Brownell et al., 1977). The juvenile and adult stages primarily feed on algae, which reduces the need for more costly commercial feed (Rubino and Stoffle, 1990), and the final product may have high value. Nevertheless the time spent producing a marketable sized crab makes commercialization of this species challenging. Selectively breeding the crab could increase this potential further, increasing the growth rate of the crab to around 12 months to terminal moult, where the harvest sizes could reliably be over 1kg – a marketable size, especially as up to 20% of their body mass is meat, providing a good yield (Chapter 2).

Chapter 4: General Discussion and Conclusions

Summary

In this thesis, I investigated the population structure of the Caribbean spider crab *Maguimithrax spinosissimus* around Eleuthera, The Bahamas, and the potential of the crab for biofouling removal in commercial aquaculture in the Caribbean. Overall, this thesis showed that the Caribbean spider crab *Maguimithrax spinosissimus* has potential for biofouling removal in commercial aquaculture. Additionally the population may be robust enough to allow a small scale harvest for use as a biocontrol agent or possibly a small scale artisanal fishery.

Population structure and size at maturity around Eleuthera (Chapter 2)

There was a distinct sex related size difference in Caribbean spider crabs around Eleuthera. Males were most frequently found between 80 – 120 mm, with females slightly smaller at between 80 – 110 mm. Males were also heavier ($\overline{x}_{cw} = 107.7 \text{ mm}$, $\overline{x}_{mass} = 710.8 \text{ g}$) than females ($\overline{x}_{cw} = 94.3 \text{ mm}$, $\overline{x}_{mass} = 430.9 \text{ g}$), while females were found in greater numbers (n = 234) than males (n = 158). The haemolymph BRIX levels were used as an indicator of nutritional status, physiological condition and general health (C. Simon et al., 2015; Wang and McGaw, 2014). Mean BRIX levels for each site were relatively high for both males ($\overline{x}_{Greencastle} = 7.12$, $\overline{x}_{Patches} = 7.26$, $\overline{x}_{Sweetings} = 6.46$) and females ($\overline{x}_{Greencastle} = 7.74$, $\overline{x}_{Patches} = 6.78$, $\overline{x}_{Sweetings} = 7.17$) and the crabs showed obvious signs of vigour when handled. Total blood protein concentration can differ between species and as a function of life habits and environmental factors (Lorenzon et al., 2011; Wang and McGaw, 2014). This can make interspecific comparisons difficult, however as each location showed normally distributed BRIX values and crabs were active when handled, this suggested the animals were healthy and gaining sufficient nutrients.

Both male and female spider crabs reached behavioural maturity at around 80 and 72 mm carapace width, respectively, while morphological maturity was reached at 96 and 72 mm. This indicated that females reached behavioural maturity (the abdomen releasing from the sternum) at the same time as morphological maturity (the abdomen is enlarged to hold an egg mass), this is similar to many brachyuran crabs (Gerhart and Bert, 2008; Gonzalez-Pisani et al., 2017). Males reached behavioural maturity prior to morphological maturity. Gonad samples were collected to determine if the crabs were able to produce sperm at this stage, however, when the samples were subsequently transported to, and analysed at Memorial University, they had deteriorated to a condition that cellular structures could not be differentiated. The gastric teeth were sectioned in order to determine the age, but produced inconclusive results as the sections were unable to be cut thin enough to show any growth bands: thus I was unable to determine the age at a particular size. The meat yield from the crabs ranged between 6 - 21 % of the mass of the crab; males yielded more meat due to their larger chelae size. An experienced crab meat cleaner or mechanical removal may yield more meat from the crab, but in general males would be better to harvest due to their larger overall size and available meat.

Feeding behaviour and potential biofouling removal on aquaculture cages (Chapter 3)

The spider crabs were nocturnal, and peak movement occurred two to three hours after sunset. They consumed between 3 and 8.5 % bodyweight of algae per day, dependant on water temperature and sex. Although often considered functionally herbivorous, the crabs consumed fish when it was provided, suggesting like most other decapods they are

opportunistic omnivores. When placed in confined enclosures on a commercial scale aquaculture cage, the crabs reduced fouling by 40% after two weeks, and up to 90% after a month. This was more effective than manual scrubbing by divers. There was no evidence of discriminatory feeding: the crabs reduced the percentages of all encrusting species on the cage. Survival of the confined crabs on the outside of the cage was 80%, while survival rates in longer term trials with crabs (3 to 8 months) inside the cage ranged between 50 to 55%. There was no significant decline in the BRIX (blood protein) levels in the crabs retrieved from inside the cages, indicating that the animals were able to obtain sufficient nutrients. Short term mortalities were likely associated with handling stress and transport, while mortalities occurring after 5 days were thought to be associated with hypoxia in the cage, as extreme level of fouling restricted water flow. These results indicate the potential for this species to be used as a biological control agent for biofouling on commercial aquaculture cages.

Potential use of this data for the Caribbean region

Currently information of population dynamics of spider crabs in The Bahamas is still scant, however this study does suggest that the crabs are fairly common and reach large sizes. More data need to be collected to determine if they are plentiful enough to support a widespread fishery. A mark-recapture study may be able to estimate the population of the spider crabs in a given area, but given the low recapture rates it may be easier to estimate the abundance using density and habitat data, and estimate the number of males and females per m² of habitat. An additional mark-recapture without translocation may provide better insight into the movement behaviour and abundance of the crabs.

Fisheries

The density of individuals on a given reef appears to be limited by available refuges. Females tend to return to the same crevice daily, while males frequent multiple crevices (Hazlett and Rittschof, 1975). This was also supported by my current study, where only marked female crabs were recaptured. The smaller males may have been competitively excluded by larger males on the coral patch reefs (Ramsay et al., 1997). That being said, no individuals were recovered from surrounding patch reefs, indicating longer or more widespread migration may have occurred.

What does the data from my thesis and work of others suggest about a potential fishery for spider crabs? Spider crabs are difficult to catch in regular baited pots because they are primarily herbivorous and thus hand collection would be the obvious method of capture. Because collection on SCUBA is prohibited, a small scale artisanal fishery by free diving may be sustainable, as some refuges like the deeper blue holes could not be fished. The fact that few crabs were recaptured on the patch reefs during the mark-recapture study suggests that they may not have a home range, and that migration could replenish stocks, or that they are very cryptic and this may also protect from over harvest. However additional mark-recapture work is required to verify this, as the crabs were translocated in the present study. Nevertheless, the problem with setting a catch rate is that we still do not know the growth rate and longevity of this species (Penn et al., 2019). I was not able to accurately assess the age or the population structure, but Adey and Farrier (1989) projected that "plate sized" male crabs (1000 g, 120 mm CW) could mature in around 360 days in some regions. However, even if spider crabs do grow this rapidly it remains to be determined whether the crab's pubertal moult is also the terminal moult, as is seen in other crab species (Hartnoll et

al., 1993). If this terminal moult does occur, managers would need to know how many years they live after this moult and the mating success, brood size during this time.

Aquaculture

The work within this thesis displayed the potential of the Caribbean spider crab for commercial aquaculture in the Caribbean region, especially in regards to removing biofouling from open ocean cages. Geodesic style cages used in offshore open ocean aquaculture may be the most applicable for this technique, as access to these sites may be more influenced by inclement weather than inshore sites. However, this is not to say that inshore sites may not benefit, as the crabs may reduce the need for costly mechanical cleaning activities at multiple sites. The spider crab showed a number of advantages that suggests it would be an effective species to remove biofouling on aquaculture cages:

- 1. The biggest advantage is the non-selective grazing, which has been a problem in many other studies and the main problem with biocontrol in general (De Nys and Guenther, 2009; Fitridge et al., 2012). The crabs appeared to reduce the amount of all epibionts on the cage netting without creating an environment of inedible species, which would subsequently flourish without competition from other biofouling species.
- Unlike animals such as urchins (Lodeiros and García, 2004; Sterling et al., 2016; Zhanhui et al., 2014) spider crabs can move freely and rapidly around the cage. This allows coverage of large areas, and their dexterous claws can reach and clean both sides of the cage netting.
- 3. The spider crabs have the ability to remove the farmed fish mortalities. This is beneficial because it may reduce labour costs associated with carcass removal,

and be especially beneficial at offshore sites where carcass removal may be difficult in bad weather.

- 4. The crab is a large species which may be too big for farmed fish inside the cage to predate. Likewise since the species appears to prefer encrusting algae it would not be expected to attack the fish stock. Both of these would minimize any deleterious interactions.
- 5. The reduction in mechanical cleaning, whether *in* or *ex situ*, would not only reduce expenses (De Nys and Guenther, 2009), but also chemicals, further reducing costs to the farm and any deleterious environmental impacts.
- 6. Future fouling rates may be lower as larval release may not be triggered by crab grazing, unlike that which occurs during underwater washing (Carl et al., 2011). Additionally, crabs appear to do no damage to the netting, which reduces the creation of loose filaments for settlement (Carl et al., 2011; Geffen, 1979), as hydroids such as *E. larynx* use these to securely fasten themselves to the netting, making future removal difficult.
- Because the fouling material is consumed by the crabs, less biological matter would be directly deposited on the seabed compared to commercial power washing (which simply dislodges and kills the organisms). This would lessen benthic nutrient inputs and subsequent bacterial breakdown (Bannister et al., 2016; Floerl et al., 2016; Reid et al., 2009).
- 8. Crabs could be "fattened up" and also sold. After collection from the wild or placement from a hatchery, crabs could be grown using the epibionts on cage netting as feed, and once reaching a marketable size, sold themselves as a separate stock.

9. Sustainable green aquaculture is being embraced, and consumers would pay more for such a product. Thus, biological control mechanisms would further reduce the environmental impacts of commercial farms. In addition they would enhance the sustainability of aquaculture by harmonizing cleaning and antifouling technologies through cost-effective biofouling management and emission reduction of cleaning wastes and chemicals (Floerl et al., 2016).

Future work

The crabs have marketable potential, as they have good meat yield (15 % BW) and are reported to taste like the Alaska King Crab *Paralithodes camtschaticus* (Rubino and Stoffle, 1990). With little monetary input, the crab may increase profits to commercial fish farmers through two methods. First, the farmers could simply maintain the crab stock as cleaners, this would allow a reduction in mechanical or chemical cleaning costs. Second, a market could be developed and the crabs sold at the same time as the fish product. With the current high demand for similar seafood products such as lobster and molluscs, and the increasing demand for sustainably produced food, this appears plausible.

In terms of biofouling, full scale trials at a working farm are required to ensure the species has minimal negative interactions or effects on the main aquaculture species, while efficiently removing fouling from the aquaculture cage. One example may involve commercial cobia *Rachycentron canadum* farms in Panama, where the two species both occur naturally. Crabs could be collected from wild stocks or spawned from gravid females and grown out to the cage mesh size to limit escapees. Prior to their placement on the sea cages, lab based trials could first monitor interactions between the cobia and the spider crabs. If no excessive negative interactions are found, crabs may be placed inside aquapens

to remove fouling. Subsequent monitoring of fouling on the cage and control cages could determine whether fouling growth is indeed limited by crab grazing in a commercial setting. Additional experiments could determine the optimum number of crabs per cage to prevent fouling growth and limit aggressive interactions, and also address the potential aggregation issue to ensure the entirety of the cage can be cleaned.

Aside from biofouling removal, the crabs show their own aquaculture potential, as they have short, non feeding larval stages, and can be rapidly grown to "plate size" (1000 g, 120 mm CW). The crabs have successfully been spawned and grown to maturity previously (Adey and Farrier, 1989; Creswell et al., 1989; Tunberg and Creswell, 1991, 1988; Wilber et al., 1992; Wilber and Wilber, 1991). Experimental trials carried out in the late 1980s focused on low economic farming techniques for this species (Adey and Farrier, 1989). This involved placing a gravid female into a wooden sea-cage, following the hatch, the resulting juveniles were transferred into cages with coarser mesh as they increased in size. However, these methods resulted in high mortality due to the presence of small predators in the juvenile's cages, excessive wave action during moulting, and aggressive interactions of juveniles (Adey and Farrier, 1989). The aquaculture industry has increased in leaps and bounds since these preliminary experiments were carried out, and current intensive hatchery systems would be highly applicable to development of this species. Such hatchery systems, using shallow water tables, floating PVC pipes, and a constant supply of water, have been shown to reduce larval mortality (Creswell et al., 1989; Tunberg and Creswell, 1988). Juveniles could then be moved to a vertical farm using recirculating or flow through methods (Shelley and Lovatelli, 2011; Tavares et al., 2018). The outflow of water, high in waste nitrogen, could be utilized to grow turf algae, filtering the water and providing a source of food for the crabs which could be

rotated into the tanks on small frames. This method could be used to produce both individual crabs for market, and crabs for biofouling removal.

References

- Aarestrup, F.M., 2006. The Origin, Evolution, and Local and Global Dissemination of
 Antimicrobial Resistance, in: Aarestrup, F.M. (Ed.), Antimicrobial Resistance in Bacteria
 of Animal Origin. American Society of Microbiology, pp. 339–360.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/9781555817534.ch20
- Aarsnes, J. V, Rudi, H., Løland, G., 1990. Current forces on cage, net deflection, in: Whittaker,
 T., Bell, A., Shaw, M., Slaattelid, O., Beveridge, M., Poxton, M., Balchen, J. (Eds.),
 Engineering for Offshore Fish Farming. Thomas Telford Publishing, pp. 137–152.
- Adams, C.M., Shumway, S.E., Whitlatch, R.B., Getchis, T., 2011. Biofouling in Marine Molluscan Shellfish Aquaculture: A Survey Assessing the Business and Economic Implications of Mitigation. J. World Aquac. Soc. 42, 242–252. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-7345.2011.00460.x
- Adey, W.H., Farrier, D.F., 1989. The Biology, Ecology and Mariculture of Mithrax spinosissimus Utilizing Cultured Algal Turfs. Mariculture Institute, Los Angeles, CA.
- Ahlgren, M.O., 1998. Consumption and Assimilation of Salmon Net Pen Fouling Debris by the Red Sea Cucumber Parastichopus californicus: Implications for Polyculture. J. World Aquac. Soc. 29, 133–139. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-7345.1998.tb00972.x
- Ahvenharju, T., Ruohonen, K., 2005. Individual food intake measurement of freshwater crayfish (Pacifastacus leniusculus Dana) juveniles. Aquac. Res. 36, 1304–1312. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2005.01348.x
- Alunno-Bruscia, M., Sainte-Marie, B., 1998. Abdomen allometry, ovary development, and growth of female snow crab, Chionoecetes opilio (Brachyura, majidae), in the northwestern Gulf of St. Lawrence. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 55, 459–477.

https://doi.org/10.1139/f97-241

- Alvarez-Lajonchère, L., Ibarra-Castro, L., 2013. Aquaculture species selection method applied to marine fish in the Caribbean. Aquaculture 408–409, 20–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2013.05.020
- Anderson, S.C., Flemming, J.M., Watson, R., Lotze, H.K., 2011a. Rapid global expansion of invertebrate fisheries: Trends, drivers, and ecosystem effects. PLoS One 6, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0014735
- Anderson, S.C., Flemming, J.M., Watson, R., Lotze, H.K., 2011b. Serial exploitation of global sea cucumber fisheries. Fish Fish. 12, 317–339. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-2979.2010.00397.x
- Anderson, S.C., Lotze, H.K., Shackell, N.L., 2008. Evaluating the knowledge base for expanding low-trophic-level fisheries in Atlantic Canada. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 65, 2553–2571. https://doi.org/10.1139/F08-156
- Arnberg, M., Calosi, P., Spicer, J.I., Taban, I.C., Bamber, S.D., Westerlund, S., Vingen, S.,
 Baussant, T., Bechmann, R.K., Dupont, S., 2018. Effects of oil and global environmental drivers on two keystone marine invertebrates. Sci. Rep. 8, 1–9.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-35623-w
- Aronson, R.B., 1989. The ecology of Octopus briareus Robson in a Bahamian saltwater lake. Am. Malacol. Bull. 7, 47–56.
- Aronson, R.B., Harms, C.A., 1985. Ophiuroids in a Bahamian Saltwater Lake : The Ecology of a Paleozoic-like Community. Ecology 66, 1472–1483.
- Baeza, J., Holstein, D., Umaña-Castro, R., Mejía-Ortíz, L., 2019. Population genetics and biophysical modeling inform metapopulation connectivity of the Caribbean king crab Maguimithrax spinosissimus. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 610, 83–97.

https://doi.org/10.3354/meps12842

- Baeza, J.A., Anderson, J.R., Spadaro, A.J., Behringer, D.C., 2012. Sexual Dimorphism, Allometry, and Size at First Maturity of the Caribbean King Crab, *Mithrax spinosissimus*, in the Florida Keys. J. Shellfish Res. 31, 909–916. https://doi.org/10.2983/035.031.0401
- Baeza, J.A., Bolanos, J.A., Fuentes, S., Hernandez, J.E., Lira, C., López, R., 2010. Molecular phylogeny of enigmatic Caribbean spider crabs from the Mithrax-Mithraculus species complex (Brachyura: Majidae: Mithracinae): Ecological diversity and a formal test of genera monophyly. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. United Kingdom 90, 851–858.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315409991044
- Baeza, J.A., Simpson, L., Ambrosio, L.J., Guéron, R., Mora, N., Owen, D., 2015. Reproductive Investment in a Phyletic Giant, the Caribbean King Crab Damithrax spinosissimus:
 Exploring Egg Production Costs in Large Brooding Marine Invertebrates. J. Shellfish Res. 34, 1049–1056. https://doi.org/10.2983/035.034.0331
- Bannister, J., Sievers, M., Bush, F., Bloecher, N., 2019. Biofouling in marine aquaculture: a review of recent research and developments. Biofouling 35, 631–648. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927014.2019.1640214
- Bannister, R.J., Johnsen, I.A., Hansen, P.K., Kutti, T., Asplin, L., 2016. Near- and far-field
 dispersal modelling of organic waste from Atlantic salmon aquaculture in fjord systems.
 ICES J. Mar. Sci. J. du Cons. 73, 2408–2419. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsw027
- Barker, P.L., Gibson, R., 1977. Observations on the feeding mechanism, structure of the gut, and digestive physiology of the European lobster Homarus gammarus (L.) (Decapoda: Nephropidae). J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 26, 297–324.
- Barnes, D.K.A., Dulvy, N.K., Priestley, S.H., Darwall, W.R.T., Choisel, V., Whittington, M., 2002. Fishery characteristics and abundance estimates of the mangrove crab Scylla serrata in

southern Tanzania and northern Moçambique. South African J. Mar. Sci. 24, 19–25. https://doi.org/10.2989/025776102784528312

- Barón, P.J., Quiroga, A.P., Leal, G.A., González-Pisani, X., 2009. Morphological maturity of the knobbed spider crab, Leurocyclus tuberculosus (H. Milne Edwards & Lucas, 1842)
 (Brachyura, Majidae) in the Northern Patagonian Gulfs. Crustaceana 82, 267–273. https://doi.org/10.1163/156854008X390407
- Barrento, S., Marques, A., Vaz-Pires, P., Nunes, M.L., 2010. Live shipment of immersed crabs Cancer pagurus from England to Portugal and recovery in stocking tanks: stress parameter characterization. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 67, 435–443. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsp268
- Baum, J.K., Worm, B., 2009. Cascading top-down effects of changing oceanic predator abundances. J. Anim. Ecol. 78, 699–714. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2009.01531.x
- Belle, S.M., Nash, C.E., 2008. Better Management Practices for Net-Pen Aquaculture, in: Tucker, C.S., Hargreaves, J.A. (Eds.), Environmental Best Management Practices for Aquaculture. Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 261–330.
- Benetti, D., Brand, L., Collins, J., Orhun, R., Benetti, A., O'Hnalon, B., Danychuk, A., Alston, D., Rivera, J., Cabarcas, A., 2006. Can offshore aquaculture of carnivorous fish be sustainable? Case studies from the Caribbean. World Aquac. 44–47.
- Bergmann, M., Taylor, A.C., Geoffrey Moore, P., 2001. Physiological stress in decapod crustaceans (Munida rugosa and Liocarcinus depurator) discarded in the Clyde
 Nephrops fishery. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 259, 215–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0981(01)00231-3

Besnier, F., Glover, K.A., Lien, S., Kent, M., Hansen, M.M., Shen, X., Skaala, 2015.

Identification of quantitative genetic components of fitness variation in farmed, hybrid and native salmon in the wild. Heredity (Edinb). 115, 47–55.

https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.2015.15

- Bloecher, N., Frank, K., Bondø, M., Ribicic, D., Endresen, P.C., Su, B., Floerl, O., 2019. Testing of novel net cleaning technologies for finfish aquaculture. Biofouling 35, 805–817. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927014.2019.1663413
- Bloecher, N., Powell, M., Hytterød, S., Gjessing, M., Wiik-Nielsen, J., Mohammad, S.N.,
 Johansen, J., Hansen, H., Floerl, O., Gjevre, A.G., 2018. Effects of cnidarian biofouling on
 salmon gill health and development of amoebic gill disease. PLoS One 13, 1–18.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0199842
- Bohnsack, J.A., 1976. The Spider Crab, Mithrax Spinosissimus: An Investigation Including Commercial Aspects. Florida Sci. 39, 259–266.
- Bolton, J.C., Collins, S., Smith, R., Perkins, B., Bushway, R., Bayer, R., Vetelino, J., 2009. Spectroscopic Analysis of Hemolymph from the American Lobster (Homarus americanus). J. Shellfish Res. 28, 905–912. https://doi.org/10.2983/035.028.0421
- Bond, P., Brown, M., Moate, R., Gledhill, M., Hill, S., Nimmo, M., 1999. Arrested
 development in fucus spiralis (phaeophyceae) germlings exposed to copper. Eur. J.
 Phycol. 34, 513–521. https://doi.org/10.1080/09541449910001718871
- Braithwaite, R.A., Carrascosa, M.C.C., McEvoy, L.A., 2007. Biofouling of salmon cage netting and the efficacy of a typical copper-based antifoulant. Aquaculture 262, 219–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2006.11.027
- Brooks, K.M., 2000. Determination of copper loss rates from Flexgard XI[™] treated nets in marine environments and evaluation of the resulting environmental risks. Rep. to Minist. Environ. BC Salmon Farmers Assoc. Vancouver BC.

Brownell, W.N., Provenzano Jr., A.J., Martínez, M., 1977. Culture of the West Indian Spider Crab (*Mithrax spinosissimus*) at Los Roques, Venezuela.. Proc. Annu. Meet. - World Maric. Soc. 8, 157–168. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-7345.1977.tb00114.x

Buchan, K.C., 2000. The Bahamas. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 41, 94–111.

https://doi.org/10.5089/9781498323307.002

- Burggren, W.W., McMahon, B.R., 1983. An anaysis of scaphognathite pumping performance in the crayfish Orconectes Virilis: Compensatory changes to acute and chronic hypoxia exposure. Physiol. Zool. 56, 309–318.
- Burridge, L., Weis, J.S., Cabello, F., Pizarro, J., Bostick, K., 2010. Chemical use in salmon aquaculture: A review of current practices and possible environmental effects. Aquaculture 306, 7–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2010.05.020
- Butler IV, M.J., Mojica, A.M., 2012. Herbivory by the Caribbean king crab on coral patch reefs. Mar. Biol. 159, 2697–2706. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-012-2027-1
- Butler, M., Cockcroft, A., MacDiarmid, A., Wahle, R., 2013. Panulirus argus. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2013: e.T169976A6697254 8235.

https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2011-1.RLTS.T169976A6697254.en

- Butler, M., Hunt, J., Herrnkind, W., Childress, M., Bertelsen, R., Sharp, W., Matthews, T., Field,
 J., Marshall, H., 1995. Cascading disturbances in Florida Bay, USA: cyanobacteria
 blooms, sponge mortality, and implications for juvenile spiny lobsters Panulirus argus.
 Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 129, 119–125. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps129119
- Butler, P.J., Taylor, E.W., McMahon, B.R., 1978. Respiratory and Circulatory Changes in the Lobster (Homarus Vulgaris) During Long Term Exposure to Moderate Hypoxia. J. Exp. Zool. 73, 131–146.

Cabello, F.C., 2004. Antibióticos y acuicultura en Chile: consecuencias para la salud humana y

animal. Rev. Med. Chil. 132, 1001–1006. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0034-

- Campos, N.H., Lagos, A.M., Bermúdez, A., Márquez, E., 2015. Estructura de la población del cangrejo rey Damithrax spinosissimus en el Caribe colombiano. Rev. la Acad. Colomb. Ciencias Exactas, Físicas y Nat. 39, 491. https://doi.org/10.18257/raccefyn.261
- Carl, C., Guenther, J., Sunde, L.M., 2011. Larval release and attachment modes of the hydroid Ectopleura larynx on aquaculture nets in Norway. Aquac. Res. 42, 1056–1060. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2010.02659.x
- Carmona-Suárez, C.A., 2003. Reproductive biology and relative growth in the spider crab Maja crispata (Crustacea: Brachyura: Majidae). Sci. Mar. 67, 75–80. https://doi.org/10.3989/scimar.2003.67n175
- Castell, J.D., Budson, S.D., 1974. Lobster Nutrition: The Effect on Homarus americanus of Dietary Protein Levels . J. Fish. Res. Board Canada 31, 1363–1370. https://doi.org/10.1139/f74-161
- Chilton, E.A., Armistead, C.E., Foy, R.J., 2011. The 2010 Eastern Bering Sea continental shelf bottom trawl survey: Results for commercial crab species, NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-AFSC-216.
- Chou, C.L., Haya, K., Paon, L.A., Moffatt, J.D., 2003. Metals in the Green Sea Urchin
 (Strongylocentrotus droebrachiensis) as an Indicator for the Near-Field Effects of
 Chemical Wastes from Salmon Aquaculture Sites in New. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.
 70, 948–956. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-003-0074-5
- Chou, C.L., Paon, L.A., Moffatt, J.D., Zwicker, B., 2000. Copper Contamination and Cadmium, Silver, and Zinc Concentrations in the Digestive Glands of American Lobster (Homarus americanus) from the Inner Bay of Fundy, Atlantic Canada. Bull. Environ. Contam.

Toxicol. 65, 470–477. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001280000148

- Clarke, S., 2004. Understanding pressures on fishery resources through trade statistics: A pilot study of four products in the Chinese dried seafood market. Fish Fish. 5, 53–74. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-2960.2004.00137.x
- Cobo, V.J., Alves, D.F.R., 2009. Relative growth and sexual maturity of the spider crab, Mithrax tortugae Rathbun, 1920 (Brachyura, Mithracidae) on a continental island off the southeastern Brazilian coast. Crustaceana 82, 1265–1273. https://doi.org/10.1163/001121609X12481627024490
- Cochrane, K.L., Chakalall, B., 2001. The spiny lobster fishery in the WECAFC region An approach to responsible fisheries management. Mar. Freshw. Res. 52, 1623–1631. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF01207
- Coen, L.D., 1988. Herbivory by crabs and the control of algal epibionts on Caribbean host corals. Oecologia 75, 198–203. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00378597
- Coman, G.J., Arnold, S.J., Peixoto, S., Crocos, P.J., Coman, F.E., Preston, N.P., 2006.
 Reproductive performance of reciprocally crossed wild-caught and tank-reared Penaeus monodon broodstock. Aquaculture 252, 372–384.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2005.07.028
- Conan, G.Y., Comeau, M., 1986. Functional Maturity and Terminal Molt of Male Snow Crab, Chionoecetes opilio. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 43, 1710–1719. https://doi.org/10.1139/f86-214
- Corgos, A., Freire, J., 2006. Morphometric and gonad maturity in the spider crab Maja brachydactyla: a comparison of methods for estimating size at maturity in species with determinate growth. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 63, 851–859.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.icesjms.2006.03.003

CRAB Project, 2007. European Best Practice in Aquaculture Biofouling [WWW Document]. www.crabproject.com. URL

http://www.crabproject.com/client/files/CRAB_Best_Practice_Guidelines.pdf (accessed 2.27.20).

- Crawford, D.R., De Smidt, W.J.J., 1922. The Spiny Lobster, Panulirus argus, of Southern Florida: Its Natural History and Utilization. Bull. Bur. Fish. 38.
- Creswell, L., 2007. The History of Aquaculture in the Caribbean through Presentations from 1948 2007. Proc. 60th Gulf Caribb. Fish. Inst. 2007–2009.
- Creswell, R., Tunberg, B., Winfree, R., 1989. Mariculture of the Caribbean King Crab, Mithrax spinosissimus (Lamarck), in the Caribbean Region: Progress and Constraints. Proc. 39th Gulf Caribb. Fish. Inst. 469-476.
- Cribb, T.H., Adlard, R.D., Hayward, C.J., Bott, N.J., Ellis, D., Evans, D., Nowak, B.F., 2011. The life cycle of Cardicola forsteri (Trematoda: Aporocotylidae), a pathogen of ranched southern bluefin tuna, Thunnus maccoyi. Int. J. Parasitol. 41, 861–870. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpara.2011.03.011
- Cronin, E.R., Cheshire, A.C., Clarke, S.M., Melville, A.J., 1999. An investigation into the composition, biomass and oxygen budget of the fouling community on a tuna aquaculture farm. Biofouling 13, 279–299.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08927019909378386

- Cushion, N.M., Sullivan-Sealey, K., 2008. Landings, Effort and Socio-economics of a Small Scale Commercial Fishery in The Bahamas. Proc. 60th Gulf Caribb. Fish. Inst. 162–166.
- Daborn, G.R., 1975. Life History and Energy Relations of the Giant Fairy Shrimp Branchinecta gigas Lynch 1937 (Crustacea: Anostraca). Ecology 56, 1025–1039.

Dahlgren, C.P., Posey, M.H., Hulbert, A.W., 1999. The effects of bioturbation on the infaunal

community adjacent to an offshore hardbottom reef. Bull. Mar. Sci. 64, 21–34.

- Davidson, K., Miller, P., Wilding, T.A., Shutler, J., Bresnan, E., Kennington, K., Swan, S., 2009. A large and prolonged bloom of Karenia mikimotoi in Scottish waters in 2006. Harmful Algae 8, 349–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hal.2008.07.007
- Davis, G.E., Dodrill, J.W., 1989. Recreational Fishery and Population Dynamics of Spiny Lobsters, *Panulirus argus*, in Florida Bay, Everglades National Park, 1977-1980. Bull. Mar. Sci. 44, 78–88.
- De Nys, R., Guenther, J., 2009. The impact and control of biofouling in marine finfish aquaculture, in: Hellio, C., Yebra, D. (Eds.), Advances in Marine Antifouling Coatings and Technologies. Elsevier, pp. 177–221. https://doi.org/10.1533/9781845696313.1.177
- de Nys, R., Ison, O., 2004. Evaluation of antifouling products developed for the Australian pearl industry. James Cook University.
- Deady, S., Varian, S.J.A., Fives, J.M., 1995. The use of cleaner-fish to control sea lice on two Irish salmon (Salmo salar) farms with particular reference to wrasse behaviour in salmon cages. Aquaculture 131, 73–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(94)00331-H
- Denny, C.M., 2008. Development of a method to reduce the spread of the ascidian Didemnum vexillum with aquaculture transfers. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 65, 805–810. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsn039
- Donaldson, W.E., Donaldson, W.K., 1992. A review of the history and justification for size limits in Alaskan king, Tanner, and snow crab fisheries. Fish. Res. Bull. 92, 1–33.
- Dumont, C.P., Urriago, J.D., Abarca, A., Gaymer, C.F., Thiel, M., 2009. The native rock shrimp Rhynchocinetes typus as a biological control of fouling in suspended scallop cultures. Aquaculture 292, 74–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2009.03.044

- Durand, F., Devillers, N., Lallier, F.H., Regnault, M., 2000. Nitrogen excretion and changes in blood components during emersion of the subtidal spider crab Maia squinado (L.).
 Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 127, 259–271.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S1095-6433(00)00253-1
- Elner, R.W., 1980. The influence of temperature, sex and chela size in the foraging strategy of the shore crab, Carcinus maenas (L.). Mar. Behav. Physiol. 7, 15–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/10236248009386968
- Enright, C., Krailo, D., Staples, L., Smith, M., Vaughan, C., Ward, D., Gaul, P., Borgese, E., 1983. Biological control of fouling algae in oyster aquaculture. J. Shelfish Res. 3, 41–44.
- FAO, 2018. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2018, The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture. UN, Rome. https://doi.org/10.18356/8d6ea4b6-en
- FAO, 2016. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2016, The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture. UN, Rome. https://doi.org/10.18356/8e4e0ebf-en
- Fetzner, J.W., Sheehan, R.J., Seeb, L.W., 1997. Genetic implications of broodstock selection for crayfish aquaculture in the Midwestern United States. Aquaculture 154, 39–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(97)00026-4
- Fitridge, I., Dempster, T., Guenther, J., de Nys, R., 2012. The impact and control of biofouling in marine aquaculture: a review. Biofouling 28, 649–669. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927014.2012.700478
- Floerl, O., Sunde, L., Bloecher, N., 2016. Potential environmental risks associated with biofouling management in salmon aquaculture. Aquac. Environ. Interact. 8, 407–417. https://doi.org/10.3354/aei00187
- Francis, F.T., Filbee-Dexter, K., Yan, H.F., Côté, I.M., 2019. Invertebrate herbivores: Overlooked allies in the recovery of degraded coral reefs? Glob. Ecol. Conserv. 17,

e00593. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2019.e00593

- Gansel, L.C., McClimans, T.A., Myrhaug, D., 2012. Flow Around the Free Bottom of Fish Cages in a Uniform Flow With and Without Fouling. J. Offshore Mech. Arct. Eng. 134. https://doi.org/10.1115/1.4003695
- Geffen, A., 1979. Rotating fish cages to prevent fouling. Aquaculture 16, 83–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(79)90176-5
- Gentry, R.R., Lester, S.E., Kappel, C. V., White, C., Bell, T.W., Stevens, J., Gaines, S.D., 2017. Offshore aquaculture: Spatial planning principles for sustainable development. Ecol. Evol. 7, 733–743. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2637
- Gerhart, S.D., Bert, T.M., 2008. Life-history Aspects of Stone Crabs (Genus Menippe): Size at Maturity, Growth, and Age. J. Crustac. Biol. 28, 252–261. https://doi.org/10.1651/0278-0372(2008)028[0252:laoscg]2.0.co;2
- González-Gurriarán, E., Freire, J., Parapar, J., Sampedro, M.P., Urcera, M., 1995. Growth at moult and moulting seasonality of the spider crab, Maja squinado (Herbst) (Decapoda: Majidae) in experimental conditions: implications for juvenile life history. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 189, 183–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(95)00023-K
- Gonzalez-Pisani, X., Baron, P.J., Lopez Greco, L.S., 2017. Integrated analysis of sexual maturation through successive growth instars in the spider crab Leurocyclus tuberculosus (Decapoda: Majoidea). Can. J. Zool. 95, 473–483.

https://doi.org/10.1139/cjz-2016-0034

Gormican, S.J., 1989. Water circulation dissolved oxygen and ammonia concentrations in fish net-cages. PhD Thesis. University of British Columbia.

https://doi.org/https://open.library.ubc.ca/collections/ubctheses/831/items/1.009747

- Grant, S.M., 2003. Mortality of snow crab discarded in Newfoundland and Labrador's trap fishery: At-sea experiments on the effect of drop height and air exposure duration. Can. Tech. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 2481, 28.
- Greenaway, P., Linton, S.M., 1995. Assimilation and Food Retention Time Dietary in the Herbivorous Terrestrial Crab Gecarcoidea natalis. Physiol. Zool. 68, 1006–1028. https://doi.org/10.1086/physzool.68.6.30163791
- Guenther, J., Fitridge, I., Misimi, E., 2011. Potential antifouling strategies for marine finfish aquaculture: the effects of physical and chemical treatments on the settlement and survival of the hydroid Ectopleura larynx. Biofouling 27, 1033–1042. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927014.2011.627092
- Guenther, J., Misimi, E., Sunde, L.M., 2010. The development of biofouling, particularly the hydroid Ectopleura larynx, on commercial salmon cage nets in Mid-Norway. Aquaculture 300, 120–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2010.01.005
- Guzman, H.M., Tewfik, A., 2004. Population characteristics and co-occurrence of three exploited decapods (Panulirus argus, P. guttatus and Mithrax spinosissimus) in Bocas del Toro, Panama. J. Shelfish Res. 23, 575–580.
- Hagerman, L., 1983. Haemocyanin concentration of juvenile lobsters (Homarus gammarus) in relation to moulting cycle and feeding conditions. Mar. Biol. 77, 11–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00393205
- Hall, N.G., Smith, K.D., De Lestang, S., Potter, I.C., 2006. Does the largest chela of the males of three crab species undergo an allometric change that can be used to determine morphometric maturity? ICES J. Mar. Sci. 63, 140–150.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.icesjms.2005.07.007

Halwart, M., Soto, D., Arthur, J.R., 2007. Cage aquaculture - Regional reviews and global

overview, FAO Fisheries Technical Paper. Rome.

- Hankin, D.G., Butler, T.H., Wild, P.W., Xue, Q.-L., 1997. Does intense fishing on males impair mating success of female Dungeness crabs? Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 54, 655–669. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-54-3-655
- Harlioğlu, M.M., Holdich, D.M., 2001. Meat yields in the introduced freshwater crayfish, Pacifastacus leniusculus (dana) and Astacus leptodactylus Eschscholtz, from British waters. Aquac. Res. 32, 411–417. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2109.2001.00577.x

Hartnoll, R.G., 1983. Strategies of crustacean growth. Mem. Aust. Museum 18, 121–131.

- Hartnoll, R.G., 1978. The Determination of Relative Growth in Crustacea. Crustaceana 34, 281–293. https://doi.org/https://doi-org.qe2a-proxy.mun.ca/10.1163/156854078X00844
- Hartnoll, R.G., 1969. Mating in the Brachyura. Crustaceana 16, 161–181.
- Hartnoll, R.G., Bryant, A.D., 1990. Size-Frequency Distributions in Decapod Crustacea: The Quick, the Dead, and the Cast-Offs. J. Crustac. Biol. 10, 14. https://doi.org/10.2307/1548665
- Hartnoll, R.G., Bryant, A.D., Gould, P., 1993. Size Distribution in Spider Crab Populations: Spatial and Temporal Variation. J. Crustac. Biol. 13, 647–655.
- Hazlett, B., Rittschof, D., 1975. Daily movements and home range in mithrax spinosissimus (Majidae, Decapoda). Mar. Behav. Physiol. 3, 101–118.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10236247509378500

- Hidu, H., Conary, C., Chapman, S.R., 1981. Suspended culture of oysters: Biological fouling control. Aquaculture 22, 189–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(81)90146-0
- Hobday, A.J., Tegner, M.J., Haaker, P.L., 2000. Over-exploitation of a broadcast spawning marine invertebrate: Decline of the white abalone. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 10, 493–514.
https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1012274101311

- Hodson, S.L., Lewis, T.E., Burke, C.M., 1997. Biofouling of fish-cage netting: Efficacy and problems of in situ cleaning. Aquaculture 152, 77–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(97)00007-0
- Hold, N., Murray, L.G., Pantin, J.R., Haig, J.A., Hinz, H., Kaiser, M.J., 2015. Video capture of crustacean fisheries data as an alternative to on-board observers. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 72, 1811–1821. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsv030
- Huang, J.-R., Lin, W.-T., Huang, R., Lin, C.-Y., Wu, J.-K., 2010. Marine biofouling inhibition by polyurethane conductive coatings used for fishing net. J. Coatings Technol. Res. 7, 111–117. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11998-008-9151-3
- Hurtado-Alarcón, J.C., Campos Campos, N.H., Bermúdez Tobón, A., Márquez, E.J., 2018.
 Phylogeographic patterns in Maguimithrax spinosissimus (Decapoda: Mithracidae) from
 Colombian Caribbean. New Zeal. J. Mar. Freshw. Res. 52, 118–137.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00288330.2017.1353528
- Hyland, S.J., Hill, B.J., Lee, C.P., 1984. Movement within and between different habitats by the portunid crab Scylla serrata. Mar. Biol. 80, 57–61. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00393128
- Jang, I., Meng, X., Seo, H., Cho, Y., Kim, B., Ayyaru, G., Kim, J., 2009. A TaqMan real-time PCR assay for quantifying white spot syndrome virus (WSSV) infections in wild broodstock and hatchery-reared postlarvae of fl eshy shrimp , Fenneropenaeus chinensis. Aquaculture 287, 40–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.10.038
- Jensen, Ø., Dempster, T., Thorstad, E.B., Uglem, I., Fredheim, A., 2010. Escapes of fishes from Norwegian sea-cage aquaculture: Causes, consequences and prevention. Aquac. Environ. Interact. 1, 71–83. https://doi.org/10.3354/aei00008

- Jones, D.A., Kumlu, M., Le Vay, L., Fletcher, D.J., 1997. The digestive physiology of herbivorous, omnivorous and carnivorous crustacean larvae: A review. Aquaculture 155, 285–295. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(97)00129-4
- Juanes, F., Smith, L.D., 1995. The ecological consequences of limb damage and loss in decapod crustaceans: a review and prospectus. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 193, 197–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(95)00118-2
- Kaczynski, V.M., Fluharty, D.L., 2002. European policies in West Africa: Who benefits from fisheries agreements? Mar. Policy 26, 75–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0308-597X(01)00039-2
- Kemp, J.O.G., Britz, P.J., 2008. The effect of temperature on the growth, survival and food consumption of the east coast rock lobster Panulirus homarus rubellus. Aquaculture 280, 227–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.05.002
- Kent, M., 1990. Netpen liver disease (NLD) of salmonid fishes reared in sea water: species susceptibility, recovery, and probable cause. Dis. Aquat. Organ. 8, 21–28. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao008021
- Kent, M.L., Margolis, L., Fournie, J.W., 1991. A New Eye Disease in Pen-Reared Chinook Salmon Caused by Metacestodes of Gilquinia squali (Trypanorhyncha). J. Aquat. Anim. Health 3, 134–140. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-

8667(1991)003<0134:ANEDIP>2.3.CO;2

Kilada, R., Ibrahim, N.K., 2016. Preliminary investigation of direct age determination using band counts in the gastric mill of the blue swimmer crab (Portunus pelagicus Linnaeus, 1758) in two salt-water lakes in the Eastern Mediterranean. J. Crustac. Biol. 36, 119–128. https://doi.org/10.1163/1937240X-00002392

Kilada, R., Sainte-Marie, B., Rochette, R., Davis, N., Vanier, C., Campana, S., Gillanders, B.,

2012. Direct determination of age in shrimps, crabs, and lobsters. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 69, 1728–1733. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2012-0254

- Klompmaker, A., Portell, R.W., Klier, A.T., Prueter, V., Tucker, A.L., 2015. Spider crabs of the Western Atlantic with special reference to fossil and some modern Mithracidae 1–36. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.1301
- Kruse, G.H., Hicks, D., Murphy, M.C., 1994. Handling increases mortality of softshell Dungeness crabs returned to the sea. Alaska Fish. Res. Bull. 1, 1–9.
- Kutti, L., 2008. Regional Impact of Organic Loading from a Salmonid Farm: Dispersal, Sedimentation Rates and Benthic Fauna Response. PhD Thesis. University of Bergen.
- Kuwa, M., 1984. Fouling organisms on floating cage of wire netting and the removal by Oplegnathus sp. cultured with other marine fish. Bull Jap Soc Sci Fish 50, 1635–1640.
- Kvalsund, M., Jónsdóttir, I.G., Guðlaugsdóttir, A., Jónasson, J.P., Farestveit, E., Gíslason, Ó.S.,
 Burmeister, A., Agnalt, A.-L., Hammeken Arboe, N., Kilada, R., Bjarnason, S., Søvik, G.,
 Stansbury, D., Guðmundsdóttir, D., Sheridan, M., 2015. Feasibility of using growth band
 counts in age determination of four crustacean species in the Northern Atlantic. J.
 Crustac. Biol. 35, 499–503. https://doi.org/10.1163/1937240X-00002353
- Kvenseth, P.G., 1996. Large-scale use of wrasse to control sea lice and net fouling in salmon farms in Norway, in: Sayer, M.D.J., Treasurer, J.W., Costello, M.J. (Eds.), Wrasse: Biology and Use in Aquaculture. Fishing News Books, Oxford, UK, pp. 196–203.
- Lader, P., Dempster, T., Fredheim, A., Jensen, Ø., 2008. Current induced net deformations in full-scale sea-cages for Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Aquac. Eng. 38, 52–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaeng.2007.11.001
- Lane, A., Willemsen, P., 2004. Collaborative effort looks into biofouling. Fish Farming Int. 44, 34–35.

- Laufer, H., Sagi, A., Ahl, J.S.B., 1994. Alternate mating strategies of polymorphic males of Libinia emarginata appear to depend on methyl farnesoate. Invertebr. Reprod. Dev. 26, 41–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/07924259.1994.9672399
- Le Vay, L., Jones, D.A., Puello-Cruz, A.C., Sangha, R.S., Ngamphongsai, C., 2001. Digestion in relation to feeding strategies exhibited by crustacean larvae. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. -A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 128, 621–628. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1095-6433(00)00339-1
- Le Vay, L., Ut, V.N., Walton, M., 2007. Population ecology of the mud crab Scylla paramamosain (Estampador) in an estuarine mangrove system; a mark-recapture study. Mar. Biol. 151, 1127–1135. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-006-0553-4
- LeBlanc, N., Davidson, J., Tremblay, R., McNiven, M., Landry, T., 2007. The effect of antifouling treatments for the clubbed tunicate on the blue mussel, Mytilus edulis. Aquaculture 264, 205–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2006.12.027
- Leland, J.C., Coughran, J., Bucher, D.J., 2011. A Preliminary Investigation Into The Potential Value Of Gastric Mills For Ageing Crustaceans, in: Asakura, A. (Ed.), New Frontiers in Crustacean Biology. Brill, pp. 57–68. https://doi.org/10.1163/ej.9789004174252.i-354.52
- Lim, C.Y., Yoo, Y.H., Sidharthan, M., Ma, C.W., Bang, I.C., Kim, J.M., Lee, K.S., Park, N.S., Shin, H.W., 2006. Effects of copper (I) oxide on growth and biochemical compositions of two marine microalgae. J. Environ. Biol. 27, 461–466.
- Linton, S.M., Greenaway, P., 2007. A review of feeding and nutrition of herbivorous land
 crabs: Adaptations to low quality plant diets. J. Comp. Physiol. B Biochem. Syst. Environ.
 Physiol. 177, 269–286. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00360-006-0138-z
- Littler, M.M., Littler, D.S., Brooks, B.L., 2006. Harmful algae on tropical coral reefs: Bottom-up eutrophication and top-down herbivory. Harmful Algae 5, 565–585.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hal.2005.11.003

Lodeiros, C., García, N., 2004. The use of sea urchins to control fouling during suspended culture of bivalves. Aquaculture 231, 293–298.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2003.10.022

- Lodeiros, C., Soria, G., Valentich-Scott, P., Munguía-Vega, A., Cabrera, J.S., Cudney-Bueno, R., Loor, A., Márquez, A., Sonnenholzner, S., 2016. Spondylids of Eastern Pacific Ocean. J. Shellfish Res. 35, 279–293. https://doi.org/10.2983/035.035.0203
- Lorenzon, S., Martinis, M., Ferrero, E.A., 2011. Ecological Relevance of Hemolymph Total Protein Concentration in Seven Unrelated Crustacean Species from Different Habitats Measured Predictively by a Density-Salinity Refractometer. J. Mar. Biol. 2011, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/153654
- Madin, J., Chong, V.C., Hartstein, N.D., 2010. Effects of water flow velocity and fish culture on net biofouling in fish cages. Aquac. Res. 41, 602–617. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2010.02567.x
- McGaw, I.J., 2008. Gastric processing in the Dungeness crab, Cancer magister, during hypoxia. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 150, 458–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2008.05.007
- McGaw, I.J., Penney, C.M., 2014. Effect of meal type on specific dynamic action in the green shore crab, Carcinus maenas. J. Comp. Physiol. B 184, 425–436. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00360-014-0812-5
- McGinnity, P., Prodöhl, P., Ferguson, A., Hynes, R., Maoiléidigh, N.Ó., Baker, N., Cotter, D., O'Hea, B., Cooke, D., Rogan, G., Taggart, J., Cross, T., 2003. Fitness reduction and potential extinction of wild populations of Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar, as a result of interactions with escaped farm salmon. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 270, 2443–2450.

https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2003.2520

- McLeese, D.W., 1972. Initial Experiments on Growth of the American Lobster in Captivity, Fisheries Research Board of Canada Technical Report No. 320. St. Andrews, NB.
- Medley, P.A.H., Gittens, L., 2012. Bahamas spiny lobster stock assessment. Dep. Mar. Resour. Nassau, Bahamas.
- Mendo, T., Simon, C., Green, B., Gardner, C., 2016. Spatial variability in condition of southern rock lobsters (Jasus edwardsii) at the start of the Tasmanian fishing season. PLoS One 11, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0166343
- Meng, X., Jang, I., Seo, H., Cho, Y., 2009. White spot syndrome virus quanti fi cation in blue crab Portunus trituberculatus hatchery-produced larvae and wild populations by TaqMan real-time PCR, with an emphasis on the relationship between viral infection and crab health. Aquaculture 291, 18–22.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2009.02.003

- Mente, E., Houlihan, D.F., 2002. How food consumption and diet quality can influence the growth of tropical shrimps and lobsters. Ann. Marie Curie Fellowsh. Assoc. II, http://www.mariecurie.org/annals/.
- Miller, B., 1998. An assessment of sediment copper and zinc concentrations at marine caged fish farms in SEPA West Region. SEPA.
- Miller, R.J., 1990. Effectiveness of Crab and Lobster Traps. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 47, 1228– 1251. https://doi.org/10.1139/f90-143
- Millikin, M.R., Williams, A.B., 1984. Synopsis of Biological Data on the Blue Crab, Callinectes sapidus Rathbun. FAO Fish. Synopsis No. 138.
- Mochida, K., Ito, K., Harino, H., Kakuno, A., Fujii, K., 2006. Acute toxicity of pyrithione antifouling biocides and joint toxicity with copper to red sea bream (Pagrus major) and

toy shrimp (Heptacarpus futilirostris). Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 25, 3058–3064.

- Morris, S., Oliver, S., 1999. Circulatory, respiratory and metabolic response to emersion and low temperature of Jasus edwardsii: Simulation studies of commercial shipping methods. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. - A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 122, 299–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1095-6433(99)00003-3
- Morte, J.C., 2018. Fouling Management in Cage Aquaculture. PhD Thesis. Universitat Autonoma de Barcelona.
- Moss, B., Marsland, A., 1976. Regeneration of Enteromorpha. Br. Phycol. J. 11, 309–313. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071617600650361
- Munro, J.L., 1983. Caribbean Coral Reef Fishery Resources, ICLARM Studies and Reviews. International Center for Living Aquatic Resources Management, Manila, Philippines.
- Nash, C.E., 2003. Interactions of Atlantic salmon in the Pacific Northwest. VI. A synopsis of the risk and uncertainty. Fish. Res. 62, 339–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-7836(03)00068-7
- Nash, C.E., Burbridge, P.R., Volkman, J.K. (Eds.), 2005. Guidelines for Ecological Risk Assessment of Marine Fish Aquaculture, NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-NWFSC-71. U.S. Dept. Commer.
- Nguyen, T.T.T., 2015. Genetic considerations in culture-based fisheries development in Asia. Perspect. Cult. Fish. Dev. Asia 39–43.
- Nordhaus, I., 2004. Feeding ecology of the semi-terrestrial crab Ucides cordatus cordatus (Decapoda: Brachyura) in a mangrove forest in northern Brazil. PhD Thesis. University of Bremen.
- Oliva, M., Garrido, M. del C., Pérez, E., de Canales, M.L.G., 2007. Evaluation of acute copper toxicity during early life stages of gilthead seabream, Sparus aurata. J. Environ. Sci. Heal.

Part A 42, 525–533. https://doi.org/10.1080/10934520701189760

- Oliver, M.D., MacDiarmid, A.B., 2001. Blood refractive index and ratio of weight to carapace length as indices of nutritional condition in juvenile rock lobsters (Jasus edwardsii). Mar. Freshw. Res. 52, 1395–1400. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF01030
- Paterson, B.D., Spanoghe, P.T., 1997. Stress indicators in marine decapod crustaceans, with particular reference to the grading of western rock lobsters (Panulirus cygnus) during commercial handling. Mar. Freshw. Res. 48, 829-834. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF97137
- Paul, A.J., 1992. A Review of Size at Maturity in Male Tanner (Chionoecetes bairdi) and King
 (Paralithodes camtschaticus) Crabs and the Methods Used to Determine Maturity.
 Integr. Comp. Biol. 32, 534–540.
- Pauly, D., Christensen, V., Dalsgaard, J., Froese, R., Torres, F., 1998. Fishing down marine food webs. Science (80-.). 279, 860–863. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.279.5352.860
- Pauly, D., Christensen, V., Guénette, S., Pitcher, T.J., Sumaila, U.R., Walters, C.J., Watson, R.,
 Zeller, D., 2002. Towards sustainability in world fisheries. Nature 418, 689–695.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01017
- Penn, J.W., Caputi, N., de Lestang, S., Johnston, D., Kangas, M., Bopp, J., 2019. Crustacean
 Fisheries, in: Cochran, J.K., Bokuniewicz, H.J., Yager, P.L. (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Ocean
 Sciences. Elsevier, pp. 324–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.09577-4
- Peterson, C.H., Grabowski, J.H., Powers, S.P., 2003. Estimated enhancement of fish
 production resulting from restoring oyster reef habitat: Quantitative valuation. Mar.
 Ecol. Prog. Ser. 264, 249–264. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps264249
- Piola, R.F., Dunmore, R.A., Forrest, B.M., 2009. Assessing the efficacy of spray-delivered 'eco-friendly' chemicals for the control and eradication of marine fouling pests. Biofouling 26, 187–203. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927010903428029

- Powell, A., Treasurer, J.W., Pooley, C.L., Keay, A.J., Lloyd, R., Imsland, A.K., Garcia de Leaniz, C., 2018. Use of lumpfish for sea-lice control in salmon farming: challenges and opportunities. Rev. Aquac. 10, 683–702. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12194
- Price, C.S., Morris, J.A.J., 2013. Marine Cage Culture & The Environment. NOAA Tech. Memo. NOS NCCOS 164 158.
- Qian, P.Y., Lau, S.C.K., Dahms, H.U., Dobretsov, S., Harder, T., 2007. Marine biofilms as mediators of colonization by marine macroorganisms: Implications for antifouling and aquaculture. Mar. Biotechnol. 9, 399–410. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10126-007-9001-9
- Ramsay, K., Kaiser, M.J., Hughes, R.N., 1997. A field study of intraspecific competition for food in hermit crabs (Pagurus bernhardus). Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 44, 213–220. https://doi.org/10.1006/ecss.1996.0213
- Rayner, G., McGaw, I.J., 2019. Effects of the invasive green crab (Carcinus maenas) on American lobster (Homarus americanus): Food acquisition and trapping behaviour. J. Sea Res. 144, 95–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seares.2018.10.004
- Reid, G.K., Liutkus, M., Robinson, S.M.C., Chopin, T.R., Blair, T., Lander, T., Mullen, J., Page, F.,
 Moccia, R.D., 2009. A review of the biophysical properties of salmonid faeces:
 Implications for aquaculture waste dispersal models and integrated multi-trophic
 aquaculture. Aquac. Res. 40, 257–273. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.13652109.2008.02065.x
- Robertson, R.F., Meagor, J., Taylor, E.W., 2002. Specific Dynamic Action in the Shore Crab, Carcinus maenas (L.), in Relation to Acclimation Temperature and to the Onset of the Emersion Response. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 75, 350–359.

https://doi.org/10.1086/342801

Robertson, W.D., Piper, S.E., 1991. Population estimates of the crab Scylla serrata (Forskål,

1755) (Decapoda: Portunidae) in two closed estuaries in Natal, South Africa, from markrecapture methods. South African J. Mar. Sci. 11, 193–202. https://doi.org/10.2989/025776191784287691

- Rose, E., Masonjones, H.D., Jones, A.G., 2016. A DNA-based assessment of the phylogenetic position of a morphologically distinct, anchialine-lake-restricted seahorse. J. Hered. 107, 553–558. https://doi.org/10.1093/jhered/esw048
- Ross, K.A., Thorpe, J.P., Brand, A.R., 2004. Biological control of fouling in suspended scallop cultivation. Aquaculture 229, 99–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(03)00328-4
- Rubino, M.C., Stoffle, R.W., 1990. Who Will Control the Blue Revolution? Economic and Social Feasibility of Caribbean Crab Mariculture. Hum. Organ. 49, 386–394.
- Sainte-Marie, B., Raymond, S., Brethes, J.C., 1995. Growth and maturation of the benthic stages of male snow crab, Chionoecetes opilio (Brachyura: Majidae). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 52, 903–924. https://doi.org/10.1139/f95-091
- Sampedro, M.P., Gonzalez-Gurriaran, E., Freire, J., Muino, R., 1999. Morphometry and Sexual Maturity in the Spider Crab *Maja squinado* (Decapoda: Majidae) in Galicia, Spain.. J. Crustac. Biol. 19, 578–592.
- Sánchez-Paz, A., García-Carreño, F., Hernández-López, J., Muhlia-Almazán, A., Yepiz-Plascencia, G., 2007. Effect of short-term starvation on hepatopancreas and plasma energy reserves of the Pacific white shrimp (Litopenaeus vannamei). J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 340, 184–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2006.09.006
- Sandberg, M.G., Olafsen, T., 2006. Overview of laws and regulations regarding antifouling methods in fish farming. SINTEF Fish. Aquac. Rep. SFH80 A 66001.
- Sarkis, S., Couturier, C., Cogswell, A., 2006. Reproduction and Spawning in Calico Scallops, Argopecten Gibbus, From Bermuda. J. Shellfish Res. 25, 503–508.

https://doi.org/10.2983/0730-8000(2006)25[503:RASICS]2.0.CO;2

- Sastry, A.N., 1983. Ecological Aspects of Reproduction, in: Vernberg, F.J., Vernberg, W.B. (Eds.), The Biology of Crustacea Vol. 8: Environmental Adaptations. Academic Press, pp. 179–270.
- Serrano Jr., A.E., 2012. Changes in gut evacuation time of larval mud crab, *Scylla serrata* (Crustacea: Portunidae) fed artificial plankton or live food. Aquac. Aquarium, Conserv. Legis. 5, 240–248.
- Shelley, C., Lovatelli, A., 2011. Mud Crab Aquaculture: A Practical Manual. FAO Fish. Aquac. Tech. Pap. 567.
- Sheridan, M., O'Connor, I., 2018. Evidence of complete gastric mill ossicle loss at ecdysis in the European green crab Carcinus maenas (Linnaeus, 1758) (Decapoda: Brachyura: Carcinidae). J. Crustac. Biol. 38, 435–442. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcbiol/ruy045
- Sheridan, M., O'Connor, I., Henderson, A.C., 2016. Investigating the effect of molting on gastric mill structure in Norway lobster (Nephrops norvegicus) and its potential as a direct ageing tool. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 484, 16–22.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2016.08.005

- Sherman, K.D., Shultz, A.D., Dahlgren, C.P., Thomas, C., Brooks, E., Brooks, A., Brumbaugh,
 D.R., Gittens, L., Murchie, K.J., 2018. Contemporary and emerging fisheries in The
 Bahamas—Conservation and management challenges, achievements and future
 directions. Fish. Manag. Ecol. 25, 319–331. https://doi.org/10.1111/fme.12299
- Shuster, S.M., 2008. The expression of crustacean mating strategies, in: Oliveira, R.F., Taborsky, M., Brockmann, H.J. (Eds.), Alternative Reproductive Tactics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 224–250.

https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511542602.010

- Simon, C., Fitzgibbon, Q.P., Battison, A., Carter, C.G., Battaglene, S.C., 2015. Bioenergetics of nutrient reserves and metabolism in spiny lobster juveniles Sagmariasus verreauxi:
 Predicting nutritional condition from hemolymph biochemistry. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 88, 266–283. https://doi.org/10.1086/681000
- Simon, C, Mendo, T., Green, B., Gardner, C., 2015. Measuring condition of lobsters to improve management of harvesting around periods of high transport mortality, Project No. 2014/726. University of Tasmania.
- Simon, C.J., 2009. Feed intake and its relation to foregut capacity in juvenile spiny lobster, Jasus edwardsii. New Zeal. J. Mar. Freshw. Res. 43, 195–203. https://doi.org/10.1080/00288330909509993
- Simon, C.J., Jeffs, A., 2008. Feeding and gut evacuation of cultured juvenile spiny lobsters, Jasus edwardsii. Aquaculture 280, 211–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.05.019
- Simpson, L.A., Ambrosio, L.J., Baeza, J.A., 2016. Sexual Dimorphism and Allometric Growth in the Enigmatic Pygmy Crab *Petramithrax pygmaeus* (Bell, 1836) (Decapoda: Brachyura: Mithracidae), with a Formal Test of Rensch's Rule in Spider Crabs (Superfamily: Majoidea). J. Crustac. Biol. 36, 792–803. https://doi.org/10.1163/1937240X-00002486
- Somerton, D.A., 1980. A computer technique for estimating the size of sexual maturity in crabs. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 37, 1488–1494. https://doi.org/10.1139/f80-192
- Spadaro, A.J., 2014. Caribbean Coral Reef Restoration: A Brief Review and Concept Proposal of a New Method. Proc. 67th Gulf Caribb. Fish. Inst. 7–10.
- Speed, S.R., Baldwin, J., Wong, R.J., Wells, R.M.G., 2001. Metabolic characteristics of muscles in the spiny lobster, Jasus edwardsii, and responses to emersion during simulated live transport. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. - B Biochem. Mol. Biol. 128, 435–444.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S1096-4959(00)00340-7

Spicer, J.I., Hill, A.D., Taylor, A.C., Strang, R.H.C., 1990. Effect of aerial exposure on concentrations of selected metabolites in blood of the Norwegian lobster Nephrops norvegicus (Crustacea: Nephropidae). Mar. Biol. 105, 129–135.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01344278

- Steen, R., Ski, S., 2014. Video-surveillance system for remote long-term in situ observations: Recording diel cavity use and behaviour of wild European lobsters (Homarus gammarus). Mar. Freshw. Res. 65, 1094–1101. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF13139
- Steneck, R.S., Dethier, M.N., 1994. A Functional Group Approach to the Structure of Algal-Dominated Communities. Oikos 69, 476. https://doi.org/10.2307/3545860
- Sterling, A.M., Cross, S.F., Pearce, C.M., 2016. Co-culturing green sea urchins
 (Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis) with mussels (Mytilus spp.) to control biofouling at an integrated multi-trophic aquaculture site. Aquaculture 464, 253–261.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2016.06.010
- Stevens, B.G., 2002. Survival of Tanner crabs tagged with Floy tags in the laboratory, in: Univ. of Alaska, Alaska Sea Grant, AK-SG-02-01. pp. 551–559. https://doi.org/10.4027/ccwrbme.2002.40
- Stewart, J.E., Horner, G.W., Arie, B., 1972. Effects of Temperature, Food, and Starvation on Several Physiological Parameters of the Lobster Homarus americanus. J. Fish. Res. Board Canada 29, 439–442. https://doi.org/10.1139/f72-072
- Stoner, A.W., Davis, M.H., Kough, A.S., 2018. Relationships between Fishing Pressure and
 Stock Structure in Queen Conch (Lobatus gigas) Populations: Synthesis of Long-Term
 Surveys and Evidence for Overfishing in The Bahamas . Rev. Fish. Sci. Aquac. 1–21.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/23308249.2018.1480008

Sutterlin, A.M., Merrill, S.P., 1978. Norwegian Salmonid Farming.

- Swift, M.R., Fredriksson, D.W., Unrein, A., Fullerton, B., Patursson, O., Baldwin, K., 2006. Drag force acting on biofouled net panels. Aquac. Eng. 35, 292–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaeng.2006.03.002
- Tamburello, N., Côté, I.M., 2015. Movement ecology of Indo-Pacific lionfish on Caribbean coral reefs and its implications for invasion dynamics. Biol. Invasions 17, 1639–1653. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-014-0822-y
- Tavares, C.P. dos S., Silva, U.A.T., Pereira, L.A., Ostrensky, A., 2018. Systems and techniques used in the culture of soft-shell swimming crabs. Rev. Aquac. 10, 913–923. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12207
- Taylor, D.M., Hoenig, J.M., 1991. Effect of Tag Anchor Location on Retention/Survival through Molt in Male Snow Crabs Chionoecetes opilio. Fish. Bull. 89, 325–329.
- Taylor, E.W., 1982. Control and Co-ordination of Ventilation and Circulation in Crustaceans: Responses to Hypoxia And Exercise. J. Exp. Biol. 100, 289–319.
- Tewfik, A., Guzman, H.M., 2003. Shallow-water distribution and population characteristics of Strombus gigas and S. costatus (Gastropoda: Strombidae) in Bocas del Toro, Panama. J. Shelfish Res. 22, 789–794.
- Thomas, L.R., Clavelle, T., Klinger, D.H., Lester, S.E., 2019. The ecological and economic potential for offshore mariculture in the Caribbean. Nat. Sustain. 2, 62–70. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-018-0205-y
- Thomas, K. V., Brooks, S., 2010. The environmental fate and effects of antifouling paint biocides. Biofouling 26, 73–88. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08927010903216564

Thompson, K.R., Muzinic, L.A., Yancey, D.H., Webster, C.D., Rouse, D.B., Xiong, Y., 2005.

Growth, Processing Measurements, Tail Meat Yield, and Tail Meat Proximate Composition of Male and Female Australian Red Claw Crayfish, Cherax quadricarinatus , Stocked into Earthen Ponds. J. Appl. Aquac. 16, 117–129.

https://doi.org/10.1300/j028v16n03_08

- Torrissen, O., Olsen, R.E., Toresen, R., Hemre, G.I., Tacon, A.G.J., Asche, F., Hardy, R.W., Lall, S., 2011. Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar): The "Super-Chicken" of the Sea? Rev. Fish. Sci. 19, 257–278. https://doi.org/10.1080/10641262.2011.597890
- Treasurer, J.W., 2012. Diseases of north European wrasse (Labridae) and possible interactions with cohabited farmed salmon, Salmo salar L. J. Fish Dis. 35, 555–562. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.2012.01389.x
- Troell, M., Joyce, A., Chopin, T., Neori, A., Buschmann, A.H., Fang, J., 2009. Ecological engineering in aquaculture Potential for integrated multi-trophic aquaculture (IMTA) in marine offshore systems. Aquaculture 297, 1–9.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2009.09.010
- Tucker, C.S., Hargreaves, J.A., Boyd, C.E., 2008. Better Management Practices for Freshwater Pond Aquaculture, in: Tucker, C.S., Hargreaves, J.A. (Eds.), Environmental Best Management Practices for Aquaculture. Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 151–226.
- Tunberg, B.G., Creswell, R.L., 1991. Development, Growth, and Survival in the Juvenile Caribbean King Crab Mithrax Spinosissimus (Lamarck) Reared in the Laboratory. J. Crustac. Biol. 11, 138–149. https://doi.org/10.2307/1548551
- Tunberg, B.G., Creswell, R.L., 1988. Early growth and mortality of the Caribbean king crab Mithrax spinosissimus reared in the laboratory. Mar. Biol. 98, 337–343. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00391109

Urban, J.D., 2015. Discard mortality rates in the Bering Sea snow crab, Chionoecetes opilio,

fishery. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 72, 1525–1529. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsv004

- van Montfrans, J., Capelli, J., Orth, R.J., Ryer, C.H., 1986. Use of Microwire Tags for Tagging Juvenile Blue Crabs (Callinectes sapidus Rathbun). J. Crustac. Biol. 6, 370-376. https://doi.org/10.2307/1548177
- Vasconcelos, P., Braz, N.R., 2001. Meat Yield of the Deep-Sea Crab, Chaceon affinis, from an Exploratory Fishery off Madeira Island (Portugal Eastern Central Atlantic), in: Serial No. N4479 NAFO SCR Doc. 01/91 Scientific Council Meeting September 2001.
- Vermeij, M.J.A., van Moorselaar, I., Engelhard, S., Hörnlein, C., Vonk, S.M., Visser, P.M., 2010. The effects of nutrient enrichment and herbivore abundance on the ability of turf algae to overgrow coral in the Caribbean. PLoS One 5, 1–8.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0014312

- Wang, G., McGaw, I.J., 2014. Use of Serum Protein Concentration as an Indicator of Quality and Physiological Condition in the Lobster Homarus americanus (Milne-Edwards, 1837).
 J. Shellfish Res. 33, 805–813. https://doi.org/10.2983/035.033.0315
- Wang, G., Robertson, L.M., Wringe, B.F., McGaw, I.J., 2016. The effect of temperature on foraging activity and digestion in the American lobster Homarus americanus (Milne Edwards, 1837) (Decapoda: Nephropsidae) feeding on blue mussels Mytilus edulis (Linnaeus, 1758). J. Crustac. Biol. 36, 138–146. https://doi.org/10.1163/1937240X-00002414
- Welch, A.W., Knapp, A.N., El Tourky, S., Daughtery, Z., Hitchcock, G., Benetti, D., 2019. The nutrient footprint of a submerged-cage offshore aquaculture facility located in the tropical Caribbean. J. World Aquac. Soc. 50, 299–316.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jwas.12593

Wenner, A.M., 1972. Sex Ratio as a Function of Size in Marine Crustacea. Am. Nat. 106, 321-

350. https://doi.org/10.1086/282774

- Whiteley, N.M., Taylor, E.W., El Haj, A.J., 1997. Seasonal and latitudinal adaptation to temperature in crustaceans. J. Therm. Biol. 22, 419–427.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4565(97)00061-2
- Wilber, D., Wilber Jr, T.P., Iglehart, J., Adey, W., 1992. Culture of the Caribbean King Crab on Grand Turk, Turks and Caicos Islands, BWI. Proc. 41st Gulf Caribb. Fish. Inst. 588–591.
- Wilber, D.H., Wilber, T.P., 1991. Environmental influences on the growth and survival of West Indian spider crabs Mithrax spinosissimus (Lamarck) in culture. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 146, 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(91)90253-S
- Willmer, P., Stone, G., Johnston, I., 2005. Environmental Physiology of Animals, Blackwell Science.
- Windsor, A.M., Felder, D.L., 2014. Molecular phylogenetics and taxonomic reanalysis of the family Mithracidae MacLeay (Decapoda: Brachyura: Majoidea). Invertebr. Syst. 28, 145–173. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/IS13011
- Winfree, R.A., Weinstein, S., 1989. Food habits of the Caribbean king crab Mithrax spinosissimus. Proc. 39th Gulf Caribb. Fish. Inst. 39, 458–464.
- Wolcott, D.L., O'Connor, N.J., 1992. Herbivory in Crabs: Adaptations and Ecological Considerations. Am. Zool. 32, 370–381. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/32.3.370
- Woll, A.K., Van Der Meeren, G.I., Tuene, S., 2006. Quality improvement by feeding wildcaught edible crab (Cancer pagurus L.): A pilot study. Aquac. Res. 37, 1487–1496. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2006.01587.x
- Worm, B., Myers, R.A., 2003. Meta-analysis of cod-shrimp interactions reveals top-down control in oceanic food webs. Ecology 84, 162–173. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2003)084[0162:MAOCSI]2.0.CO;2

Wu, X., Cheng, Y., Zeng, C., Wang, C., Yang, X., 2010. Reproductive performance and offspring quality of wild-caught and pond-reared swimming crab Portunus trituberculatus broodstock. Aquaculture 301, 78–84.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2010.01.016

Yomar-Hattori, G., Sampaio-Sant'Anna, B., Amaro-Pinheiro, M.A., 2006. Meat yield of Callinectes bocourti A. Milne Edwards, 1879 (Crustacea, Portunidae) in Iguape, São Paulo, Brazil. Investig. Mar. 34, 231–236. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0717-71782006000200027

- Zhanhui, Q., Jun, W., Yuze, M., Jihong, Z., Zengjie, J., Jianguang, F., 2014. Use of the sea urchin Hemicentrotus pulcherrimus for biological control of fouling in suspended scallop cultivation in Northern China. Aquaculture 420–421, 270–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2013.11.020
- Zhu, C., Sun, B., Hou, Y., Xu, X., 1990. The effect of JS-876 copper-tin complex as an antifouling agent on the growth of scallops (Pecten maximus). J. Oceanogr. Huanghai Bohai Seas/Huangbohai Haiyang. Qingdao 8, 40–46.